South Cambridgeshire Hall
Cambourne Business Park
Cambourne
Cambridge
CB23 6EA
t: 03450 450 500
f: 01954 713149
www.scambs.gov.uk

29 June 2020

To:

Quorum:

Chair – Councillor John Batchelor
Vice-Chair – Councillor Pippa Heylings
All Members of the Planning Committee - Councillors Anna Bradnam,
Dr. Martin Cahn, Peter Fane, Brian Milnes, Judith Rippeth, Deborah Roberts,
Heather Williams, Richard Williams and Nick Wright
3

Substitutes Councillors Grenville Chamberlain, Mark Howell, Dr. Shrobona Bhattacharya,
if needed:
Graham Cone, Sue Ellington, Henry Batchelor, Dr. Claire Daunton,
Eileen Wilson, Dr. Tumi Hawkins and Dr. Douglas de Lacey

Dear Councillor
You are invited to attend the next meeting of PLANNING COMMITTEE, which will be held in the
VIRTUAL MEETING - ONLINE on WEDNESDAY, 8 JULY 2020 at 10.00 a.m.. A weblink to
enable members of the press and public to listen to the proceedings will be published on
the relevant page of the Council’s website , normally, at least 24 hours before the
meeting.

Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of
the meeting. It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started. Council
Standing Order 4.3 refers.
Yours faithfully
Liz Watts
Chief Executive

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the
community, access to its agendas and minutes. We try to take all
circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs,
please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you.
AGENDA
PAGES
1.

Chair's announcements

2.

Apologies
To receive apologies for absence from committee members.

3.

Declarations of Interest
1.

Disclosable pecuniary interests (“DPI”)

Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior, 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk

A DPI is where a committee member or his/her spouse or
partner has any kind of beneficial interest in the land under
consideration at the meeting.
2.

Non-disclosable pecuniary interests
These are interests that are pecuniary involving a personal
financial benefit or detriment but do not come within the
definition of a DPI. An example would be where a member
of their family/close friend (who is not their spouse or
partner) has such an interest.

3.

Non-pecuniary interests
Where the interest is not one which involves any personal
financial benefit or detriment to the Councillor but arises out
of a close connection with someone or some body
/association. An example would be membership of a sports
committee/ membership of another council which is involved
in the matter under consideration.

4.

Minutes of the Meeting held on 10 June 2020
These minutes will be presented to the Planning Committee
meeting on 22 July 2020.

5.

S/3835/19/RM - Caldecote (Land To The West Grafton Drive,
Highfields Caldecote)

1 - 36

Approval of matters reserved for appearance landscaping layout
and scale following outline planning permission S/2764/16/OL for
residential development of up to 58 dwellings with associated
infrastructure landscaping and public open space. The outline
application was not subject to an Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA).
6.

20/01138/OUT - Waterbeach (95 Bannold Road)

37 - 58

Outline planning permission with all matters reserved except for
access for the demolition of the existing house and the erection of
five dwellings
7.

Diversion of Footpath 5 - Wimpole (Main Gate, adjacent to
Wimpole Park Road)

8.

Enforcement Report
This report swill be presented to the Planning Committee meeting
on 22 July 2020.

9.

Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action

59 - 104

105 - 112

GUIDANCE NOTES FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC FOR REMOTE MEETINGS
Members of the public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting, except during the
consideration of exempt or confidential items, by following the link to be published on the Council’s
website.
Any person who participates in the meeting in accordance with the Council’s procedure rules, is deemed
to have consented to being recorded and to the use of those images (where participating via video
conference) and/or sound recordings for webcast purposes. When speaking, members of the public
should not disclose any personal information of any individual as this might infringe on the rights of that
individual and breach the Data Protection Act.
For more information about this meeting please contact democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without members of the Press and
public being present. Typically, such issues relate to personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege
and so on. In every case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must outweigh
the public interest in having the information disclosed to them. The following statement will be proposed, seconded
and voted upon.
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following item
number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if
present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.”
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press and public will not be able to
view it. There will be an explanation on the website however as to why the information is exempt.

Notes
(1)

Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and representation
may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the decision making process.
Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the consultation periods after taking into
account all material representations made within the full consultation period. The final decisions may be
delegated to the Corporate Manager (Planning and Sustainable Communities).

(2)

The Council considers every planning application on its merits and in the context of national, regional and
local planning policy. As part of the Council's customer service standards, Councillors and officers aim to
put customers first, deliver outstanding service and provide easy access to services and information. At all
times, we will treat customers with respect and will be polite, patient and honest. The Council is also
committed to treat everyone fairly and justly, and to promote equality. This applies to all residents and
customers, planning applicants and those people against whom the Council is taking, or proposing to take,
planning enforcement action. More details can be found on the Council's website under 'Council and
Democracy'.

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 5
SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development

8 July 2020

Application Number:

S/3835/19/RM / Reserved Matters

Parish(es):

Highfields Caldecote

Proposal:

Approval of Reserved Matters for appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale following Outline Planning
permission (S/2764/16/OL) for residential development of
up to 58 dwellings with associated infrastructure,
landscaping and public open space

Site address:

Land to the West of Grafton Drive

Applicant(s):

Michael Walker, Balfour Beatty Homes

Recommendation:

Approval

Key material considerations:

Housing Density
Affordable Housing Provision
Housing Mix
The Reserved Matters;
Layout
Scale
Appearance
Landscape

Committee Site Visit:

No

Departure Application:

Yes

Presenting Officer:

Katie Christodoulides, Principal Planner

Application brought to
Committee because:

Caldecote Parish Council requests the application is
determined by Planning Committee

Date by which decision due:

10th July 2020 (Extension of Time Agreed)

Executive Summary
1.

This application seeks reserved matters approval for the appearance, layout, scale
of buildings and landscaping following the principle of residential development of
the site for up to 58 dwellings being established under outline planning consent
S/2764/16/OL which was allowed at appeal under (APP/W0530/W/17/3172541).

2.

The application has been amended by the applicants following consultee
comments. The amendments comprise changes to the design, layout, parking

Page 1

layout, mix, drainage, landscaping and dispersion of affordable dwellings.
3.

The amendments are considered to further improve the quality of the scheme to
ensure that it preserves the character and appearance of the area and fits
comfortably within its rural context.

4.

The reserved matters details for appearance, layout, scale of the
development and landscaping are considered acceptable by officers and the
application is therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions.
Planning History

5.

S/2764/16/OL- Outline planning permission for the residential development of up to 58
dwellings with associated infrastructure, landscaping, and public open space. All
matters reserved except for access- Appealed for Non Determination,
APP/W0530/W/17/3172541- Appeal Allowed

6.

S/1144/17/OL- Residential development of up to 58 dwellings with associated
infrastructure, landscaping, and public open space. All matters reserved except for
access-Refused.

7.

S/2768/16/E1- EIA Screening Opinion- No Objections
Planning Policies
National Guidance

8

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance
National Design Guide 2019
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018

9.

S/1 Vision
S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan
S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S/5 Provision of New Jobs and Homes
S/6 The Development Strategy
S/7 Development Frameworks
S/10 Group Villages
HQ/1 Design Principles
H/8 Housing Density
H/9 Housing Mix
H/10 Affordable Housing
H/12 Residential Space Standards
NH/2 Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character
NH/3 Protecting Agricultural Land
NH/4 Biodiversity
CC/3 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments
CC/4 Sustainable Design and Construction
CC/9 Managing Flood Risk
SC/6 Indoor Community Facilities
SC/7 Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space, and New Developments
SC/8 Open Space Standards
SC/12 Contaminated Land

Page 2

TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel
TI/3 Parking Provision
TI/8 Infrastructure and New Developments
South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
10.

Open Space in New Developments SPD - Adopted January 2009
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009
Trees & Development Sites SPD - Adopted January 2009
Landscape in New Developments SPD - Adopted March 2010
Affordable Housing SPD - Adopted March 2010
District Design Guide SPD - Adopted March 2010
Public Art SPD- Adopted 2009
Health Impact Assessment SPD – March 2011
Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document- Adopted January 2020

11.

Caldecote Village Design Guide, Supplementary Planning Document Adopted
January 2020
Consultation

12.

Affordable Housing Officer- Final comments following amended plans- Supports the
proposal and has no outstanding points with the affordable housing on this scheme.
Previous comments following amended plans- Unable to support as only one of the
flats is M4(2) compliant. The amendments are seeking to provide 2 affordable
dwellings which are M4(2) compliant and two private dwellings. One of the flats
proposed is on the first floor and there is no lift therefore the flat is not M4(2)
compliant.
Previous comments following amended plans- We are pleased the developer has
considered our comments and revised the mix to include a couple of 1 bed properties.
The revised plans show that the affordable housing is now distributed in 4 clusters
rather than being in one corner of the site and is now much more connected and
integrated within the rest of the development. The revised schedule shows that the
affordable dwellings meet the ‘Nationally Described Space Standards’ (2015). Policy
H/9 – 5% properties should be built to adaptable and accessible standards M4(2). The
revised plans show that 4 properties are being built to this standard, however they are
all private dwellings and not affordable.
Comments on original application- not in support of the application. The developers
proposed mix is not reflective of the local housing need in Caldecote, and the district
of South Cambs, as there are no 1 bed included in the mix.
This matter has been discussed with the developer’s agent directly. We advised them
that they should be including some 1 beds for rent. Our preferred mix would be to
replace 2 x 3 Beds for rent with 2 x 1 Beds. There is a local need for 1 bed in
Caldecote.
The majority, of the affordable dwellings are located close together in one corner of
the site, this conflicts with Policy H/10 of the South Cambs Local Plan, which states

Page 3

that the affordable should be: ‘distributed in small groups or clusters throughout the
site’
Concentration of the affordable housing in one location, does not allow the integration
of tenures in the development, and allow for sustainable communities.
It appears some of the affordable dwellings do not meet the ‘Nationally Described
Space Standards.’
Policy H/9 – 5% properties should be built to adaptable and accessible standards
M4(2). At least 3 dwellings should be built to this standard.
13.

14.

Air Quality Officer- No comments received (out of time).
Anglian Water- Assets Affected- there are assets owned by Anglian Water or
those subject to an adopted agreement within or close to the development
boundary that may be affected by the layout of the site. Anglian Water would
ask that informatives are added in regard to assets affected.
Wastewater Treatment- The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment
of Bourn Water Recycling Centre that will have capacity for these flows.
Used Water Network- The impacts on the public foul sewerage network have been
Adequately addressed at this stage. Requests consultation on the discharge of
Condition 8 of the outline consent.
Surface Water Disposal- The preferred method of surface water disposal would
be to a Sustainable Drainage System (SuDs) with connection to a sewer seen as
the last option. Having reviewed the proposed submitted surface water drainage, the
proposed method of surface water management does not relate to Anglian Waters
operated assets. The Lead Local Flood Authority and Internal Drainage Board should
be consulted.

15.

Archaeology Officer- Final comments following amended plans-The amendments do
not alter the previous advice, namely that we have no objections or requirements for
this development as proposed.
Previous comments-No objections or requirements for this development.

16.

Cam Cycle- No comments received (out of time).

17.

Contaminated Land Officer- A previous memo dated 4th November 2016
reviewed the initial Wardell Armstrong ‘Phase I Desk Study – Land
Contamination Assessment’ as part of the outline application (S/2764/16/OL)
and agreed with its findings that a confirmatory site investigation should be
undertaken. No further information has been provided since this time and therefore
the condition regarding a written scheme for investigation and recording of
contamination and remediation remains outstanding.

18.

Caldecote Parish Council- Final comments on amended plans- Objects to the
application and comments that the play area is too close to the entrance and does not
demonstrate any safety precautions, the houses are too close to the existing
boundaries of the adjacent houses and gardens. There is still a lack of off street
parking and requests that this proposal is considered by the Planning Committee.

Page 4

Comments on original application-Objects to the application and comments the
Council recognises this is a Reserved Matters Application. The Parish requests that
The application be referred to the District Council Planning Committee as the
garages are too small, grouping of social, low cost homes and parking. Request full
Cdm Planning: Traffic/Banksman/Delivery.
19.

Cllr Hawkins- Objects to the proposal. The proposed layout is different to the layout
presented at Outline Planning stage in look and feel. The proposal is cramped on the
eastern side close to existing properties. It presents a hard, crowded vista on entry
to the new development and detrimental effect on the amenity of the existing
community. The proposal causes significant harm to existing properties and to
amenity of new and existing communities. The house designs are poor, with no
indication that they have considered the Village Design Guide (VDG) in detail. The use
of fore court parking presents a hard concrete look to the development, the
appearance will look very cluttered when cars are parked up. The hard landscaping
means that there will be a lot of surface water runoff, which has an impact on the type
of drainage system provision and how prone the site will be to causing flooding. The
landscape is not green enough with poor views to the surrounding and external links
as per the Village Design Guide. The affordable housing is all clustered on the eastern side of
the site. The developers have included the private access road of Grafton Drive into
their red line boundary. The Traffic Management Plan has not been presented and
concerns are raised regarding the narrowness of Grafton Drive and existing residents.
Comments that there was no consultation with the Local Member or local residents.

20.

County Footpaths Team-No comments received (out of time).

21.

Designing Out Crime Officer- Final comments on amended plans- no further
comments.
Previous comments- Having reviewed all documents in regards to appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale with this Reserved Matters application. I am happy to
support the proposal as I consider that community safety and vulnerability to crimes
should be addressed. My final comment would be that should the applicant be
considering a Secured by Design application with this development I welcome the
opportunity to work with them.

22.

Drainage Officer- Final comments on amended plans- no objections and the
information is acceptable from a drainage perspective.
Following amended plans- the proposal is unacceptable as 25129-02-020-02Engineering layout – The drawing does not clarify most of the issues raised on
the sustainable engineer comments (21/03/2020), only the sediment areas. No
details of low flow channels, including dimensions and it is not clear how this will
work with gabion weir in place. A section on drawing 25129_02-050-03 shows also
the low flows being perpendicular to the inlet and outlet and area of reed planting
location which conflicts with the area shown on the plan, needs clarification. The
pond would also benefit from a more natural appearance.
Calculations – The hydraulic model provided only shows results for 1 in 100 year
period without Climate Change. Confirmation is needed that the ponds were designed to
attenuate surface water for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% allowance for Climate Change.
The management maintenance plan is generic and not specific for the site.
Comments on the original application- The development proposal is unacceptable and

Page 5

should be refused as There are issues with the proposed surface water drainage
concept plan and these are: 1. Pond 1 appears to be offline and yet the design and
planting is appropriate for online ponds only. The feature will be dry for most of the
time and it is unlikely that a permanent wet area will be retained as indicated.
The proposed area of reed bed planting, low flow channel and sediment forebay is
also inappropriate for a dry feature that will be an integral part of the public open
space. At what return period the pond will receive water should be clarified.
2. Pond 2 also has inappropriate features within the design. A sediment area is only
applicable at inlets and not outlets. Details of the low flow channels should be
provided and it is not clear how these will work with the gabion weir in place. The
reed bed planting is in an inappropriate location. The pond would benefit from a more
natural appearance.3. Calculations should be provided. 4. A management and
maintenance plan should be provided.
23.

Ecology Officer- Final comments following amended plans-The applicant has
increased the number of bat and bird boxes considerably which is welcome, and
landscaping plans have been amended. My concerns have been dealt with
satisfactorily and I am able to recommend the application moves to determination
without Ecology being of further material concern.
Comments on original application-Condition 15 of permission S/2764/16/OL sates:
“No development shall commence until an ecological method statement has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The survey
shall include:
i. An updated survey recording badger activity on the site (including the woodland
area to the west). The survey shall include appropriate mitigation measures to be
approved by the local planning authority. No development shall be undertaken
except in full accordance with the approved scheme of mitigation; and
ii. Details of measures for encouraging biodiversity within the site.
The works shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved measures.”
The applicant has submitted an Ecological Method Statement (RSK ADAS Ltd, June
2019) in support of the reserved matters application and to discharge condition 15.
In general agreement with the document; however there are two points, require further
amendments/submissions prior to providing my recommendations.
Firstly section 3.2 lists a total of 17 bat and bird boxes to be installed within the redline
boundary of the application site. These are welcomed but fall short of the
requirements set out by the South Cambridgeshire District Council Biodiversity
SPD (2009), which require 50% of all new dwellings to have integrated bat and
bird boxes installed. Therefore a further 12 bat and bird boxes will need to be
installed within dwellings. This will require a resubmission of the document and
product details of the integrated boxes along with a plan of their locations.
Secondly, welcome the information and recommendations for pond
construction, uncertain that these recommendations have been fully resolved
within the Detailed Landscape Proposals (Figure GL1203 01A). The marginal plants
proposed on the plan do not match those that have been recommended, and
propose three different reed species which are likely to out complete all other marginal
species if not kept under close management. In addition, the surface water
drainage shown in the Concept General Arrangement
(Drawing no. 25129_02_010_02 rev C) shows both permanent water features are
fed by surface water run off, however not sure how the marginal areas (noted as reed
beds) in the drawing are provided with adequate water to maintain the optimum
habitat.

Page 6

24.

Environmental Health Officer- Final comments on amended plans-There are no
objections to make from an environmental health standpoint concerning the approval
of reserved matters.
The information provided in the noise modelling note is satisfactory and the condition
relating to noise mitigation can be discharged.

25.

Environment Agency- Final comments on amended plans-Please refer to previous
comments.
Comments on original application - No objection in principle to the proposal provided
that all outstanding pre commencement conditions are discharged prior to
development.

26.

Historic Buildings Officer- It is considered that there are no material conservation
issues with this proposal.

27.

Landscape Officer- Final comments on amended plans, unsupportive and existing
comments still to be addressed:
Appearance
Alexander planning plans & elevations PH323.1 – does not reflect layout of plots 8, 9,
15. Applicant to amend.
Plot 22 northern elevation is blank and an unattractive elevation upon the main
access road. Applicant to revisit.
Plot 28 northern elevation is blank and an unattractive elevation upon the main access road.
Applicant to revisit.
Plot 41 western elevation is blank and an unattractive outlook for plot 31. Applicant to
revisit.
Landscaping Existing vegetation and protection – Supportive.
As per decision notice - Additional planting along the boundaries of the site, including
specification of trees, hedges, and shrub planting, including details of species, density
and size of stock – This has not been addressed by the applicant. There is sufficient
space to include a native hedgerow along the northern boundary whilst allowing gaps
for views leading out of the site. Applicant to revisit.
Boundary treatment Hard Landscaping Zoning Plan & Boundary Treatments GL1203
02D – My concerns have been addressed. Supportive.
Hard works – Woodland play trail – My concerns have been addressed.
Supportive.
Soft works – Trees – Applicant has included more trees within the site.
Supportive.
Tree planting pit detail to be included. New trees fail due to lack of soil and
water. In particular, sufficient root space for all trees surrounded with a high
ratio of hardstanding above their rooting area must be provided. Applicant to
provide structural soils or 3D cellular confinement systems to ensure they
have the best rooting environment in this harsh location.
Details required and location of structural soils to be indicated upon a plan.
Trees in open grass areas are to be provided with strimmer guards and 3 or 4

Page 7

1.5m high timber stakes to prevent vandalism.
More mixed native hedgerows to be included within the site, open spaces and
its boundaries to create and link with existing green infrastructures. Ecologist
report indicated 100m of new hedgerow. Applicant to provide evidence of 100m and
amend areas.
Hedgerow to the north of Plots 8-9 and PRULU adjacent to access road to be
replaced with mixed native hedgerow. Boundary to the north of plot 58. PRULU
to be replaced with mixed native hedgerow. Boundary to the west of plot 52.
PRULU to be replaced with mixed native hedgerow.
Bulbs – I welcome additional bulbs.
Open Space and pond planting (Central Area) - My concerns have been
addressed. Supportive.
Grass mix – My concerns have been addressed. Supportive.
Gateway posts to be more defined – Supportive Benches & Litter bin – Supportive
Lighting – Supportive
Layout – Parking Sizes – Supportive Garage – If garages do not comply with
Policy TI/3 applicant to include a shed within rear gardens. Applicant to indicate upon
overall layout.
Parking provision – Due to site constraints and minor landscape amendments
I am supportive of provision.
Visitor parking – Disappointing to see that visitor parking to the north of the open
space has not been addressed by the applicant. Applicant to relocate.
LEAP - My concerns have been addressed. Supportive.
Ponds layout – my concerns have been addressed.
Headwalls and culverts – Applicant to consider green alternatives or natural stone
headwall structures rather than precast concrete and other in-situ solutions. Details
to be provided.
Following amended plans, previous comments still apply.
Following amended plans, minor amendments to the planting proposals required.
Following comments on the original application, amendments and further information
required.
28.

Local Highways Authority- Final comments on amended plans-The Highway
Authority is not in a position to adopt this site as Grafton Drive is a private street and
all adopted public highway must be contiguous and therefore, the entire site will
remain private.
For future reference (if Grafton Drive is ever brought forward for adoption) the
proposed layout as shown is unacceptable to the highway.

Page 8

Following original plans- The Highway Authority is not in a position to adopt this site as
Grafton Drive is a private street and all adopted public highway must be contiguous
and therefore, the entire site will remain private.
For future reference (if Grafton Drive is ever brought forward for adoption) the
proposed layout as shown is unacceptable to the highway.
29.

Lead Local Flood Authority- Final comments on amended plans-Do not object to the
application. In respect of our objection points, the applicant has introduced
water butts to some properties. The discharge rate has been reduced back
down to 5.1 l/s (as approved in the outline application) and updated calculations
have been provided in respect of the attenuation basins.
Previous comments on amended application- Object to the grant of planning
permission for the following reasons:
1.No Source Control Section 6.3.7 of the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water
SPD states that source control methods must be implemented across sites
to provide effective pre-treatment of surface water. The applicant has not
demonstrated that source control methods will be used on site, nor have they
provided evidence of why they would be inappropriate. As outlined in Section
6 of the Flood and Water Supplementary Planning Document the variety of source
control techniques available means that virtually any development should be able to
include a scheme based around these principles. The presence of low permeability
soils, some forms of contamination and flat topography will not be accepted as
reasons not to include source control.
In addition to this, policy CC/8 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan require
that “Maximum use has been made of low land take drainage measures, such
as rain water recycling, green roofs, permeable surfaces and water butts;”
The present submission does not comply with this. The outline application
indicated that permeable paving, water butts and rainwater harvesting would
be implemented wherever possible, however the present submission does not
include these and has not provided evidence for why they are inappropriate.
2. Inappropriate Discharge Rates As outlined in policy CC/9 of the South
Cambridgeshire District Council Local Plan, and paragraph 6.3.6 of the SPD, all
new developments on greenfield land are required to discharge the runoff from
impermeable areas at the same greenfield runoff rate, or less than, if locally agreed
with an appropriate authority or as detailed within the local planning policies of
District and City councils. The outline application (S/2764/16/OL) proposed to
discharge surface water at a controlled rate of 5.1l/s, however the present submission
proposes to discharge at a rate of higher rate of 7.5l/s with no justification. The
applicant has not demonstrated that the peak discharge rate for all events up to
and including the 1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) critical storm event,
including an appropriate allowance for climate change, will not exceed that of the
existing site. This may increase the flood risk on site and in surrounding areas.
3. Attenuation Pond Design Whilst the applicant has provided cross sections and
long sections of the proposed ponds, updated calculations are still required as per
my previous letter dated November 25th 2019. This is to confirm that the ponds
are designed to attenuate the surface water for the 1 in 100 year +40% climate
change scenario, without posing an increase in flood risk to properties on or off site.

Page 9

Side slopes should not exceed 1:3 unless special site and/or safety arrangements
allow for steeper slopes. The proposed design still indicates that some side slopes
will be 1:2 with no justification, and does not indicate the side slopes of proposed
low flow channel in pond two.
The temporary storage depth above the permanent pool of water in pond two is
1.014m which is too deep, as per my previous letter this should be limited to 0.5m.
The ponds should include a minimum of 0.3m freeboard as per section 23.4.5 of the
CIRIA SuDS manual C753. Pond two does not include this and therefore presents
a potentially unacceptable health and safety risk.
Comments on the original application- object to the grant of planning permission for
the following reasons:
1. No Source Control Section 6.3.7 of the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD
states that source control methods must be implemented across sites to provide
effective pre-treatment of surface water. The applicant has not demonstrated that
source control methods will be used on site, nor have they provided evidence of
why they would be inappropriate.
As outlined in Section 6 of the Flood and Water Supplementary Planning Document
the variety of source control techniques available means that virtually any
development should be able to include a scheme based around these principles. The
presence of low permeability soils, some forms of contamination and flat topography
will not be accepted as reasons not to include source control.
2. Inappropriate discharge rate As outlined in paragraph 6.3.6 of the SPD, all new
developments on greenfield land are required to discharge the runoff from
impermeable areas at the same greenfield runoff rate, or less than, if locally agreed
with an appropriate authority or as detailed within the local planning policies of
District and City councils.
The outline application (S/2764/16/OL) proposed to discharge surface water at a
controlled rate of 5.1l/s, however the present submission proposes to discharge at
a rate of 7.5l/s.
The applicant has not demonstrated that the peak discharge rate for all events up to
and including the 1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) critical storm event,
including an appropriate allowance for climate change, will not exceed that of the
existing site. This may increase the flood risk on site and in surrounding areas.
3. Attenuation pond design The design of the ponds is not in accordance with the
CIRIA SuDS Manual C753 for the following reasons: a) It is would appear Pond one
is offline and pond two is online. Without calculations, it is not possible to know
whether they have been designed appropriately and whether their capacity is
adequate. b) The present submission indicates that the combined volume of the
two ponds is 1249m3 however the calculations submitted at the outline stage show a
maximum volume of 1443m3. c) Side slopes should not exceed 1:3 unless special
site and/or safety arrangements allow for steeper slopes. The proposed design
shows side slopes of 1:2 with no justification. d) The present submission gives no
indication of the a temporary storage depth above the permanent pool of water in
the pond; Limiting this to to 0.5m is usually appropriate for small to medium sized
ponds Where water is accessible, the edge gradient above and below the water line
and the depth profile of the water are important. A level dry bench should be provided

Page 10

before the basin, slopes should be no greater than 1:3 and a level wet bench
(minimum of 1.5 m wide) at or just below the normal water surface level should be
provided.e) The ponds should include a minimum of 0.3m freeboard as per section 23.4.5 of
the CIRIA SuDS manual C753. Pond two does not include this and therefore presents a
potentially unacceptable health and safety risk.
The LLFA requests calculations for the 100% (1 in 1yr) 3.3% (1 in 30yr) and
1% (1 in 100 year) storm events, along with the 1% (1 in 100yr) + 40% climate
change scenario. This is to ensure that there is no increase in flood risk on or off site.
We will also require cross sections of the ponds indicating side slopes, along
with water the permanent water and 1 in 100 year +40% climate change.
30.

Natural England- No comments to make on the amendment of the application.

31.

Sport England- No further comment to make on this particular application.

32.

Sustainability Officer-The applicant provides very limited information in relation to
energy use, carbon emissions reduction and water use, but the Design and Access
Statement states that "There will be a fabric first approach to energy efficiency,
creating highly sealed & thermally insulated building envelope to ensure minimum
heat loss and therefore reduce heating and energy requirements."
This is an approach that SCDC support in relation to energy use and carbon
reduction but the applicant must be aware that the associated condition
requires energy and carbon emissions reduction using renewables or low/zero
carbon technology.
A full energy and carbon reduction strategy (with full SAP calculations per dwelling
type) will need to be submitted so that the associated energy/carbon reduction
condition is fully discharged prior to development.

33.

Transport Assessment Team- Final comments on amended plans- the proposed
secure cycle shed dimensions of 2m long and 1.5m wide is considered to be
adequate to park 2 cycles or alternatively 2.2m long and 2m wide to park 3 cycles.
However, the applicant is requested to provide cycle parking provision for at least
1 cycle space per bedroom to comply with the South Cambridgeshire District Council
Local Plan standards.
In terms of cycle parking provision, the applicant states that all properties will be
provided with secure bike storage within the gardens as the garage dimensions
will not allow for storage of cycles with cars.
As per submitted Bin Carry & Shed Location drawing no. 1266-BIN_Rev.B, it is noted
that a lockable shed will be provided within the private garden of each dwelling.
However, the applicant is requested to provide cycle parking provision for at least
1 cycle space per bedroom to comply with the South Cambridgeshire District Council
Local Plan standards and the details of the dimensions of the lockable garden sheds
to ensure that the policy has been applied as requested.

34.

Tree Officer – Final comments on amended plans- Please refer to previous
comments.
Previous comments amended plans- P3405.1.4- AIA NO PLANS, P3405-1-001_4
TREECONSTRAINTS REV(1) and P3405-1-005_8D TREE PROTECTION Plan can

Page 11

be listed as an approved document.
The centre green does not have a landmark, long lived, large stature tree.
The Landscape Management Plan does not include OPM checks on planted oak trees. To tie
in with the recommendations on page 5 of the Ecological Method Statement which
Identifies a minimum of 18 watering visits throughout the year, the watering season
Needs to be from March to mid October. South Cambs is arid and hot and rain cannot be
relied upon.
Please do not list the lighting layout as an approved document as plot 22 or road 1
LP04 conflicts with the adjacent proposed tree, please move the lamp post away from
the tree.
Previous comments-Raises a holding objection. Insufficient and inappropriate information
provided. The trees on or adjacent to the site have legal protection through Tree
Preservation Order and have no statutory protection. From a quick desk study it is
likely that hedgerows on or adjacent site to the site may qualify as important hedgerows
under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997.
Condition 5i) All trees and hedgerows on the land and details of those to be retained
and how they will be protected during construction: Not supplied. Although this has
crossover with condition 7, this information is necessary to determine the
appropriateness of the reserved matters and proposed planting.
5xii) An external lighting strategy to ensure adequate illumination of roads and
paths and to avoid unnecessary light pollution: Proposed tree and light column
conflict - move lamp posts at Plot 1 and 22.
Further Comments:
5ii) Additional planting along the boundaries of the site, including specification of
trees, hedges, and shrub planting, including details of species, density and size
of stock: Plan provided but insufficient - will escalate to an objection if not
amended. Detailed Landscape Proposals (GL1203 01A):
-Use of Betula and mountain ash inappropriate – Cambridgeshire too
hot and too dry – exchange,
-Use of Prunus Plena inappropriate – no forage for pollinators – use
Prunus avium,
-Over use of Rosaceae – a diverse tree population is a more robust population,
-3 x mystery trees, symbols without labels – near Plot 24, opposite Plot 26, and
Plot 56,
Schedule trees Tt3, Tt6 and Tt9 are not used in the scheme – is this correct?
-Schedule Tt4 there are labels on the plan with no associated tree symbol, 
-Very few long-lived species utilised across the scheme. Greater number
needed in two open spaces/SUDs areas.
-Lack of landmark trees provided at end of vistas and road junctions. 
Would suggest species but not clear on soil PH here. End of vista trees include
end of primary vista and adj Plot 24. Junction trees (please do not site too close
to road) opp Plot 15, opp Plot 13, adj Plot 8, opp Plot 1, opp Plot 42. Landmark
trees should be long lived, large stature and different species to others used on
site.
-More potential canopy cover required. Trees in rear gardens will have to be 
utilised.
35.

Urban Design Officer- Final comments on Amended Plans- Officers do not object to the
proposals. Officers comment in detail (below) on whether the urban design issues
previously raised have been addressed by the applicant in the resubmission. Since

Page 12

the previous submission, the ‘Caldecote village design guide’ became a
Supplementary Planning Document in January 2020 and this needs to be taken into
account. Officers welcome that the application is complying with guidance about
maximum heights for the dwellings and that most of the dwellings have been allocated front
of plot gardens and that most parking drives are to the side of the dwellings.
These aspects comply with the village design guidance where it writes:
“New development should reflect the distinctive pattern of Highfields where off-street
parking and generous front gardens mean that cars do not dominate the appearance
of roads and building frontages”.
In their assessment, officers consider that further improvements can be made to the
scheme and also suggest some planning conditions (below). These requests and
recommendations include:
- Improvements to the parking arrangements to better comply with guidance in
paragraph 6.82 of the ‘District Design Guide’. - Reducing the length of some
excessively long parking driveways proposed at plots 2, 8, 9, 12, 13-16, 21-23, 31-33, 45 and
56. –Officers request that the position of parking bays or the position of the dwellings are
amended for plots 3-7, 29-30, 35-37 and 52-55 to provide a wider distance of 3m
between these parking spaces and the front of houses. - Improvements to the
elevational treatment of some of the dwellings to improve the street scene and
better address the public realm.
Such improvements will enable the scheme to better meet the requirements of
paragraph 127 of the ‘National Planning Policy Framework’ (2019), policy HQ/1
(a), (c) and (d) of the ‘South Cambridgeshire Local Plan’ (2018), paragraphs 6.68,
6.82 and 6.83 of the ‘District Design Guide’ (2010) and the ‘Caldecote village design
guide’ (2020).
Layout Parking 1. The revised ‘Planning layout’ drawing (ref. 1266-004 rev J) indicates the
same arrangement of the parking court of 12 parking spaces serving plots 52 to 57 as in
the previous layout drawing. Six trees and a strip of landscaping
are proposed in this parking court which will contribute to lessening the visual impacts of the
parked cars on the public realm. Officers do not object to this and accept that given
the scale of development, a mix of different parking approaches are included taking
into account the site constraints. A considerable number of dwellings have been
provided with parking spaces to the sides of the houses and this would help meet
paragraph 6.82 of the ‘District Design Guide’ (2010) which is that:
“Parked cars should not be allowed to dominate the street scene; they should
preferably be accommodated within, beneath, or at the side or rear of buildings”.
2. Officers are still concerned that the double garages would not be large enough to
accommodate 2 cars together with cycle storage, some degree of other storage and
room to pass garaged cars with wheeled bins. The revised drawing submitted for the
‘double store’ ref. G201.1.1 shows that windows have been removed and is still 5.84m *
5.84m in size which is not meeting guidance in paragraph 6.83 of the ‘District Design
Guide’ (DDG) (2010) for garage sizes. Officers had previously commented that the
double garages (drawing ref. G202.1.2) which are 5.84m * 6.11m in size, are also too
small to meet guidance in paragraph 6.83 of the ‘DDG’. Officers advise that an
alternative solution to this issue of cycle storage garages would be the provision of
bicycle sheds in the rear gardens for all the houses. Officers would advise
conditioning that this would be subject to satisfactory drawings showing details of
size, materials of bicycle sheds and their location on the layout.

Page 13

3. Some excessively long parking driveways are still proposed at plots 2, 8, 9, 12, 13
16, 21-23, 31-33, 45 and 56. Officers recommend that these driveways are reduced
in length and that garages are brought further forward to be closer to the street which
these front onto. Officers advise that the length of residential parking drives should be
divisible by 5m and be a maximum of 10m to provide adequate space for parked
motor vehicles. Reducing the lengths of these driveways and bringing forward the
position of the garages would have the merit of allowing more space for more regular
rectangular shaped rear garden sizes at the west end of the layout.
4. The revised ‘proposed street elevations’ drawing (ref. 1266-005 rev A) for plots
25-28 still indicates the positioning of a single garage next to a double garage which
produces a long row of inactive frontage. This arrangement of an unbroken row of
single / double garages is also still repeated for plots 23 and 24. Officers had
previously commented that the transition between these different garage roof types
looks incongruous. The applicant has responded to amend the ‘proposed street
elevations’ drawing to show that both the single and double garages will have gables
at the front which would be an improvement.
Affordable housing clustering • The revised ‘tenure mix plan’ drawing (ref. 1266-TM
rev B) indicates that 2 of the affordable dwellings have been relocated from the north
of the site to the south of the spine road instead. This is an improvement in the
proposal to mean that there is less of a concentration of one tenure type in one
particular area of the site.
Boundary treatments • Officers welcome that the revised ‘Hard Landscaping Zoning
Plan & Boundary Treatments’ drawing (ref. GL1203 02D) provides clearer layers
showing the trees, soft landscape, street surface materials, screen walls and
hedgerows. Block paved ramps are now being proposed instead of rumble strips on
the transitions between roads and officers have no objections to this.
Housing density • 58 houses of one, two, three and four bedrooms are proposed (with 23
affordable – 40% of the total) and all these will all be two storeys in height. In terms of
density, 58 residential dwellings are proposed on this 3.56-hectare site which includes
generous amounts of open space. The development site is only 1.8 hectares in size
which equates to a density of 32 dwellings per hectare (excluding the public open
space to the west of the site, of which if included would result in an even lower density
scheme).
Residential amenity 1. Officers had previous concerns about the protection of privacy
and avoidance of overlooking for residents at some of the new dwellings. Reviewing
the revised ‘plans and elevations’ drawings, improvements have been made for most
of the incidents of overlooking which officers listed previously.
The revised ‘Planning layout’ drawing (ref. 1266-004 rev J) indicates that a tree has been
added at the end of the rear garden of the dwelling at plot 17 which is only 23m
distance from the rear elevation of the dwelling at plot 12 to contribute to screening
the views from overlooking of habitable rooms and so officers would accept this. A
tree has been added in-between the end of the rear gardens of the dwellings at plot
18 and 21 for which there is only 22m distance between the rear elevations of these
dwellings to contribute to screening the view from overlooking of habitable rooms
which is at an oblique angle and so officers would accept this.
The revised ‘Planning layout’ drawing (ref. 1266-004 rev J) indicates that a tree has
been added at the end of the rear garden of plot 25 which is only 24m distance from

Page 14

the rear elevations of the dwellings at plots 34 and 35 to contribute to screening the
views from overlooking of habitable rooms and so officers would accept this.
The revised ‘Planning layout’ drawing (ref. 1266-004 rev J) indicates that a tree has
been added at the end of the rear garden of plot 48 which is only 23m distance from
the rear elevations of the dwellings at plots 38 and 39 to contribute to screening the
views from overlooking of habitable rooms and so officers would accept this.
For the dwelling at plot 26, the rear elevation is only 23m distance from the rear
elevation of the dwelling at plot 33. Officers would recommend considering relocating
the dwelling at plot 26 further forward by 2m to meet the guidance in paragraph 6.68
of the ‘District Design Guide’ (DDG) (2010)
- For the dwelling at plot 7, the rear elevation is only 22m distance from the rear
elevation of the dwelling at plot 10. - For the dwelling at plot 6, the rear elevation is
only 22m distance from the rear elevation of the dwelling at plot 11. - For the dwelling
at plot 40, the rear elevations are only 23m distance from the rear elevation of the
dwelling at plot 47.
Officers are concerned that these last 4 instances do not meet the minimum distances for
avoiding overlooking of habitable rooms stipulated in guidance in paragraph 6.68 of
the ‘District Design Guide’ (2010) which is that:
“For two storey residential properties, a minimum distance of 25m should be provided
between rear or side building faces containing habitable rooms; where blank walls are
proposed opposite the windows to habitable rooms, this distance can be reduced
further, with a minimum of 12m between the wall and any neighbouring windows that
are directly opposite”.
In recognition of the site constraints, for the last 3 instances, officers would
recommend that trees are included at the ends of the rear gardens of these plots to
provide screening.
2. Officers consider that the minimum rear garden space has been provided for all the
dwellings in this application which are now in compliance with paragraph 6.75 of the
‘DDG’. As mentioned earlier, there are some odd shaped rear gardens to the west of
the site Officers recommend that the instances of excessively long driveways are
reduced in length and that garages are brought further forward to be closer to the
street to enable more regular shaped rear garden that will prove more usable for the
residents.
3. For this revised submission, officers express concern about the proximity of the
front of plot parking spaces of plots 3-7, 29-30, 35-37 and 52-55 to the dwellings
which is still less than 2m. Officers request that the position of parking bays or the
position of the dwellings are amended to provide a wider distance of 3m between
these parking spaces and the front of houses and that this is conditioned.
The amendment would help reduce the impact of car headlights and engine noises
impacting on the residential amenity of these houses and it would improve the
residential outlook from these dwellings.
Public Open Space • Officers understand that a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) is not
required as part of the section 106 Agreement. It is disappointing that a LEAP is not
being provided but al least there is a locally equipped children’s play area within Caldecote
recreation ground off Strympole Way. This play area is 500m from the site at the
end of Grafton Drive and comprises a large fenced off play area with grass and a

Page 15

rubberised safety surface with a large range of equipment. In the latest submission,
the applicant has submitted drawings for a woodland play trail to be positioned at the
west end of the site. This is a satisfactory response but these drawings do not
provide sufficient detail about the size, materials and specification of the individual
items and officers recommend that this is conditioned.
Appearance 1. Officers are pleased that the applicants have taken the advice given
at the Design Enabling Panel meeting on 19th December 2019 in respect of adding
hipped roofs to revised house types for plots 46 and 52-58 at the north east edge of
the site to reduce the visual impact and improve the outlook from existing adjacent
dwellings.
2. Officers are also pleased that the applicants have taken the advice given at the
Design Enabling Panel meeting on 19th December 2019 in respect of simplifying /
rationalising the windows which should not be mixed within individual dwellings. There is no
longer fenestration with excessive numbers of horizontal and vertical window bars
throughout the scheme and windows are not mixed within individual dwellings and
are much improved as a result.
3. Officers are disappointed that the projecting bay windows for the ‘Alexander’,
‘Attingham’, ‘Chartwell’, ‘Waddesden’, ‘Whitmill’ house types, have been replaced in
the revised house types with conventional ground floor windows as these were
attractive features and positive characteristics for the appearance at key locations on
the streets.
4. Officers are disappointed that the revised The ‘Attingham’ house type drawing (ref.
PH320.1 rev A), features just one 1st floor window and two ground floor windows on
its side elevation which means poor symmetry for the fenestration on this elevation
and also the attractive projecting bay window feature on this side elevation
(in previous drawing ref. PH320.1) has been replaced with a conventional window. As the
dwellings at plots 31 and 56 (both ‘Attingham’ house type) are at the corners of
streets facing the spine road with the front doors not facing the spine road, officers
would have preferred a better arrangement of the fenestration to activate the public
realm.
Officers request that the ‘Chartwell’ house type dwellings at plots 22 and 28, the
‘Attingham’ house type at plots 31 and 56 and the ‘Whitmill’ house type at plot 46 are
redesigned with projecting bay windows on the side elevations to better activate the
spine road at these key locations and that this is conditioned.5. Officers do not object
to the revisions to the door canopies and window headers for the revised ‘Coughton’,
‘HA2B’ ‘Newstead’, and ‘Osborne’ house types. 6. The Osborne house type
(drawing ref. PH220.1.41 rev A) at plot 41 has been amended to provide a window
(rather than a blank facade) on the side elevation facing the side road which is
welcome.
7. The revised ‘Materials proposals’ drawing (ref. 1266-005 rev B) indicates that just
two external materials for the facing bricks (golden buff brick and red brick) of all the
58 dwellings. Officers do not object to this but considering the size of the scheme,
officers would recommend considering adding some timber weather boarding for
some of the dwellings to better adhere to the ‘Caldecote village design guide’ which
advises that; “timber or brick are characteristic external materials in the village,
render should be avoided”.
8. Officers are disappointed that drawings have not been provided (plans and
elevations) for the garden sheds shown on the ‘Bin carry and shed location’ drawing

Page 16

(ref. 1266-BIN rev C) to enable an assessment of the size, colour and materials for
these and recommend that this is conditioned.
9. Meter cupboards are shown on the front elevations in the drawings for the
‘Attingham’, ‘Chartwell’, ‘Waddesden’, ‘Whitmill’ and HA1B housetypes. Officers
recommend that meter cupboards should be located either out of site on flank
elevations or in purpose-made joinery designed to fit the pattern of apertures on the
elevation to avoid visual impacts on the street scene and that this should be
conditioned. This is to ensure compliance with the District Design guide paragraph
6.89.
10. Section 4.9 (Materials) of the revised ‘Design and Access Statement’ indicates
that casement windows in off white Upvc is proposed throughout the scheme.
Officers would prefer to see a more sustainable material such as timber used for the
window frames and would recommend that the colour and material of all the window
frames are conditioned.
11. Officers are disappointed that a more extensive set of coloured street scene
drawings (ref 1266-005 rev A) were not submitted to aid officers’ assessment of the
appearance of the scheme, in particular a street scene including plots 25 to 58 along
the spine road and a north / south culs de sacs street scene including plots 5 to 55.
Following Amended Plans-Officers consider that improvements have been made
to the scheme since the previous consultation but are not in a position to fully
support this application as it is considered that further information is required and
further improvements can be made to the proposals to better meet Paragraph 127 of
the ‘National Planning Policy Framework’ (2019), Policy HQ/1 (c), (e), (h) and (m)
and SC/7 of the ‘South Cambridgeshire Local Plan’ (2018) and Paragraphs 6.68,
6.82 and 6.83 of the ‘South Cambridgeshire District Design Guide’ (2010).
Specifically, officers consider that further improvements can be made in the
following areas:
Layout: 1. The parking court on the culs de sac for plots 52-57 will produce a vehicledominated environment. 2. 14 of the 58 plots (24%) feature front of plot parking and
these will be highly visible and intrusive to the street scene and produce a vehicle
dominated environment. 3. Difficulties in reading all the boundary treatments in the
revised ‘Hard Landscaping Zoning Plan & Boundary Treatments’ drawing.
Parking: 4. The double carparking garages are too small and are therefore not of a
usable size. 5. A large of dwellings (27%) having excessively long driveways. 6.
A large number of dwellings (22%) would be provided with front of plot parking which
are located too close to the houses, thus adversely affecting the residential amenity
of the residents. 7. the positioning of a single garage next to a double garage in
two instances which produces a long row of inactive frontage.
Residential amenity: 8. Several dwellings are not meeting the minimum back-toback distances for avoiding overlooking habitable rooms in the ‘District Design
Guide’
Public open space provision: 9. No Local Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) has
been included on the layout.
Architecture:
10. Architecture: The ‘Attingham’ house type at the corners of two streets facing

Page 17

the spine road with the front doors not facing the spine road, would benefit from
a better arrangement of the fenestration to activate the public realm.
11. Considering the considerable revisions to nearly all the house types, officers
would recommend that a more extensive set of coloured street scene drawings
are submitted to aid officers’ assessment of the appearance of the scheme.
12. Meter cupboards are shown on the front elevations in the drawings for 5 of the
housetypes. Officers recommend that meter cupboards should be located either
out of site on flank elevations.
Following comments on the original application-Officers are not in a position to
support this application as the proposals are considered to conflict with Paragraph
127 of the ‘National Planning Policy Framework’ (2019), Policy HQ/1 (c), (e), (h) and
(m) of the ‘South Cambridgeshire Local Plan’ (2018) and Paragraphs 6.68, 6.75 and
6.82 of the ‘South Cambridgeshire District Design Guide’ (2010).
Specifically, Officers have significant concerns over the following areas:
Layout:
1. The parking court on the culs de sac for plots 52-57 will produce a vehicledominated environment.
2. Excessive front of plot parking arrangements on several areas of the layout
which will be highly visible and intrusive and produce a vehicle-dominated
environment.
3. Unacceptable clustering of affordable houses which would have adverse
impacts on community cohesion.
Parking:
4. Excessive numbers of visitor car parking dominating the public realm.
5. The double carparking garages are too small and are therefore not of a
usable size.
6. A large of dwelling having excessively long driveways.
7. A large number of dwellings would be provided with front of plot parking which
are located too close to the houses, thus adversely affecting the residential
amenity of the residents.
Residential amenity:
8. Several dwellings are not meeting the minimum back-to-back and/or back-to-side
distances for avoiding overlooking habitable rooms in the ‘District Design Guide’
9. The rear gardens for 3 of the plots are not meeting the minimum size requirements
stipulated in the ‘District Design Guide’.
Public open space provision:
10. No Local Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) has been included on the layout.
Architecture:
11. Architecture: Poor arrangement of fenestration on the elevation of one
house which faces the spine road and no fenestration on the elevation two
other houses facing the spine road meaning a lack of active frontages for the
public realm.
Representations
36.


There have been a number of letters of objection received on this application. All
comments can be found on the Councils website. In summary the following concerns have
been raised to the proposed plans:

-The access to the site is via Grafton Drive which is a private road and from No.1
Grafton Drive the road is owned by all residents and managed by a Management

Page 18

Company.
-14 of the 33 houses in Grafton Drive have no driveway and park their second
car/visitor car outside on the road.
-The road is constructed with tarmac and block paving, and showing signs of wear
and tear. The proposal will generate 81 cars which is 127 cars in total using the road
-Questions over how the road will cope with construction vehicles and additional traffic
when built.
-Concerns regarding noise, fumes and dust pollution from developers construction
vehicles.
-Noise mitigation for living room and bedroom windows facing the road and in close
proximity to vehicles using the road.
-Concerns regarding damage to the road from heavy traffic and damage to homes.
-Grafton Drive is very busy with parents parking at school start and finish times with
parents taking their children to school.
-Concerns over the unsuitability of additional traffic and parking.
-Concerns regarding highway safety and suitability of additional cars, construction
vehicles, parked cars and pedestrians.
-The area outside the school is a no parking area, more cars will be using Grafton
Drive to park and drop off children, with additional construction traffic, children’s safety
will be at risk.
-Concerns regarding the access, the volume and nature of vehicles using the site, the
size and design of the existing road and the safety of children.
- Objects to planning permission being granted or works starting until the developer
has formed an agreement with Ashcroft Gardens Ltd which owns Grafton Drive
between Nos.1-33.
-Concerns regarding the proposed number of dwellings.
-Sustainability of the development
-Does not comply with the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 or National
Planning Guidance.
-Site lies outside the village development framework
-Failure to provide a countryside separation between Highfields Caldecote and Bourn
Airfield Development.
Plans are not correct as they include private land which the applicant does not own or
has any right of use over.
-No access on pavements for disabled users or wheelchairs as residents have to park
on the pavements due to lack of space.
-There has not been sufficient regard to the biodiversity impact of the application.
-Significant loss of meadow habitat which provides important feeding and breeding
grounds for species such as barn owls, brown hares and the large rookery in the
woods adjacent to the site.
-Wildlife species such as badgers and bats are present on the site.
-Brown hare are regularly present and breeding on site.
-Proposal ignores the presence of invertebrate such as beetles and moths such as the
Blackneck.
-Site is adjacent to a County Wildlife site containing significant numbers of grassland
indicator species.
-Site is an important feeding round for raptors such as buzzards, barn owls and
kestrels.
-The removal of some of the native trees is unacceptable.
-Consideration of the current climate emergency.
-Meadows provide important habitat and buffers for local villages and the countryside
areas should be retained between village to preserve the rural nature and biodiversity
of this area.
-Concerns regarding loss of privacy, loss of light, noise pollution and overlooking.
- The proposal will exacerbate known flooding, sewerage, infrastructure, lack of public

Page 19

transport and school places.
-Increased hard surfaces to the site will only increase surface flooding risk of adjacent
properties.
-Concerned regarding the provision for foul water and surface water drainage.
-If the foul water drainage is to be via an upgraded sewer along Grafton Drive, the
developers will need permission for this from Grafton Drive residents who own and
maintain the road.
-No provision for additional transport as a result of the proposal.
-Unsustainable and contradicts what is set out in the NPPF.
-No reference to address any issues stated for the Council’s refusal in 2017.
-Number of dwellings, density and the type is inappropriate for the location and the
private access route which would be significantly detrimental to the private, quiet
nature of Grafton Drive.
-Objections to further housing developments.
-No benefits for the current residents of Grafton Drive, but substantial detrimental
impact.
-Road is not owned by the applicant, nor does the applicant have rights to occupy or
develop to the road.
-Applicant not contributed to the upkeep of the private road/questions over the
covenant for the ownership.
-Unacceptable that with some dwellings having no frontage or front privacy, privacy
would be lost to the rear of some properties.
-Increased traffic and pedestrians to the front of dwellings would reduce privacy for
residents.
-Lack of provision for accessible housing for the disabled and elderly in the village.
-Loss of boundary between the village of Highfields Caldecote and Bourn Airfield.
-Traffic assumptions should be based on actual vehicle usage in the existing road.
-The suggested provision of cycle storage for each individual property means that
visitors to the trail or similar will have no place to secure their cycles.
-The design of some of the parking means that vehicle exhausts will be emitting
fumes into the gardens of existing properties.
-The planting area will not be adopted and it is unclear how tress, borders and similar
will be maintained, especially as they grow and could obstruct pathways and roads.
-Amendments have not dealt with previous objections. The plans still incorrectly
indicate that the developer claims land over which they do not have legal title, the
developer has made absolutely no attempt to contact the residents and owners of the
private land they mark as being part of their plot, and over which they will need to
negotiate access terms. This was a condition of the planning inspector and has been
completely ignored by the developer
-The overall design and redesign of plots 52-55 exacerbates the previous issues of
the poor clustering of affordable housing contrary to the South Cambs Local Plan
policy H/10.
-The design of plots 1-5, 52-58 adjacent to the boundary significantly exacerbates
problems of overlooking, loss of light, and loss of privacy for existing residents of
Grafton Drive against whose boundaries these properties abut. Several of the
proposed properties would be less than 12m from windows of existing properties
thereby breaching policies.
- The design of plots 52-55 would require removal of several mature native trees and
replacing the area with houses and a large parking lot, thereby having a detrimental
biodiversity impact. The overall development would have a significant detrimental
environmental impact making it more difficult to meet the Council’s climate change
strategy.
- The development does not reflect the current character of the village and would
change the existing character of the quiet Grafton Drive cul-de-sac beyond all
recognition.

Page 20

-Overall, this proposal is overwhelmingly detrimental and should not proceed.
-Previous objections apply given the amendments. In addition, comments that
there is no alternative for pedestrians, wheelchair users, mobility scooter users and
parents with buggies but to use the road in Grafton Drive as the footpaths are
inadequate and made even more difficult by the number of cars that need to park
both sides of the road due to lack of driveways.
-The narrow access gate to the proposed development site allows only one vehicle
drive through at any one time and the plan is still showing access land that does not
belong to the Developer.
-There is a huge proposed development ongoing within the village, a large
development of properties has just recently been completed. The Bourn airfield
development site adjacent to the village has now been agreed. This will result in a
loss of the boundary between the village and the Bourn site. The volume of traffic
through the village and meeting up with the new Bourn development to access the
A428 will have a huge environmental impact on the whole of the surrounding area.
-In the village, no improvements have been carried out to the roads and pathways.
These still cause hazards for pedestrians, cyclists and motorists and particularly for
children accessing the local school and waiting for school transport to secondary
school. Grafton Drive is particularly susceptible to these dangers as it is adjacent to
the school and the junction is extremely busy in the mornings and afternoons.
-The development is not sustainable in any way. In my opinion it will have a serious
impact on the health and well-being of all the residents of Grafton Drive.
-Unsustainable and in the wrong place.
-Will set a precedent, leading to the north of the development being developed.
-Development is being developed in isolation from its context, development would be
more coherent with the existing private development on Grafton Drive if it considered
the new houses as part of the wider community including the existing houses and the
context and character of the village.
-If the proposed new development considered the existing and new houses together
and place additional parking for the existing 32 houses and the green space
immediately as you enter the new plot, this would benefit both areas and alleviate
concerns regarding access and social cohesion.
-The amendments to the design of the plots 1-5, 52-58 still does not address the
issues of overlooking, loss of light and loss of privacy for existing residents of Grafton
Drive.
-A number of properties will be less than 12metres from the windows of properties on
Grafton Drive thus breaching current policies on spacing between properties.
-There is no provision in the amendment to retain the existing 'mature' native trees on
the boundary with Grafton Drive, this will result in a loss of biodiversity which cannot
be mitigated by planting of smaller saplings.
-The entire development will result in a significant overall loss of biodiversity that
given the current ecological crisis in the UK should not be overlooked.
-The mitigation measures will not compensate for the fact that this site is unploughed
grassland.
This development is not a sustainable one and does not meet Council's climate
change strategy.
-This development will severely affect the quiet nature of Grafton Drive which is a cul
de sac and change the rural nature of this small village.
-This development poses significant issues with regards the safety of young children
at the junction to Grafton Drive due to the significant increase in construction and
residential traffic and what is already a very busy junction next to a primary school.
-It will result in a contiguous urban development between the village of Caldecote and
the Bourn Airfield and destroy any sense of separation between the two.
-There has been absolutely no effort made by the developer to consult with the
residents about this development as they will need to negotiate access over the

Page 21

private property of Grafton Drive and agree a construction plan.
-The plans still show that the developer claims land over which they do not have legal
title. This is incorrect and must be addressed.
Site and Surroundings
37.

The site is located outside of the Highfields Caldecote village framework
and within the open countryside. It is situated on the western edge of Highfields
Caldecote, off Grafton Drive. The site is located in a sensitive location, an area which
sits along the boundary between Caldecote and Bourn Airfield. The site comprises of
scrub grassland and hardstanding, extending west behind the existing housing on
Grafton Drive and a further strip extending south behind the recreation ground
connecting with Bucket Hill Plantation and New Barns Plantation which separates
Caldecote from Bourn Airfield. The site’s northern boundary is defined by an existing
post and wire fence with a hedgerow and some mature trees. The boundary is defined
by an existing track that runs north-south through the woodland. The site’s southern
boundary is defined by an existing mature hedgerow and ditch, adjacent to the
Recreation Ground. The site’s eastern boundary abuts existing dwellings at Grafton
Drive. The site is situated within flood zone 1 (low risk).

38.

The site contains a large agricultural barn, piggery and hardstanding from previous
buildings which were used for agricultural purposes. The site also features a
woodland area to the west and south west.
Proposal

39.

This application, as amended, seeks consent for approval of matters reserved for
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale following outline planning consent
(S/2764/16/OL) which was approved under appeal (APP/W0530/W/17/3172541) for
up to 58 dwellings. The application seeks consent for the demolition of the existing
barn on the site and development of up to 58 dwellings with associated infrastructure,
landscaping and public open space.

40.

This application follows the scheme which underwent pre-application planning advice
and discussion with the Design Enabling Panel (DEP).

41.

Amended plans have been received for the proposal.

42.

A number of comments have been raised in regard to the sustainability of the
proposal and complying with the Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework.
The principle of the development was established under the approved appeal
(APP/W0530/W/17/3172541) and therefore cannot be considered as part of this
Reserved Matters application.
Planning Assessment
Principle of Development:

43.

The principle of the residential development for up to 58 dwellings (including 40%
affordable) with access for the main vehicular entrance was established on the
site under outline planning consent (S/2764/16/OL) which was approved under appeal
(APP/W0530/W/17/3172541).

44.

The key issues to therefore consider in the determination of this Reserved Matters
application relate to density, housing mix and the impacts of the development upon

Page 22

the character and appearance of the area, neighbour amenity, trees and landscaping.
Housing Density
45.

The overall site measures approximately 3.56 hectares in area. The proposed density
on this site would be approximately 16 dwellings per hectare. Alongside the residential
development, other areas of the site would consist of the retention of the existing
woodland, two attenuation basins and public open space comprising a trim trail

46.

The proposed density would be below the requirement of an average of 30 dwellings
per hectare, however the proposal is considered to be acceptable given the character
of the area and sites location, in accordance with Policy H/8 of the Local Plan.
Affordable Housing Provision

47.

23 of the 58 dwellings would be affordable to meet the local needs (40%). This was
secured within the Section 106 agreement as part of the outline planning consent,
approved under appeal (APP/W0530/W/17/3172541). The proposed mix for the
affordable rent properties would comprise of 2 x 1 bedroom maisonettes, 7 x 2 bed
dwellings and 7 x 3 bedroom dwellings, and for the shared ownership properties 3 x 2
bedroom dwellings and 4 x 3 bedroom dwellings. This would result in 7 (30%) of the
units being for shared ownership and 16 (70%) for affordable rented. The dwelling
size mix and tenure mix is considered acceptable and would accord with local needs
within Caldecote and across the district.

48.

2 no. of the 35 no. private dwellings (plots 22 and 28) and 2 no. of the 23 affordable
dwellings (plots 52 and 53) would be M4.2 compliant, which the Housing Officer
supports.

49.

The Housing Officer has confirmed that the proposed location of the affordable
dwellings comprising of plots 3,4,5,6,7,10 and 11 in the south and south eastern part
of the site, and plots 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54 and 55 in
the north and north eastern part of the site are sufficiently clustered and the proposal
would therefore comply with Policy H/10 of the Local Plan.
Market Housing Mix

50.

35 of the dwellings would be for sale on the open market. The market housing mix
proposed is 10 x two bed units (28%), 10 x three bed units (28%) and 15 x four bed
units (42).

51.

Market homes in developments of 10 or more homes will consist of at least 30% 1 or
2 bedroom homes; at least 30% 3 bedroom homes; and at least 30% 4 or more
bedroom homes; with a 10% flexibility allowance that can be added to any of the
above categories taking account of local circumstances.

52.

The proposal would fall short of this for the proposed 2 and 3 bedroom dwellings, and
slightly above for the 4 bedroom dwellings. The proposal given though slightly short of
the policy requirement, is considered acceptable.
Character and Appearance of the Area

53.

The site comprises two agricultural fields, separated by an area of hard standing. The
site is relatively flat, with a slight decline from north to south. The site includes an
existing woodland to the west and south west, and numerous trees and hedgerows

Page 23

along its boundaries.
54.

The site is accessed off Grafton Drive which lies to the east and forms relatively new
residential development comprising of two storey dwellings, with a mix of detached,
semi-detached and link properties, lying either along Grafton Drive or off within
smaller clusters or cul-de-sacs. There is a mixture of parking within driveways, with
garages often set back from property frontages and on street parking. There are a
number of bungalows which are situated and lie along Grafton Drive, as you first enter
from Highfields Road.

55.

The design and detailing of the dwellings along Grafton Drive are varied, with the
design focusing on a modern interpretation of the traditional vernacular. The materials
vary with buff brick, black cladding and red brick with a mix of roofing materials.

56.

The site lies within the settlement of Highfields, which is situated at the northern end
of the Parish. Through the development and replacement of the former smallholding
plots, the character of dwellings typical of Highfields Caldecote is of varied styles and
periods, though mainly either one storey or one and half storey chalet dwellings, with
recent development comprising two or three storey dwellings along cul-de-sacs.

57.

The Caldecote Village Design Guide, Supplementary Planning Document was
formally adopted in January 2020. The proposed site lies within the Strympole and
Furlong character area as identified in the Village Design Guide, which forms
development from 2001 in cul-de-sac roadways and dwellings of brick and render.

58.

Paragraph 6.3 of the Village Design Guide states that new residential developments
should integrate with the original Highfields development pattern wherever possible,
including linear street layout, green edging to the highway in front of houses, and
mature planting. It is considered that the proposed landscaping details would accord
with the Village Design Guide with planting to the front of the dwellings.

59.

Paragraph 6.4 states that new development should reflect the distinctive pattern of
Highfields where off-street parking and generous front gardens mean that cars do not
dominate the appearance of roads and building frontages. The proposal would not
strictly accord with this, however given the character of the adjacent development in
Grafton Drive, the proposed layout would reflect this and it is considered acceptable to
continue this visual character.

60.

The proposed height of the development would comprise of two storey dwellings and
one storey garages, being in accordance with the outline planning condition 5 vi which
required dwellings to not exceed 2.5 storey’s. The dwellings along Grafton Drive are
mainly two storey, which the proposal would accord with paragraph 6.1 of the Village
Design Guide.

61.

The proposed design and appearance of the dwellings following amendments are
considered to be appropriate and would visually connect with the adjacent
development at Grafton Drive. Comments have been received that the proposed
house designs are poor, with no indication that the designs have been considered in
relation to the Village Design Guide. The amended design and appropriate materials
proposed are considered acceptable. The Urban Design Officer in their comments
were pleased that the amendments as a result of the advice given at the Design
Enabling Panel meeting have resulted in the simplifying and rationalising of windows
and their designs and the addition of windows in key fenestration. They did however
consider the house elevations to be rather suburban looking and the appearance of
the dwellings could be improved by reflecting local vernacular. Officers are of the view

Page 24

that the proposed design of the dwellings has been amended and are of a similar
design and appearance to Grafton Drive. The Urban Design Officer was disappointed
that the proposed bay windows had been removed, however this was requested by
the Design Enabling Panel and Officers consider that bay windows are not
appropriate to the character of the area and adjacent development at Grafton Drive.
62.

The proposed density of the built form will comprise of a lower density on the edge of
the built form consisting of detached dwellings with landscaping, and a higher density
within the core of the development comprising of semi-detached and terraced
dwellings. It is considered this would be appropriate to the character of the area.
Comments have been received that the eastern side of the development, close to the
existing development at Grafton Drive appears very crowded, particularly when you
enter the site. This design is proposed to ensure a seamless transition from the
existing development to the proposed site, with plots 1 and 56-58 lining the highway to
provide a visual interest.

63.

In prominent locations, dwellings have been used to terminate views and gaps have
been retained to provide views to the open countryside and retained woodland.

64.

The proposed materials for the dwellings will comprise of a mix of buff and red brick
with plain sand faced concrete tiles and artificial slate. The fenestration will include
well proportioned casement windows in off white, UPVC. It is considered that the
proposed mix of materials will add variety and break up the appearance of the built
form. The materials would relate well to the dwellings and materials within Grafton
Drive, ensuring a visual continuation and integration of the proposed development.
The proposed materials would accord with paragraph 6.5 of the Village Design Guide.

65.

The proposed layout of the development is arranged around a variety of roads forming
a hierarchy of primary, secondary, and private drives internally and along the
woodland edges. This is replicated with different surface materials to define their
status. The proposed access into the site off Grafton Drive will provide a long vista
and key views as you enter the site, framed by two dwellings that act as an entrance
gateway to provide a sense of enclosure and arrival. In the centre of the site,
proposed dwellings are orientated around a central green space that acts as a ‘green
heart’ to the scheme and creates a sense of character. Dwellings turn with the streets
to provide active frontages leading to informal mews and closes with views out into
the surrounding countryside.

66.

The proposed design of the site is very landscape led with the large existing woodland
to the west and south being incorporated within the site and forming part of the
development. Two large areas of public open space would be sited within the core of
the development and to the south west. A woodland play trail is proposed with
footpaths around the site.

67.

Parking within the development has been designed to be convenient and well
surveyed. Parking is predominantly on plot, to the front of dwellings and garages,
either side by side or tandem. There are a number of enclosed garages proposed. Car
parking courts have been sited to the front of a number of dwellings. 10 visitor car
parking spaces are proposed to comply with the Outline planning consent condition 5.
The Urban Design Officer in their comments raise concern regarding the position of
single garages next to a double garage which produces a row of inactive frontage.
This only occurs in a few examples on the whole site and is not considered to cause
significant visual harm.

Page 25

68.

The Parish in their comments have made reference to parking. There are a number of
car parking courts proposed, the application has been amended so that the number of
spaces within car parking court areas have been reduced or relocated to reduce the
visual impact. It is considered that the proposed car parking court serving plot Nos.5258 through proposed landscaping, tree planting and use of a different surface material
will reduce the visual impact of this area, and the proposal would be acceptable in
terms of visual amenity. The Urban Design Officer does not object to this and
comments that given the scale of development, a mix of different parking approaches
are included taking into account the site constraints.

69.

The proposal is considered to be of a high-quality design and would preserve the
character of the area, providing a positive contribution in line with Policy HQ/1 of the
Local Plan.
Residential Space Standards

70.

Policy H/12 of the Local Plan states that new residential units will be permitted where
their gross internal floor areas meet or exceed the Government’s Technical Housing
Standards – Nationally Described Space Standard (2015) or successor document.

71.

Given that the outline planning consent did not require the dwellings to be built to
meet the residential space standards and this matter does not fall under the definition
of the reserved matters for layout, appearance or scale of the development, the sizes
of the rooms are considered satisfactory.

72.

The proposal would therefore not comply with Policy H/12 of the Local Plan but there
are material considerations in this case to justify a departure from policy.
Trees/Landscaping

73.

The proposed site is predominantly landscape led, with large areas of formal and
informal public open space and the existing woodland to the west. The open space
within the site includes two areas of public open space forming a large green within
the centre of the site and to the south west. This provides a large area of green space
and creates a visual focus within the built form. To the west of the site is the existing
woodland which will provide access to residents and wider village residents with
footpaths and a Trim Trail.

74.

The proposed public open space will be centrally sited and well overlooked by
dwellings. A Trim Trail will be provided to the west of the site adjacent to the existing
woodland which will provide nine pieces of play equipment, which would be in
accordance with the requirements set out in the S106 Agreement for the outline
permission. The S106 Agreement required a contribution of £50,000 to the Parish in
lieu of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) on site. The Urban Design and
Landscape Officers in their comments made reference to this and a LEAP was not
required on site given this financial contribution.

75.

The Landscape Officer has requested clarification and amendments on a number of
outstanding landscape matters. Following amended plans, the Landscape Officer has
commented that the scheme is not supported and existing comments are still to be
addressed. These are in regard to appearance which is discussed under character of
the area. The Landscape Officer comments on the lack of native hedgerow along the

Page 26

76.

77.

78.

79.

northern boundary. This boundary along the northern edge is to be left open to allow
residents to have views out towards the countryside. There are limited public views
when looking south towards the site which would lead to limited visual harm with
regard to not having any hedgerow. The Landscape Officer comments on the lack of
details regarding tree planting pit detail, this can be addressed and condition (d) is
recommended. The Landscape Officer concerns and comments are considered to be
addressed. The Tree Officer comments that the detailed landscape proposal does not
provide a landmark, long lived, large stature tree within the centre green. Given this
green is to be used as part of the SuDs system, the agent has advised that it would
not be possible for a large tree to be planted within this area. It is not considered that
the lack of a tree within this area would result in significant visual harm to warrant
refusal. Further comments from the Tree Officer are awaited in terms of this. In
addition the Tree Officer comments that the Landscape Management Plan does not
accord with the Ecological Method Statement which identifies a minimum of 18
watering visits throughout the year. Condition (d) is recommended to require details of
the Landscape Management Plan to be submitted for approval, and that the street
lighting layout plan not be approved as plot 22 or road 1 LP04 conflicts with the
adjacent tree. Condition (g) is recommended to require a lighting plan to be submitted
to agree the proposed lighting and ensure no conflict.
Boundary treatment to dwellings will comprise of 1 metre, three bar timber post and
rail fence any rear or side boundaries facing onto the countryside and 1.8 metre high
close boarded fences between gardens.
The retention of the existing woodland on the western boundary will provide a
significant landscape and visual buffer between Bourn Airfield and the site and village.
The boundaries around the site will be increased with trees and shrub planting to
soften the visual impact.
A number of comments have been received in regard to the visual impact of hard
landscaping forming car parking. The proposal has been amended to reduce the
prominence and visual impact of parking within courtyard areas. It is acknowledged
that there are car parking spaces which will be evident in street scene views, however
these have been minimized where possible.
The proposed hard and soft landscaping for the scheme would accord with Policies
HQ/1 and NH/4 of the Local Plan.

80.

Flood Risk

81.

The site is situated within flood zone 1 (low risk) as identified by the Environment
Agency. There are no watercourses within or on the boundaries of the site.
A Drainage Strategy has been submitted as part of the application. The strategy
proposes an appropriate level of sustainable drainage solutions, including two
attenuation ponds which will serve as both drainage and ecological habitat features.

82.

83.

The maintenance of any adopted sewer will be by Anglian Water, whilst any private
drainage systems will be maintained by the property manager. The SuDs scheme will
be offered to Anglian Water or the Parish Council for adoption and future
maintenance. If none of the above will adopt and maintain the SuDs features, a
management company will be offered the adoption of the SuDS features.
The Landscape Officer in their comments have requested that the proposed

Page 27

headwalls and culverts are proposed to provide green alternatives or natural stone
headwall structures rather than precast concrete. Given these details are acceptable
by the Lead Local Flood Authority and Environment Agency, it is not considered
reasonable to request amendments regarding this. The Lead Local Flood Authority,
Drainage Officer, Environment Agency and Anglian Water are in support of the
proposed surface water and foul water drainage measures and, the proposal is
considered to accord with Policies CC/8 and CC/9 of the Local Plan.
84.

Highway Safety and Parking Provision
The vehicular access to the site has been agreed under the approved appeal
(APP/W0530/W/17/3172541) for the Outline application (2764/16/OL). Comments
have been received in regard to traffic generation from the site, highway safety, the
effect of the proposal on the road condition, impact of construction vehicles and safety
in regard to the existing use of Grafton Drive for the primary school and children’s
safety.

85.

Given that access for the site has been agreed under the Appeal for the Outline
Consent and was satisfactory to the Planning Inspectorate, this cannot be considered
as a material planning consideration under this Reserved Matters Consent.

86.

Condition 10 on the allowed appeal requires submission of a Construction
Management Plan to be submitted and approved prior to any development on the site.
This will provide details of how construction traffic will access the site from Grafton
Drive, the days and hours of working, proposals to minimise disruption to the area,
parking for vehicles of site personnel, contractor storage areas and compound. The
Parish Council in their comments made reference to the request for the application to
go to Planning Committee on the grounds of traffic, banksman and delivery.

87.

The Local Highways Authority in their comments stated that they are not in a position
to adopt the site as Grafton Drive is a private street and all adopted public highway
must be contiguous and therefore, the entire site will remain private. If in the future,
Grafton Drive is brought forward for adoption, currently as it stands the proposed
layout is not up to adoptable standard.

88.

Each dwelling would have two off road car parking spaces which would meet the
requirement of Policy TI/2 of the Local Plan. This would be in the form of a driveway
on plot and/or a garage or within court yard parking. The Urban Design Officer raised
concern that the driveways were excessively long. The driveways are considered to
be of an appropriate size to allow two cars to park with sufficient space surrounding
for use. 10 visitor car parking spaces will be provided as per the Appeal decision for
the Outline consent. The Landscape Officer in their comments raised concern
regarding the location of the visitor parking to the north of the open space. It is
considered this is sufficient to allow easy access for visitors and would not cause
visual harm to the open space.

89.

The Parish Council in their comments raised concern regarding the size of the
proposed garages. The District Design Guide states that to provide garages of
adequate size, a minimum of 3.3 metres by 6 metres should be allowed for car
parking and circulation, with an allowance of 1 metres at the end or 650mm-750 mm
for cycle or other storage. The proposed single and double garages proposed would
comply with the size requirements of the District Design Guide.

90.

The proposal has provided a mix of methods for cycle storage with provision within

Page 28

oversized garages and lockable garden sheds with direct access to the street and
approached by a hard path. The Transport Assessment Team in their comments have
mentioned that secure bike storage should be provided for all dwellings with one cycle
space per bedroom. To ensure this is provided, Condition (d) is recommended to
require details of external materials and sizes of the proposed garden sheds for bike
storage.
91.

Representations have been received in regard to Land Registry details for the access
road along Grafton Drive, in which the developer is required to make payment to the
owner of the access road for maintenance costs. This is a legal matter and not a
planning consideration and cannot be considered as part of the planning process.

92.

The proposal would therefore accord with Policies TI/2, TI/3 and HQ/1 of the Local
Plan.
Residential Amenity

93.

Comments have been received that the proposal would cause significant harm to
existing neighbouring dwellings along Grafton Drive.

94.

The neighbours at No.22 Grafton Drive have raised concerns regarding loss of
privacy. Neighbouring properties serving Nos.19 to 22 Grafton Drive lie to the east of
the proposed site, with their rear elevations and back rear gardens abutting the
development site which lies to the west. The side elevation of Plot 55 would be set off
the common boundary and sited 15 metres from the rear elevation of No.22 Grafton
Drive. This would accord with Paragraph 6.68 of the District Design Guide which
states where blank walls are proposed opposite the windows to habitable rooms, this
distance can be reduced further, with a minimum of 12m between the wall and any
neighbouring windows that are directly opposite. Plot 55 would not result in any loss of
privacy to the adjacent neighbouring properties given there are no windows proposed
in the side (east) elevation.

95.

Following amended plans, the roof of Plot 55 has been hipped to the east, to reduce
the visual impact in terms of the mass and bulk. Proposed plot 55 is not considered to
result in significant harm in terms of loss of light, loss of privacy or be visually
overbearing to the existing neighbouring properties.

96.

Proposed plot 58 would be set off the common boundary and sited 15 metres from the
rear elevation of No.19 Grafton Drive. This would accord with Paragraph 6.68 of the
District Design Guide which states where blank walls are proposed opposite the
windows to habitable rooms, this distance can be reduced further, with a minimum of
12m between the wall and any neighbouring windows that are directly opposite. Plot
58 would not result in any loss of privacy to the adjacent neighbouring properties
given there are no windows proposed in the side (east) elevation.

97.

Following amended plans, the roof of Plot 58 has been hipped to the east, to reduce
the visual impact in terms of the mass and bulk. Proposed plot 58 is not considered to
result in significant harm in terms of loss of light, loss of privacy or be visually
overbearing to the existing neighbouring properties.

98.

Neighbouring properties serving Nos.15 and 18 Grafton Drive lie to the east of the
proposed site, with their side elevations and rear garden areas lying to the side of
proposed plots 1-5.

Page 29

99.

Proposed plot 1 would be sited approximately 13 metres from the side elevation of
No.18 Grafton Drive and 8 metres from the common boundary. In between this space
would serve the driveway for proposed plot 1, with the garage set back. No.18 Grafton
Drive is set off the boundary. The proposed garage serving plot 1 would be set less
than a metre from the boundary with No.18 Grafton Drive, facing to the side of their
garden area. Within the side elevation of No.18 Grafton Drive lies a set of patio doors
serving a kitchen/dining and living room with no first floor windows in the side (west)
elevation.

100.

Within the side east elevation immediate gable of Plot 1 lies no ground or first floor
windows. In the rear projecting element which lies 13 metres from the boundary would
be a set of patio doors serving a kitchen and breakfast room and a secondary window
at first floor serving bedroom one. A condition (e) is recommended to any consent
granted to obscure glaze and fix shut the proposed secondary first floor window
serving bedroom one to prevent any loss of privacy to No.18 Grafton Drive and
condition (f) to prevent the insertion of future windows.

101.

The proposed distance of plot 1 from No.18 Grafton Drive would accord with
Paragraph 6.68 of the District Design Guide which states where blank walls are
proposed opposite the windows to habitable rooms, this distance can be reduced
further, with a minimum of 12m between the wall and any neighbouring windows that
are directly opposite. As a result, the proposal would not result in any harm in terms of
loss of privacy.

102.

Given the siting of proposed plot 1 set off from the boundary, with No.18 Grafton
Drive having patio doors which face towards this plot, but main garden area to the
rear with windows serving No.18 to the rear, the proposal is not considered to result in
significant loss of light or be visually overbearing.

103.

The proposed garage for plot 2 would be sited approximately 3 metres from the
common boundary with No.18 Grafton Drive, however would sit slightly further to the
north of the garage which serves No.18 Grafton Drive. Plot 2 would not result in any
significant harm to the amenity of No.18 Grafton Drive.

104.

Plots 3, 4 and 5 would be sited 15 metres from the side elevation of No.15 Grafton
Drive. Within the side elevation of No.15 Grafton Drive there are ground floor windows
but no first floor windows. Plots 3,4 and 5 would be sited approximately 14 metres
from the side elevation of No.15 Grafton Drive. First Floor windows serving a bedroom
lie within the rear elevation of plots 3,4 and 5. The District Design Guide states that to
prevent the overlooking of habitable rooms to the rear of residential properties and
rear private gardens, it is preferable that a minimum distance of 15 metres is provided
between the windows and the property boundary. For two storey residential
properties, a minimum distance of 25 metres should be provided between rear or side
building faces containing habitable rooms. Plots 3 and 4 on balance given the
distance from the side elevation of the neighbour, and boundary treatment are
considered acceptable in terms of loss of privacy. Given the distance and siting of plot
5, condition (f) is recommended to prevent any loss of privacy to the rear garden
amenity area of No.15 Grafton Drive.

105.

Given the distance and siting of plots 3,4 and 5 from the side elevation window of
No.15 Grafton Drive and rear garden amenity area, the proposal is not considered to
result in any significant loss of light or be visually overbearing to the amenity of this

Page 30

resident.
106.

The Urban Design Officer in their comments raise concern that a number of the
dwellings do not meet the required back to back distance of 25 metres as set out in
the District Design Guide. The shortest distance proposed is 22 metres from the rear
elevation of plot 7 to the rear elevation of plot 10, with this occurring again between
plots 6 and 11 and plots 18 to 21. A number of other plots fall short at 23 and 24
metres. Given the majority of the plots meet the 25 metre distance and there are only
a few instances where this is less than 25 metres, which is often expected at the
centre of developments being of a higher density, the proposal is considered
acceptable in terms of impact on residential amenity.

107.

Officers acknowledge the Urban Design Officers comments in regard to the proximity
of front of plot parking spaces to dwellings being less than 2 metres and request to
reposition the parking bays to provide a wider distance of 3 metres to reduce the
impact of car headlights and engine noise, however given parking to the front of
dwellings would be for the host dwelling only, with no parking for adjacent plots
opposite other houses, the siting is considered acceptable.

108.

The proposed rear garden sizes would comply with the space and size requirements
under paragraph 6.75 of the District Design Guide.

109.

The development is not considered to adversely affect the amenities of adjoining
neighbours through being unduly overbearing in mass, through a significant loss of
light or through a severe loss of privacy.

110.

The proposal would therefore accord with Policy HQ/1 of the Local Plan.
Biodiversity

111.

The ecological constraints of the site were considered under the outline planning
application.

112.

An Ecological Method Statement and updated statement in relation to condition 15 of
the appeal decision notice has been submitted as part of this Reserved Matters
application.

113.

The woodland in the west section of the site will remain. The proposal will include the
creation of two ponds and two public amenity grassland areas. Landscaping for the
site, includes tree planting, ditch filling and creation of a woodland play trail.
The submitted Ecological Method Statement is sufficient to provide a wide variety of
mitigation strategies. The Ecology Officer has requested that further bat and bird
boxes are provided within the site and the number was increased to the installation of
29 bat bricks and 29 brick bird nests across the site. In addition, the Ecology Officer
requested that the landscaping plan match the recommendations in the Ecological
Method Statement in regard to marginal planting, removal of reed species or provision
of a management plan that will contact the species going forward. This has been
addressed and the Ecology Officer supports the proposal in terms of biodiversity.

114.

The proposal will result in a wide range of habitats comprising native species and
improve and maintain ecological connectivity. Given the above, the proposal would
not result in the loss of any important habitats for protected species and would result
in a net increase in biodiversity on the site, in accordance with Policy NH/4 of the

Page 31

Local Plan.
Contamination
115.

116.

As part of the allowed appeal (APP/W0530/W/17/3172541) for the Outline application
(S/2764/16/OL) a Land Contamination Assessment was submitted. In the report, the
site was considered to present an overall low to moderate/high risk from past and
current use, adjacent operations and environmental settling. Condition 17 of the
approved appeal decision requires an assessment of the risks posed by any
contamination to be submitted, requiring a risk assessment, detailed remediation
options and scheme, Condition 17 remains outstanding and has not been discharged,
a discharge of condition application is required and a written scheme for investigation
and recording of contamination and remediation remains outstanding.
The proposal would therefore comply with Policies SC/11 of the Local Plan.
Noise

117.

A Noise Assessment has been submitted as part of the application and the
Environmental Health Officer has commented that the proposal is acceptable from a
noise perspective. The proposal would therefore comply with Policy SC/10 of the
Local Plan.
Permeability

118.

The site is accessed via a single point of access from Grafton Drive, with primary and
secondary access roads and pedestrian footways within the site. A footpath is
proposed through the woodland which would provide sufficient connectivity within the
site in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the Local Plan.
Conclusion

119.

120.

121.

122.

123.

The principle of residential development up to 58 dwellings on the site, has been
established through outline planning consent (S/2764/16/OL) which was allowed
under appeal (APP/W0530/W/17/3172541).
Whilst the concerns of the Parish Council and local residents are acknowledged in
relation to the design, layout, neighbour amenity, highway safety, drainage,
biodiversity and landscaping no objections have been received from statutory
consultees in relation to these matters.
Most of these matters were considered at outline stage and no adverse impacts were
identified that could not be controlled or mitigated by way of conditions.
The amendments are considered to further improve the quality of the scheme to
ensure that it preserves the character and appearance of the area and fits comfortably
within its rural context. The reserved matters details for appearance, layout, scale and
landscaping of the development are considered acceptable by officers and the
application is therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions.
Having regard to applicable national and local planning policies, and having taken all
relevant material considerations into account, it is considered that the reserved
matters should be approved in this instance.
Recommendation

Page 32

124.

Officers recommend that the Committee approves the application, with the planning
conditions and informatives set out below, with the final wording of any amendments
to these to be agreed in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair prior to the issuing
of planning permission:
Conditions
(a)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: HA3B(MID)/1 Rev H Planning Layout, PH220.1.41
Rev A Osborne Planning-Plans & Elevations Plot 41 Only, PH221.1 Rev A
Waddesdon Planning- Plans and Elevations, PH320.1 Rev A Attingham
Planning- Plans and Elevations, PH323.2/3 Rev C Alexander Planning-Plans
and Elevations, PH421.1 Chartwell Planning-Plans and Elevations Plot 17 and
18, PH421.2 Chartwell Planning-Plans and Elevations Plot 22 and 28,
PH422.1 Rev A Waddesdon Planning- Plans and Elevations, PH4423.1 Rev B
Coughton Planning- Plans and Elevations, PH220.1.45 Rev B Osborne
Planning- Plans and Elevations Plot 57-58 Only, PH322.1 Rev A Newstead
Planning-Plans and Elevations, HA1BED HA-1BED Planning-Plans and
Elevations, SH322.1 Rev C HA-3B Planning-Plans and Elevations, SH220.1
Rev B HA-2B Planning Plans & Elevations, SH220.2 Rev B HA-2B PlanningPlans and Elevations Plot 55 Only, G203.1.1 Twin Garage Planning- Plans
and Elevations, G201.1 Double Store Planning-Plans and Elevations,
GD.G101.1.1/3 G101.1.1 Single Garage Planning- Plans and Elevations,
25129_02_020_02 Rev C Engineering Layout, 25129 Rev A Engineering
Design Calculations M-EC April 2020, GL1203 02 Rev D Hard Landscaping
Zoning Plana and Boundary Treatments, GL1203 Rev A Landscape
Management Plan 18 May 2020, 1266-004 Rev J Planning Layout, GL120301
Rev D Landscape Proposals, 20876/CAM Trim Trail Details, 1266-Bin Rev C
Bin Carry Drawing, 1266-005 Rev C Materials Plan, 1266-MOV Rev B
Movement and Access Drawing, 1266-PAR Rev B Parking Plan, 1266-SH Rev
B Storey Height Plan, 1266-TM Rev B Tenure Mix, 25129_02_SMM_01a
SUDS Maintenance Note, 25129_02_100_01 Rev C Private Street Lighting
Layout, 25129_02_110_01 Rev D Refuse Vehicle Tracking Plan,
25129_02_110_02 Rev E Fire Tender Vehicle Tracking Plan, Ecological
Method Statement by ADAS Feb 2020, GL1203 03 Tree Pit Details,
P3405.1.001 Tree Constains Drawing, P3405.1.002 Tree Constrains Drawing,
P3405.1.003 Tree Constrains Drawing, P3405.1.004 Tree Constrains Drawing,
P3405.1.005 Rev D Tree Protection Plan, P3405.1.006 Rev D Tree Protection
Plan, p3405.1.007 Rev D Tree Protection Plan, P3405.1.008 Rev D Tree
Protection Plan, P3405.1.4 Arboricultural Impact Assessment 19 February
2020, Waste Management Strategy, SH104.1/21 HA 1 bed, SH104.1/3 HA 1
Bed, SH104.1/3 Rev A, SH220.2 HA2 Bed Plot 55, SH220.1 HA2 Rev B Bed,
SH220.1/3 Rev A (PLT 5 ONLY), SH322.1 Rev C HA 3 Bed, PH323.2/3 Rev
C Alexander, PH320.1 Rev A Attingham, PH421.1 Rev A Chartwell Plots 17
and 18, PH421.2 Chartwell Plots 22 and 28, PH423.1 Rev B Coughton,
GD.G201.1.1/3 Double Store, PH322.1 Rev A Newstead, PH220.1.45 Rev A
Osborne Hipped Plots 57 and 58, PH220.1.41 Rev A Osborne Plot 41,
PH220.1 Rev B Osborne, G101.1.1 Single Gable Garage, GD.G203.1.1/3
Twin Shared Store, PH422.1 Rev A Waddlesden and PH221.1 Rev A Whitmill.
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990).

(b)

No development above foundation level shall take place until details of
external materials of construction for the development have been submitted to

Page 33

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in
accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.)
(c)

No development above foundation level shall take place until details of
external materials and sizes of the proposed garden sheds for bike storage for
all dwellings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details for each plot prior to the occupation of that dwelling.
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in
accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.)

(d)

Notwithstanding the approved plans, details of tree pit planting and structural
soils or 3D cellular confinement systems including the location, trees with
strimmer guards stakes and the Landscape Management Plan shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in
accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.)

(e)

Notwithstanding the approved plans, the proposed first floor window within the
side east elevation of plot 1 and first floor window in the rear elevation of plot 5
shall be permanently fixed shut and obscure glazed (meeting a minimum of
Pilkington Standard level 3 in obscurity) up to a height of 1.7 metres above
finished floor level. The development shall be retained as such thereafter.
(Reason - To protect the amenity of neighbouring properties and ensure the
development is satisfactory in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted
Local Plan 2018.)

(f)

No first floor windows shall be erected in the rear elevation of plot 5 unless
they are permanently fixed shut and obscure glazed (meeting a minimum of
Pilkington Standard level 3 in obscurity) up to a height of 1.7 metres above
finished floor level.
(Reason - To protect the amenity of neighbouring properties and ensure the
development is satisfactory in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted
Local Plan 2018.)

(g)

Notwithstanding the approved plans, details for refuse / recycling storage and
collection points, including a Waste Management Plan for the site and an
external lighting strategy to ensure adequate illumination of roads and paths
and to avoid unnecessary light pollution shall be submitted and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in
accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.)

Informatives
(a)

Assets Affected
Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing the site or there are assets
subject to an adopted agreement. Therefore, the site layout should take
this into account and accommodate those assets within either prospectively
adoptable highways or public open space. If this is not practicable then the

Page 34

sewers will need to be diverted at the developers cost under Section 185 of the
Water Industry Act 1991 or in the case of apparatus under an adoption
agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It should be noted that the
Diversion works should normally be completed before development can
commence.
(b)

Signage
Appropriate signage should be used in multi-function open space areas that
would normally be used for recreation but infrequently can flood during
extreme events. The signage should clearly explain the use of such areas for
flood control and recreation. It should be fully visible so that infrequent flood
inundation does not cause alarm. Signage should not be used as a
replacement for appropriate design.

(c)

Green Roofs
All green roofs should be designed, constructed and maintained in line with the
CIRIA SuDS Manual (C753) and the Green Roof Code (GRO).

(d)

Pollution Control
Surface water and groundwater bodies are highly vulnerable to pollution and
the impact of construction activities. It is essential that the risk of pollution
(particularly during the construction phase) is considered and mitigated
appropriately. It is important to remember that flow within the watercourse is
likely to vary by season and it could be dry at certain times throughout the
year. Dry watercourses should not be overlooked as these watercourses may
flow or even flood following heavy rainfall.

Background Papers:
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.




South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018
South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD’s)
Planning File References: S/2764/16/OL, S/1144/17/OL and S/2768/16/E1

Report Author:

Katie Christodoulides
Telephone Number:

Page 35

Principal Planner
07704 018469

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 6
SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development

08 July 2020

Application Number:

20/01138/OUT

Parish(es):

Waterbeach

Proposal:

Outline planning permission with all matters reserved
except for access for the demolition of the existing house
and the erection of five dwellings

Site address:

95 Bannold Road Waterbeach Cambridge

Applicant(s):

Mr Sanders

Recommendation:

Delegated Approval

Key material considerations:

Principle of Development
Housing Provision
Access, Highway Safety and Parking Provision
Character / Visual Amenity
Residential Amenity
Biodiversity
Trees / Landscaping
Flood Risk and Drainage
Contamination
Renewables / Climate Change
Agricultural Occupancy Condition
Developer Contributions
Other matters

Committee Site Visit:

No

Departure Application:

Yes (advertised 25 March 2020)

Presenting Officer:

Michael Sexton, Principal Planner

Application brought to
Committee because:

Departure from the adopted Local Plan and the officer
recommendation of approval conflicts with the
recommendation of Waterbeach Parish Council

Date by which decision due:

31 July 2020 (extension of time agreed)

Page 37

Executive Summary
1.

The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved except for
access for the demolition of the existing house and the erection of five dwellings.

2.

In terms of the principle of development, the proposal would not comply with the Local
Plan, being for residential development outside of a development framework boundary
which is not supported by a Neighbourhood Plan or another policy in the Local Plan.
The proposal is therefore contrary to policy S/7 of the Local Plan as a matter of
principle. However, there are unique circumstances around the site context that had
led officers to further asses the proposed development despite this departure.

3.

Since the adoption of the Local Plan, residential developments to the north, east and
west of the site, which are also outside of the development framework boundary, have
been completed and are occupied. These permissions where approved when the
Council could not demonstrate a five-year housing land supply. Together they have
introduced new homes on what was previously agricultural land. As a result, the area
has significantly changed both physically and functionally.

4.

The application site is surrounded by residential development which effectively
separates the site from the open countryside beyond, aside from the vacant field to
the west of the site which is currently the subject of an application for residential
development (20/02460/FUL). Therefore in visual terms, the site would be selfcontained and would not be viewed from a valued or designated landscape. The
proposal would not therefore harm the wider character and appearance of the
countryside and it is the view of officers that the site and its immediate surroundings
cannot be categorised as being ‘countryside’ to which the proposal would ‘encroach
into’.

5.

In terms of suitability, Policy S/9 of the Local Plan designates Waterbeach is a Minor
Rural Centre. The policy details that residential development and redevelopment up to
an indicative maximum scheme size of 30 dwellings will be permitted within the
development frameworks of Minor Rural Centres, as defined on the Policies Map.
Whilst the application site is located outside of the development framework boundary
and therefore technically policy S/9 would not apply, the scale of the development (5
dwellings, net gain of 4) would be aligned with the quantum of development which
would normally be permitted in this type of location.

6.

Officers consider that a departure from policy S/7 of the Local Plan would be justified
in this instance as the proposed development would not conflict with the overarching
aims and objectives of the Local Plan housing strategy which the policy seeks to
protect. Officers consider that there would be no harm caused to the main aims of this
policy or the settlement hierarchy in terms of encroachment into the countryside or
being able to conclude that it is an unsustainable form of development.

7.

Furthermore, there are no other technical issues (such as drainage or highways) that
would render this development unacceptable when taken individually or cumulatively.

8.

Officers therefore recommend that the Committee grants planning permission for the
proposed development.

Page 38

Site History
9.

S/0747/05/F – Double garage – Approved.

10.

S/1364/83/F – Erection of one house – Approved.

11.

S/1107/80/D – Farmhouse – Approved.

12.

S/0557/79/O – Erection of farmhouse and garage – Approved.
Adjacent Site History
Western Boundary of Application Site

13.

20/02460/FUL – Residential development for 21 dwellings including affordable
housing with associated access, landscaping, open space, garages and one self
build/custom build plot (Re-submission of S/4744/18/FL) – pending.

14.

S/4744/19/FL – Proposed residential development for 21 dwellings including
affordable houses with associated access landscaping open space garages and one
self-build/custom build plot – Refused (23.03.2020).
Reason 1:
Policy S/7 seeks to focus development within the most sustainable areas of the
district as defined by the Development Frameworks in order to prevent
incremental and unsustainable forms of development and encroachment into the
countryside, contrary to the strategy for managing housing growth across the
district. The proposed development represents a departure from Policy S/7 of
the Local Plan as the site is outside the Waterbeach Development Framework.
The site is within a heavily built up area and the loss of this existing green space
within would harm the appearance of the area. It is not considered that there are
circumstances or benefits that would outweigh the harm caused by the
development. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy S/7 of the South
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.
Reason 2
The proposed development is of poor quality design in terms of its appearance.
The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy HQ/1 of the South
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 which requires development to be of a high
quality design.
Eastern Boundary of Application Site

15.

S/2475/18/VC – Variation of Conditions 2 (Approved Plans ) 4 (Hard & Soft
Landscaping) & 14 (Scheme of Ecological Enhancement) of Planning Application
S/3399/17/FL (Demolition of existing storage buildings and erection of six dwellings
including creation of access from Bannold Road associated garages hardstanding and
landscaping) – Approved (11.10.2018).

16.

S/3399/17/FL – Demolition of existing storage buildings and erection of six dwellings
including creation of access from Bannold Road associated garages hardstanding and
landscaping – Approved (19.01.2018).

Page 39

Northern Boundary of Application Site
17.

S/2458/16/RM – Application for Reserved matters in respect of appearance
landscaping layout and scale for the residential development of 90 dwellings following
outline planning permission S/1359/13/OL – Approved (12.12.2016).

18.

S/1359/13/OL – Outline application for residential development up to 90 dwellings with
access to Bannold Road – Refused (15.10.2013); Appeal Allowed (25.06.2014).
National Guidance

19.

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance 2018
National Design Guide 2019
Development Plan Policies

20.

South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018
S/1 – Vision
S/2 – Objectives of the Local Plan
S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S/5 – Provision of New Jobs and Homes
S/7 – Development Frameworks
S/9 – Minor Rural Centres
CC/1 – Mitigation and Adaptation to Climate Change
CC/3 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments
CC/4 – Water Efficiency
CC/6 – Construction Methods
CC/7 – Water Quality
CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage Systems
CC/9 – Managing Flood Risk
HQ/1 – Design Principles
NH/4 – Biodiversity
NH/14 – Heritage Assets
H/8 – Housing Density
H/9 – Housing Mix
H/12 – Residential Space Standards
H/16 – Development of Residential Gardens
H/19 – Dwellings to Support a Rural-based Enterprise
SC/6 – Indoor Community Facilities
SC/7 – Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments
SC/9 – Lighting Proposals
SC/10 – Noise Pollution
SC/11 – Contaminated Land
SC/12 – Air Quality
TI/2 – Planning for Sustainable Travel
TI/3 – Parking Provision
TI/8 – Infrastructure and New Developments
TI/10 – Broadband

21.

South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD – Adopted January 2020
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD – Adopted November 2016
Health Impact Assessment SPD – Adopted March 2011
Affordable Housing SPD – Adopted March 2010

Page 40

District Design Guide SPD - Adopted March 2010
Landscape in New Developments SPD - Adopted March 2010
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009
Open Space in New Developments SPD - Adopted January 2009
Trees & Development Sites SPD - Adopted January 2009
22.

Neighbourhood Plan
Waterbeach Neighbourhood Plan
(Pre-submission public consultation (Regulation 14): 13 January - 24 February 2020)
Consultation

23.

Waterbeach Parish Council – Objects.
Waterbeach PC recommends refusal of this planning application as this area sits
outside the village envelop (Local Plan S7 Development outside Development
Framework). The current property has an agricultural restriction and would be the loss
of a substantial property in the street scene of Bannold Road. Additional houses
would put pressure on the local infrastructure including the water treatment and
medical facilities.
The Council also concur with the Tree Officers comments.

24.

Contaminated Land Officer – No objection, subject to condition.
I wish to confirm that I have received a copy of the above application, and have
considered the implications of the proposals in relation to potential risks from
contaminated land. Specifically, I have reviewed JPC Environmental Services Ltd
‘Phase I Contaminated Land Assessment’ dated 22nd August 2019.
The site is generally low risk in terms of contamination but is being developed into a
sensitive enduse so I agree with the findings of the report in that an intrusive site
investigation should be carried out in order to further assess the identified risks. The
investigation should target the areas of the site outlined within the Phase I report.
Recommend condition requiring a risk assessment, a remediation method statement,
a verification report and the identification of any contamination not considered in the
remediation method statement.

25.

Ecology Officer – No objection, subject to conditions.
The site consists of a dwelling house and private garden, with wooded boundaries to
the north, east, and west. The site sits within the Impact Risk Zone of a nearby
statutory protected site; however it does not meet the criteria that would require a
consultation with Natural England. I am not aware of any nonstatutory protected sites
in the area that are likely to be affected by such a consultation. Species records show
that amphibians, breeding birds, bats, and badger have all been recorded locally. I am
also aware that large populations of common lizard and water vole have been
recorded in the area to the north allocated as the new Waterbeach Town.
In support of the application the applicant has submitted an Ecological Assessment
(Hopkins Ecology, January 2020). The report has no evidence of bats within the
building to be demolished, nor any likelihood of great crested newts being affected. I
therefore have no reason to require further information to be submitted prior to
determination. The report has recommended a non-licensable mitigation strategy to

Page 41

remove any residual risk of harming protected species, in addition to enhancement of
any future landscape plans. I am in agreement with a majority of the report and would
recommend the following two conditions are included in any decision notice issues,
should the Case Officer be minded to recommend permission is granted.
Recommended conditions:
1. Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEcMP).
2. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP).
26.

Local Highways Authority – No objection.
Recommend conditions for use of dropped kerbs rather than radii, pedestrian visibility
splays, driveway falls and levels, driveway material, traffic management plan and the
proposed arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed
road. An informative relating to works to or within the public highway has also been
requested.

27.

Old West Internal Drainage Board – No objection.
This application for development is within the Waterbeach Level Internal Drainage
District.
The application states that surface water will be disposed of via soakaways. Provided
that soakaways from an effective means of surface water disposal in this area, the
Board will not object to this application. It is essential that any proposed soakaway
foes not cause flooding to neighbouring land. If soakaways are found not to be an
effective means of surface water disposal, the Board must be re-consulted in this
matter, as the applicant would need the consent of the Board to discharge any
watercourse within the District.

28.

Trees Officer – No objection.
Trees on or adjacent the site have no statutory protection.
Required document for reserved matters stage:
- Detailed tree protection plan.
- Detailed tree planting and landscape plans.
- Tree planting specification.
- Detailed tree establishment and maintenance plan.
The roadside or the western boundary trees need to be retained throughout. Should
these be highlighted for removal I would not be able to support any future application.
It is not clear to me what the quality of the trees at the northern end of the site are as
no tree information has been provided.
The roadside boundary hedge is an important feature of the site and streetscene and
should be retained throughout. Ideally this hedgerow should be protected in
perpetuity.
Any areas which are privately owned public open space will require an indication of
who will own them, a planting plan/specification and a future management plan.
Tree planting should be undertaken in any suitable locations.

Page 42

Representations
29.

11 representations from 9 residents have been received raising objection to the
proposed development. Full redacted versions of these comments can be found on
the Council’s website. In summary the following concerns have been raised:
- Construction disruption (local environment, roads and amenity).
- Current building is part of the street scene.
- Does not fall under the presumption of sustainable development where there
are less than 30 houses in a Minor Rural Centre, as it falls outside the
development framework of Waterbeach.
- Highway safety and increased traffic.
- Impact on biodiversity / loss of habitat (conflict with policy S/2(b)).
- Impact on surface water drainage.
- Inadequate amount of visitor parking.
- Layout is out of keeping with current property lines which are set back (conflict
with policy H/16).
- Loss of light, loss of privacy, overbearing impact (conflict with HQ/1 and H/16).
- Loss of openness along Bannold Road and Barnfield Close
- Loss of openness in Barnfield Close.
- Loss of trees.
- No reference to suitable cycle racks per house
- No references to climate change construction techniques.
- Parking pressure on Bannold Road (adequate parking is not provided).
- Piecemeal development (contrary to DP/5)
- Plot is not big enough for 5 houses, as they need to be set back in line with
other properties along the road.
- Site is outside of the development framework (conflict with policy S/6 and S/7).
- Site plan does not show location of windows.
- Too many dustbins on roadside during collection period.
- Waterbeach surgery is over capacity.
Site and Surroundings

30.

The site is located outside of the development framework boundary of Waterbeach.
The site abuts the development framework boundary on its southern boundary. The
site lies within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) while a small northern portion of the site is
identified as an area of surface water flooding. The site is located over 350 metres
from the edge of Waterbeach Conservation Area and is not near to any listed
buildings.

31.

The site is surrounded by existing residential development. To the south of the site,
within the development framework boundary, are properties along Bannold Road. To
the north, east and west of the site, areas outside of the development framework
boundary, are residential properties on Star Drive (north), Barnfield Close (east) and
Bannold Road and Mason Road (west). There is a small vacant field approximately 37
metres in width between the western boundary of the site and the properties of Mason
Road. This parcel of land is currently subject to an application for residential
development, reference 20/02460/FUL, following the refusal of application
S/4744/19/FL in March 2020.
Proposal

32.

This application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved except for
access for the demolition of the existing house and the erection of five dwellings.

Page 43

Planning Assessment
32.

The key issues to consider in the determination of this application are the principle of
development, housing provision, access, highway safety and parking provision,
character / visual amenity, residential amenity, biodiversity, trees / landscaping, flood
risk and drainage, contamination, renewables / climate change, agricultural
occupancy condition, developer contributions and other matters.
Principle of Development

34.

The Councils strategy for managing housing growth is set out in Chapter 2 ‘Spatial
Strategy’ of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.

35.

The strategy sets out a settlement hierarchy, focusing development on existing
settlements through defined development frameworks. The principle reasons for doing
this is to, one, prevent encroachment of development into the countryside and
secondly, to prevent incremental unsustainable growth in areas where there is
insufficient infrastructure to support such development.

36.

Policy S/7(2) of the Local Plan states that outside development frameworks, only
allocations within Neighbourhood Plans that have come into force and development
for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and other uses which need to
be located in the countryside or where supported by other policies in this plan will be
permitted.

37.

The site is located outside of the defined village development framework of
Waterbeach and is therefore technically within the countryside. Residential
development, such as this proposal, would therefore be contrary to policy S/7 as a
matter of principle.

38.

Notwithstanding the proposals in-principle conflict with policy S/7, the site is
surrounded by residential development which effectively separates the site from the
open countryside beyond, aside from the vacant field to the west of the site which is
currently the subject of an application for residential development (20/02460/FUL). In
regard to the first aim of strategy for managing housing growth, it is the view of
officers that the site and its immediate surroundings cannot be categorised as being
‘countryside’ to which the proposal would ‘encroach into’.

39.

In terms of the second aim of the strategy, which guards against incremental
unsustainable growth, Policy S/9 of the Local Plan designates Waterbeach is a Minor
Rural Centre. The policy details that residential development and redevelopment up to
an indicative maximum scheme size of 30 dwellings will be permitted within the
development frameworks of Minor Rural Centres, as defined on the Policies Map.

40.

The supporting text to the policy details in paragraph 2.59 that Minor Rural Centres
have a lower level of services, facilities and employment than Rural Centres, but a
greater level than most other villages in South Cambridgeshire, and often perform a
role in terms of providing services and facilities for a small rural hinterland.

41.

Whilst the application site is located outside of the development framework boundary
and therefore technically policy S/9 would not apply, the scale of the development (5
dwellings, net gain of 4) would be aligned with the quantum of development which
would normally be permitted in this type of location. The site would be within a
reasonable distance to a range of services and facilities within the village, along with
access to public transport modes including regular the train and bus services. In

Page 44

addition, the site will eventually be close to Waterbeach New Town (policy SS/6)
where a range of services and facilities will be provided in which future occupiers
would have access too.
42.

Officers therefore consider that a departure from policy S/7 of the Local Plan would be
justified in this instance as the proposed development would not conflict with the
overarching aims and objectives of the housing strategy which the policy seeks to
protect. Officers consider that there would be no harm caused to the main aims of this
policy or the settlement hierarchy in terms of encroachment into the countryside or
being able to conclude that it is an unsustainable form of development.
Housing Provision

43.

The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved except for
access for the demolition of the existing house and the erection of five dwellings.
Housing Density

44.

Policy H/8 of the Local Plan details that housing developments will achieve an
average net density of 30 dwellings per hectare in Minor Rural Centre villages but that
the net density on a site may vary from the above where justified by the character of
the locality, the scale of the development, or other local circumstances.

45.

The overall site measures approximately 0.23 hectares in area. The development of 5
dwellings on the site would equate to a density of approximately 18 dwellings per
hectare.

46.

The density of development on the site would be below the requirement of an average
net density of 30 dwellings per hectare. However, the density is considered to be in
character with the area, noting that the adjacent development of Barnfield Close has a
comparable density of approximately 21 dwellings per hectare.

47.

Officers also acknowledge that the development of Anglers Way and Barnfield Close
to the east of the site all have properties set back from the public highway; a higher
density on the site would likely require dwellings sited closer to the public highway.

48.

The proposal would therefore comply with Policy H/8 of the Local Plan.
Housing Mix

49.

Policy H/9 of the Local Plan requires a wide choice, type and mix of housing will be
provided to meet the needs of different groups in the community including families
with children, older people, those seeking starter homes, people wishing to build their
own homes, people seeking private rented sector housing, and people with
disabilities. For development on sites of 9 homes or fewer, the mix of market homes
will take account of local circumstances (criterion 3). 5% of homes in a development
should be built to the accessible and adaptable dwellings M4(2) standard rounding
down to the nearest whole property (criterion 4).

50.

The proposed 5 dwellings would therefore need to provide a range of dwelling types
and sizes to comply with Policy H/9 of the Local Plan. Given that the application is
currently at outline stage only, it is considered that the exact mix of the market
dwellings could be agreed at the reserved matters stage, albeit a condition will be
needed as part of any outline consent to secure this.

Page 45

51.

Officers consider it reasonable and necessary to impose a condition that as part of
any reserved matters application details of the housing mix are submitted to ensure
compliance with policy H/9 of the Local Plan.
Affordable Housing

52.

The proposal would result in a net increase of four dwellings.

53.

Policy H/10 of the Local Plan states that contributions should not be sought from
developments of 10 units or less, and which have a maximum combined gross floor
space of no more than 1,000 square metres. This reflects the Written Ministerial
Statement (WMS) issued in 2014.

54.

However, NPPF paragraph 63 is a material consideration and states that provision of
affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments that are not
major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where policies may set out
a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer).

55.

No affordable housing is provided within the development. The development of five
dwellings would not result in a requirement for affordable housing and unlikely to
exceed 1,000 square metres.

56.

The proposal would therefore accord with policy H/10 of the Local Plan and paragraph
63 of the NPPF.
Residential Space Standards

57.

Policy H/12 of the Local Plan states that new residential units will be permitted where
their gross internal floor areas meet or exceed the Government’s Technical Housing
Standards – Nationally Described Space Standard (2015) or successor document.

58.

Officers consider it reasonable and necessary to impose a condition that any future
Reserved Matters application accords with the requirements of policy H/12.
Access, Highway Safety and Parking Provision

59.

The existing site has a point of vehicular access directly onto Bannold Road. The
application is supported by an access plan which shows the use of this access point
and the required vehicular visibility splays of 43 metres by 2.4 metres. The plan also
demonstrates an access width of approximately 5 metres which would allow two
vehicles to pass one another clear of the adopted public highway.

60.

The application has been subject to formal consultation with the Local Highways
Authority who raise no objection to the proposed development, following the
submission of the access plan with visibility splays. The proposed development has
therefore demonstrated that it will achieve safe and suitable vehicular access to the
site which will not result in significant harm to highway safety. The access plan will be
secured as an approved plan as part of any outline content.

61.

In consultation with the Local Highways Authority, officers consider it reasonable and
necessary to impose conditions for the use of dropped kerbs rather than radii,
pedestrian visibility splays, driveway falls and levels, driveway material and traffic
management plan to ensure the development does not result in significant harm to
highway safety. An informative relating to works to or within the public highway is also
considered appropriate.

Page 46

62.

A condition for the proposed arrangements for future management and maintenance
of the proposed road is not considered appropriate at outline stage as the final layout
and arrangements of the site are not known at this stage.

63.

Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal is not considered to result in
significant harm to highway safety and to accord with policies H/16(b.iv) and TI/2 of
the Local Plan and paragraphs 108 and 110 of the NPPF.

64.

Policy TI/3 of the Local Plan requires car parking provision to be provided through a
design-led approach in accordance with the indicative standards of 2 spaces per
dwelling (1 space to be allocated within the curtilage), noting that additional provision
may be needed for visitors, service vehicles and salesmen. Although illustrative, the
layout plan submitted demonstrates that sufficient parking would be provided.

65.

Officers are satisfied that the site is of sufficient size that appropriate levels of off-road
parking could be achieved, which would be detailed at reserved matters stage.

66.

The proposal would therefore accord with policies H/16(b.v) and TI/3 of the Local
Plan.
Character / Visual Amenity

67.

The existing dwelling on the site is a detached two storey residential property located
within a spacious plot. The area to the south of the site is characterised by two storey
semi-detached properties which front onto Bannold Road. To the east of the site is the
relatively new residential development of Barnfield Close which comprises a mixture
of detached and semi-detached two storey residential properties. To the north are
more two storey detached and semi-detached residential properties on Star Drive.
Immediately to the west of the site is a vacant parcel of land, which is currently the
subject of a full planning application for residential development (20/02460/FUL)
beyond which lies more residential development of a two storey scale.

68.

The application is supported by an illustrative site layout but the precise siting of the
dwellings is a reserved matter that will be considered at a later stage. Nonetheless,
officers are satisfied that five dwellings could be accommodated within the site in a
manner which would respect the character of the area, noting that development to the
east of the site is stepped back from the public highway.

69.

The introduction of five dwellings on the site is not considered to result in significant
harm to the character and appearance of the area, providing a suitable scheme is
presented at reserved matters stage, including details of the landscaping of the site.

70.

The existing building is a two storey property and the development surrounding the
site is two storey. However, no details are provided of the heights of the buildings at
this stage and will be considered further at the reserved matters stage.

71.

The proposal is considered to accord with policies HQ/1 and H/16(b.i and b.iii) of the
Local Plan.
Residential Amenity

72.

The application is in outline form with matters of scale, layout and appearance
reserved for reserved matters stage, therefore the final layout of the site and the scale
and appearance (i.e. fenestration details) of the properties is not known. The

Page 47

application is supported by an indicative site layout to demonstrate that five dwellings
could be arranged within the confines of the site.
73.

Officers acknowledge the concerns which have been raised locally with respect to a
potential overbearing impact, loss of privacy and loss of light from the proposed
development, particularly the arrangements of the indicative site layout plan.

74.

Given the extent of the site, noting a density of approximately 18 dwellings per
hectare, officers are satisfied that five dwellings could be accommodated on site in a
manner which would not result in significant harm to neighbouring properties through
an unduly overbearing mass, significant loss of light or severe loss of privacy. These
matters would be considered further at the reserved matters stage.

75.

Given the location of the access and quantum of the development proposed, the
proposed development is not considered to lead to an unacceptable level of noise and
disturbance to neighbouring properties.

76.

The proposal is considered to accord with policies HQ/1(n) and H/16(b.ii) of the Local
Plan.
Biodiversity

77.

The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment (including bat surveys) and
has been subject to formal consultation with the Council’s Ecology Officer.

78.

The Council’s Ecology Officer notes that the report has no evidence of bats within the
building to be demolished, nor any likelihood of great crested newts being affected,
therefore no further information is required at this stage. The report has recommended
a non-licensable mitigation strategy to remove any residual risk of harming protected
species, in addition to enhancement of any future landscape plans.

79.

The Council’s Ecology Officer has recommended two conditions be imposed as part
of any consent. The first is a condition requiring the submission of a Construction
Ecological Management Plan (CEcMP) to protect existing habitats and protected
species on site and to enhance the site for biodiversity. The second condition would
require the submission of a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) to
provide habitat for wildlife and enhance the site for biodiversity.

80.

Subject to the recommended conditions, officers consider that the proposal would
accord with policies NH/4 and H/16(b.vii) of the Local Plan and paragraphs 170, 174,
and 175 of the NPPF which requires development to enhance, restore and add to
biodiversity with opportunities should be taken to achieve a net gain in biodiversity
through the form and design of development.
Trees / Landscaping

81.

There are several mature trees along the western and northern boundaries of the site,
with hedgerows present along parts of the eastern and southern boundaries, with
domestic planting and landscaping within the site. The application is not supported by
an Arboricultural Method Statement or Tree Protection Plan and has been subject to
formal consultation with the Council’s Trees Officer who raises no objection.

82.

The Council’s Trees Officer notes in their comments that any reserved matters
application will require the submission of a tree protection plan, detailed tree planting
and landscape plans, tree planting specification and a detailed tree establishment and

Page 48

maintenance plan. As the application is outline only with matters of layout and
landscaping reserved, a further assessment will be carried out once the precise layout
is known at the reserved matters stage.
83.

Officers consider it reasonable and necessary to impose a condition that any reserved
matters application is supported by an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree
Protection Plan. Detailed landscape plans, including planting specifications, would be
expected to be submitted to address the matter of ‘landscape’.

84.

While landscape is a reserved matter, officers consider it reasonable and necessary
to impose a condition that all hard and soft landscape details are carried out in
accordance with the approved details, which are to be submitted and considered as
part of a reserved matters application.

85.

Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with
policies HQ/1, NH/4 and H/16(b.vii) of the Local Plan.
Flood Risk and Drainage

86.

The application site is in Flood Zone 1 and therefore is considered as having low
probability of flooding. A small northern portion of the site is identified as an area of
surface water flooding.

87.

The development is not considered to increase the risk of flooding to the site and
surrounding area, subject to an acceptable scheme of surface water drainage that is
maintained for the lifetime of the development. Officers therefore consider it
reasonable and necessary to impose a condition for details of foul water and surface
water drainage that can be maintained for the lifetime of the development to ensure
the development is acceptable in terms of flood risk and drainage.

88.

Subject to the recommended condition, the proposal would accord with policies CC/7,
CC/8 and CC/9 of the Local Plan which requires developments to have an appropriate
sustainable foul and surface water drainage systems and minimise flood risk.
Contamination

89.

The application is supported by a Phase I Contaminated Land Assessment and has
been subject to formal consultation with the Council’s Contaminated Land Officer.

90.

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer notes that the site is generally low risk in
terms of contamination but is being developed into a sensitive enduse and agrees
with the findings of the report in that an intrusive site investigation should be
carried out in order to further assess the identified risks; the investigation should
target the areas of the site outlined within the Phase I report.

91.

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has recommended a condition be imposed
requiring a risk assessment, a remediation method statement, a verification report and
the identification of contamination identified on site that was not considered in the
remediation method statement.

92.

Subject to the recommended conditions, officers consider that the proposal would
accord with policy SC/11 of the Local Plan

Page 49

Renewables / Climate Change
93.

94.

Policy CC/3 of the Local Plan states that proposals for new dwellings will be required
to reduce carbon emissions by a minimum of 10% (to be calculated by reference to a
baseline for the anticipated carbon emissions for the property as defined by Building
Regulations) through the use of on-site renewable energy and low carbon
technologies.
Policy CC/4 of the Local Plan states that all new residential developments must
achieve as a minimum water efficiency equivalent to 110 litres per person per day

95.

Officers consider it reasonable and necessary to impose conditions requiring a
scheme to demonstrate a minimum reduction of 10% of carbon emissions and that the
dwellings achieve a minimum water efficiency consumption of 110 litres use per
person per day, in accordance with Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 (as
amended 2016).

96.

Subject to the recommended conditions the proposal would accord with policies CC/4
and CC/5 of the Local Plan.
Agricultural Occupancy Condition

97.

The existing property is subject to an agricultural occupancy condition imposed under
planning consent S/1364/83/F with condition 1 stating:
The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or mainly
employed in the locality in agriculture as defined in Section 290(1) of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1971, or in forestry (including any dependants of
such person residing with him), or a widow or widower of such person.

98.

Under the current adopted plan, policy H/19 of the Local Plan sets out support for
dwellings to support a rural-based enterprise (i.e. residential development outside of a
development framework boundary for an identified and specific need). The policy
states that proposals for permanent dwellings in the countryside for full-time workers
in agriculture or forestry or in another business where a rural location is essential, will
be permitted if special circumstances can be demonstrated by it meeting all five
criteria set out within the policy.

99.

Policy H/19(3) details that where a new dwelling is permitted, this will be the subject of
a condition ensuring the occupation will be limited to a person solely or mainly
working, or last working in the locality in agriculture, forestry or in another business
where a rural location is essential, or a surviving partner of such a person, and to any
resident dependents.

100.

Policy H/19(4) of the Local Plan addresses the relaxation of the occupancy condition
and details that the relaxation of an occupancy condition will only be permitted where
it can be demonstrated that a) there is no longer a continued need for the dwelling on
the site; b) there is no long term need for a dwelling with restricted occupancy to serve
need in the locality and c) the property has been marketed locally for a reasonable
period (minimum 12 months) at a price which reflects the existence of the occupancy
condition.

101.

Policy H/19 of the Local Plan focuses on proposals for new dwellings to support a
rural enterprise and requests to remove related occupancy conditions. In this
instance, the application proposes the demolition of the existing property and the
redevelopment of the site, rather than the specific removal of the condition to allow the

Page 50

existing property to be marketed at full market value. Officers are therefore of the view
that the proposal would not conflict with the aims and objectives of policy H/19, noting
the limited extent of the site which could not be occupied as a smallholding and that
the site now falls within a built up area of the extended village of Waterbeach.
102.

The proposal is not considered to conflict with policy H/19 of the Local Plan.
Developer Contributions

103.

Policy TI/8 of the Local Plan states that planning permission will only be granted for
proposals that have made suitable arrangements towards the provision of
infrastructure necessary to make the scheme acceptable in planning terms.

104.

Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations states that a planning obligation may only
constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the development if the
obligation is –
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) directly related to the development; and
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

105.. In this case, the need for contributions are not considered necessary to make the
development acceptable due to the Written Ministerial Statement dated 28 November
2014 that states contributions should not be sought from developments of 10-units or
less, and which have a maximum combined gross floor space of no more than
1000sqm.
Other Matters

106.

107.

Broadband
Policy TI/10 requires that infrastructure be imposed to create access to broadband
internet respectively. Officers consider it reasonable and necessary to impose a
condition to require that the requirements of policy TI/10 are satisfied.
Development of Residential Gardens (Policy H/16)
Policy H/16 of the Local Plan supports the development of land used or last used as
residential gardens subject several criteria. Most of the criteria have been assessed
above but the other criteria are considered below.

108.

Policy H/16(a) is not applicable to this proposal as the development is not for the oneto one replacement of a dwelling in the countryside under policy H/14 of the Local
Plan.

109.

Policy H/16(b.vi) requires consideration of the paternal impact on heritage assets; the
site is not in close proximity to Waterbeach Conservation Area or any listed buildings
and therefore accords with policy H/16(b.vi).

110.

Policy H/16(b.viii) seeks to ensure that the form of development would not prevent the
development of adjoining sites. Officers do not consider that the proposal would
prevent the development of adjoining sites and therefore accords with policy
H/16(b.viii).

111.

Noise & Lighting
Officers consider it reasonable and necessary to impose conditions restricting the
hours of works on site and the installation of external lighting along with informatives
for burning of waste, driven pile foundations, minimising disturbance to neighbours,

Page 51

demolition notice and air source heat pumps.
112.

113.

114.

Subject to the recommended condition, the proposal would accord with policies HQ/1
and CC/6 of the Local Plan.
Pre-Commencement Conditions
All pre-commencement conditions have been agreed in writing with the agent in
advance of issuing a decision.
Rural Exception Site Affordable Housing
Policy H/11 of the Local Plan sets out the Council’s policy for rural exception sites
where affordable housing developments to meet identified local housing
needs on small sites adjoining a development framework boundary will be supported,
subject to satisfying several criteria. Such developments are found in a countryside
setting, beyond a development framework boundary.

115.

The application site is located outside the development framework boundary of
Waterbeach but does adjoin the framework on the southern boundary of the site.
Therefore, the site has the potential to qualify for development under policy H/11 of
the Local Plan, should a development for affordable housing be proposed.

116.

However, the application submitted is not for the development of affordable housing
and has been made for market housing, falling outside of the scope of policy H/11.
This is because, as detailed in paragraphs 34 to 38 of this report, although the site is
outside of the development framework boundary it is surrounded by residential
development which effectively separates the site from the open countryside beyond,
materially changing the context of the site. As noted above, officers are of the view
that the site and its immediate surroundings cannot be categorised as being
‘countryside’ to which the proposal would ‘encroach into’. Therefore, an application for
market housing is considered acceptable within this context for the reasons set out in
this report.

117.

Third Party Comments
The comments made in third-party representations are noted, with many points
already considered in the report. The remaining matters raised are considered below.

118.

One representation refers to the application representing piecemeal development in
conflict with policy DP/5. Policy DP/5 was an adopted policy under the Local
Development Framework (2007) and is not a current adopted policy as part of the
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and as such carries not weight.

119.

One representation raises concern of too many dustbins on roadside during collection
period. Each property would have it own bin storage (to be detailed at reserved
matters) and the presence of bins on the roadside for weekly collections is not
considered to result in harm or a material planning reason for refusal of the
application.

120.

Waterbeach Neigbourhood Plan
The Waterbeach Neighbourhood Plan is at a very early stage (Pre-submission public
consultation (Regulation 14)) and therefore does not carry any weight in the
assessment of this application.

Page 52

Conclusion and Recommendation
121.

Officers consider that whilst the proposal would be contrary to policy S/7 of the
adopted Local Plan as a matter of principle, there would be limited harm caused to the
main aims and objectives of this policy in terms of encroachment into the countryside
or being able to conclude that proposal represents an unsustainable form of the
development.

122.

For the reasons set out in this report, officers consider the outline planning application
to be acceptable in accordance with the relevant policies in the South Cambridgeshire
Local Plan. Subject to conditions, the application is recommended for approval.
Conditions

123.

a)

Approval of the details of scale, layout, appearance and landscaping (hereinafter
called 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority
in writing before any development is commenced.
(Reason – The application is in outline only.)

b)

Application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.
(Reason – The application is in outline only.)

c)

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than the expiration of two
years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be
approved.
(Reason -The application is in outline only.)

d)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: Site Location Plan (1:1250) and Visibility Splay &
Access Width Plan (1:500).
(Reason –To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under
section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.)

e)

As part of any reserved matters application an Arboricultural Method Statement
and Tree Protection Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed in accordance with
such approved details.
(Reason - To protect trees which are to be retained in order to enhance the
development, biodiversity and the visual amenities of the area in accordance with
the policies HQ/1 and NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan.)

f)

Prior to or concurrently with the submission of the first approval of reserved
matters A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The content
of the LEMP shall include the following:
i) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
ii) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence
management.
iii) Aims and objectives of management, including how positive gains in
biodiversity will be achieved.
iv) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
v) Prescriptions for management actions.
vi) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable

Page 53

of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
vii) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of
the plan.
viii) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer
with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also
set out (where the results form monitoring show that conservation aims and
objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies and/or remedial action
will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers
the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The
approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason – To provide habitat for wildlife and enhance the site for biodiversity in
accordance with the NPPF, the NERC Act 2006 and Policy NH/4 of the South
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.)
g)

No development approved by this permission shall take place until:
i) The application site has been subject to a detailed scheme for the
investigation and recording of contamination and remediation
objectives have been determined through risk assessment and agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
ii) Detailed proposals for the removal, containment or otherwise rendering
harmless any contamination (the Remediation method statement) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the South Cambridgeshire
Local Plan 2018).

h)

No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation
clearance) until a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEcMP) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEcMP
shall include the following:
i) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
ii) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
iii) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be
provided as a set of method statements).
iv) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to
biodiversity features.
v) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to
be present on site to oversee works.
vi) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
vii) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
viii) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs if
applicable.
The approved CEcMP shall be ahead to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
(Reason - To protect existing habitats and protected species on site and to

Page 54

enhance the site for biodiversity in accordance with the NPPF, the NERC Act
2006 and Policy NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.)
i)

No demolition or construction works shall commence on site until a traffic
management plan has been agreed with the Local Planning Authority in
consultation with the Highway Authority. The principle areas of concern that
should be addressed are:
i) Movements and control of muck away lorries (all loading and unloading
shall be undertaken off the adopted highway).
ii) Contractor parking, for both phases all such parking shall be within the
curtilage of the site and not on the street.
iii) Movements and control of all deliveries (all loading and unloading shall
be undertaken off the adopted public highway.
iv) Control of dust, mud and debris, in relationship to the functioning of the
adopted public highway.
Works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason - In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety in
accordance with Policies HQ/1, CC/6 and TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local
Plan 2018).

j)

No development shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of surface water
and foul water drainage that can be maintained for the lifetime of the development
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason – To ensure a satisfactory method of surface water drainage and foul
water drainage to prevent the increased risk of flooding and pollution to the water
environment in accordance with policies CC/7, CC/8 and CC/9 of the South
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.)

k)

No development above slab level shall take place until a scheme has been
submitted that demonstrates a minimum of 10% of carbon emissions (to be
calculated by reference to a baseline for the anticipated carbon emissions for the
property as defined by Building Regulations) can be reduced through the use of
on-site renewable energy and low carbon technologies. The scheme shall be
implemented and maintained in accordance with the approved details prior to the
occupation of the development.
(Reason – In accordance with policy CC/3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local
Plan 2018 and paragraphs 148, 151 and 153 of the National Planning Policy
Framework 2018 that seek to improve the sustainability of the development,
support the transition to a low carbon future and promote a decentralised,
renewable form of energy generation.)

l)

Prior to the first occupation of the development, two pedestrian visibility splays of
2 metres x 2 metres shall be provided each side of the vehicular access
measured from and along the highway boundary. The splays shall thereafter be
maintained free from any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres above the level of the
adopted public highway.
(Reason – To ensure the safe and effective operation of the highway in
accordance with policy TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and
paragraphs 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.)

m) The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the works specified in
any remediation method statement must be completed and a Verification report
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
(Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the

Page 55

land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the South Cambridgeshire
Local Plan 2018).
n)

The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the minimum water
efficiency consumption of 110 litres use per person per day, in accordance with
Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended 2016) has been complied
with.
(Reason - To improve the sustainability of the dwelling and reduce the usage of a
finite and reducing key resource, in accordance with policy CC/4 of the south
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.)

o)

The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the dwelling to be
occupied has been made capable of accommodating Wi-Fi and suitable ducting
(in accordance with the Data Ducting Infrastructure for New Homes Guidance
Note) has been provided to the public highway that can accommodate fibre optic
cabling or other emerging technology, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.
(Reason – To ensure sufficient infrastructure is provided that would be able to
accommodate a range of persons within the property and improve opportunities
for home working and access to services, in accordance with policy TI/10 of the
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.)

p)

If, during remediation or construction works, any additional or unexpected
contamination is identified, then remediation proposals for this material should be
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any works proceed and
shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby
approved.
(Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the South Cambridgeshire
Local Plan 2018).

q)

The market mix of the dwellings shall comply with Policy H/9 of the Local Plan
and a justification of the local circumstances demonstrated through the provision
of evidence within the submission of any reserved matters application.
(Reason - To ensure an appropriate mix of market housing in accordance with
policy H/9 of the adopted Local Plan 2018).

r)

All dwellings shall comply with the Residential Space Standards set out under
Policy H/12 of the Local Plan and demonstrated through the provision of
floorspace details within the submission of any reserved matters application.
(Reason - To ensure an appropriate level of amenity for future occupiers in
accordance with policy H/12 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.)

s)

The vehicular access shall be constructed using dropped kerbs rather than the
radii kerbs shown (the use of dropped kerbs reinforces the message that
pedestrians have the right of way over the access and that vehicles entering or
leaving the private property should give way).
(Reason – To ensure the safe and effective operation of the highway in
accordance with policy TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and

Page 56

paragraphs 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.)
t)

The proposed access shall be constructed so that their fall and levels are such
that no private water from the site drains across or onto the adopted public
highway.
(Reason – To ensure the safe and effective operation of the highway in
accordance with policy TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and
paragraphs 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.)

u)

The proposed access shall be constructed using a bound material to prevent
debris spreading onto the adopted public highway.
(Reason – To ensure the safe and effective operation of the highway in
accordance with policy TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and
paragraphs 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.)

v)

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any
part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date of the
planting, or replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, another tree or plant of the same species and size as that
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning
Authority gives its written consent to any variation.
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area
and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies HQ/1, NH/4 and NH/8 of
the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018).

w) During the period of demolition and construction, no power operated machinery
shall be operated on the site before 0800 hours and after 1800 hours on
weekdays or before 0800 hours and after 1300 hours on Saturdays, nor at any
time on Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise previously agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance
with Policy CC/6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018).
x)

No external lighting shall be provided or installed within the site other than in
accordance with a scheme which has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting shall be installed prior to the
occupation of the development and thereafter retained.
(Reason -To minimise the effects of light pollution on the surrounding area in
accordance with Policy SC/9 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018).

Informatives
124.

a)

Before the existing building is demolished, a Demolition Notice will be required
from the Building Control section of the council's planning department
establishing the way in which it will be dismantled, including any asbestos
present, the removal of waste, minimisation of dust, capping of drains and
establishing hours of working.

b)

There shall be no burning of any waste or other materials on the site, without prior
consent from the environmental health department.

c)

Should driven pile foundations be proposed, then before works commence, a
statement of the method for construction of these foundations shall be submitted

Page 57

and agreed by the District Environmental Health Officer so that noise and
vibration can be controlled.
d)

The applicant should take all relevant precautions to minimise the potential for
disturbance to neighbouring residents in terms of noise and dust during the
construction phases of development. This should include the use of water
suppression for any stone or brick cutting and advising neighbours in advance of
any particularly noisy works. The granting of this planning permission does not
indemnify against statutory nuisance action being taken should substantiated
noise or dust complaints be received. For further information please contact the
Environmental Health Service.

e)

In the event of an air source heat pump being proposed, prior to the
commencement of development, a noise impact assessment and insulation
scheme detailing the technical details and sound power/noise output of the air
source heat pump and any mitigation measures in order to minimise the level of
noise emanating from the said plant and or equipment shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any noise insulation scheme
as approved shall be fully implemented before the use hereby permitted is
commenced and shall thereafter be maintained in strict accordance with the
approved details and shall not be altered without prior approval.

f)

The granting of a planning permission does not constitute a permission or licence
to a developer to carry out any works within, or disturbance of, or interference
with, the Public Highway, and that a separate permission must be sought from the
Highway Authority for such works.

Background Papers:
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected.




South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018
South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
Planning File References: 20/01138/OUT, 20/02460/FUL, S/4744/19/FL,
S/2475/18/VC, S/3399/17/FL, S/2458/16/RM, S/1359/13/OL, S/0747/05/F,
S/1364/83/F, S/1107/80/D, S/0557/79/O.

Report Author:

Michael Sexton
Telephone Number:

Page 58

Principal Planner
07704 018467

Agenda Item 7

To:
From:
Ref:
Date:

South Cambridgeshire District Council – Planning Service
Roger Payne, Asset Information Definitive Map Manager
P101
29th May 2020

Report on the proposed diversion of Wimpole Footpath 5

1

Purpose

1.1

To report on the proposed diversion of Public Footpath No. 5, Wimpole in the district
of South Cambridgeshire.

1.2

Appendix A comprises a copy of the agent’s application on behalf of the Landowner.
Plans showing the effect of the proposals can be found at Appendix B1 and B2. The
planning permission is Appendix C, and photographs showing the location of the
proposed diversions are at Appendix D. A memorandum of Agreement between
Cambridgeshire County Council and South Cambridgeshire District Council for the
processing of Public Path Orders can be found at Appendix E. Consultation responses
can be seen at Appendix F. NMU Policy assessment can be found at Appendix G. The
Assistant Director: Highways Memo approving the Proposals can be found at Appendix
H.

2

Background

2.1

All of the land affected by this proposal is owned by National Trust (“the Landowner”)
and the application Appendix A, has been made on their behalf by agent Alison
Williamson (“the Applicant”). Plans showing the effect of the proposals can be found
at Appendix B1 and B2.

2.2

The applicant considers that a diversion order is necessary in order to implement a
planning permission in relation to planning application number S/2214/17/FL which
was approved by South Cambridgeshire District Council on 22nd January 2018.
Appendix C is a copy of this permission. The permission is for the relocation of car
parking to agricultural land, making good the land to parkland, and creation of new
vehicle access and connecting pathway. The diversion of the footpath falls to be
determined by the relevant planning authority under section 257 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.

2.3

The Proposal is to divert Public Footpath No. 5, Wimpole (“the Footpath”) at two
separate locations, to bypass two new cattle grids which the Landowner wishes to

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 59

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

install in connection with approved planning permission. The diversions will allow the
public to avoid crossing over the proposed cattle grids.
2.4

In February 2007, South Cambridgeshire District Council entered into an Agreement
with Cambridgeshire County Council providing that all Public Path Diversion Order
applications under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 should be
processed by the County Council, acting as agents for the District Council. A copy of
the Agreement explaining the procedure is attached at Document E.

2.5

The application documents were forwarded to Roger Payne, Definitive Map Manager
at the County Council, who began the formal consultation procedure on 16th March
2020.

3

Site Description

3.1

Location A: Main Gate, adjacent to Wimpole Park Road entrance
Current Route of Public Footpath Wimpole No. 5 (Plan A: A-B)

3.1.1 The affected section of the Footpath starts at the junction of Wimpole Park Road and
East Back Drive, OSGR TL 34274 51095 (Point A), and proceeds westwards for a
distance of 30 metres to TL 34244 51089 (Point B)
3.1.2 There is no recorded width in the May 2016 Definitive Statement. The 1951 statement
listed a width of 9 feet. The Footpath runs along a metalled tarmac roadway which is
4.8 metres wide. On both sides of the roadway there is a narrow grass verge bounded
by iron railings
3.1.3 At Point A, a vehicle barrier was authorised in 2013 to be closed between dusk and
dawn. There is a gap at the side for pedestrians to pass through.
3.1.4 The land over which the Footpath proceeds is a Registered Park and Garden.
3.1.5 The total length of affected path is approximately 30 metres.
3.1.6 The affected footpath does egress onto the Wimpole Park Road. The egress is the
same in both the current and proposed plans.
3.1.7 Location A, adjacent to Wimpole Park Road entrance
Proposed Route of Public Footpath No.5 (Plan A: A-C-D-B)
3.1.8 The proposed route starts at Wimpole Park Road, (Point A) TL 34274 51095, and turns
southwest (Point C) to then run parallel to the existing roadway on its southern side.
The route then turns northwest (Point D) to re-join the current route at TL 34244
51089 (Point B). The total length of the proposed diversion is 32 metres.

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 60

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

3.1.9 Between Points C & D the Landowner proposes to construct and own two sets of gates,
3.5 metres wide, spaced 4.5 metres apart in a corral arrangement. These gates are to
compliment the cattle grids in preventing livestock from leaving the pasture. It is not
proposed that these gates will be recorded as legal limitations within the Order and
subsequently the Definitive Statement. The Applicant will however be able to request
a Barrier Authorisation from the Rights of Way Officer.
3.1.10 The proposed diversion route will have a metalled tarmac surface and be 3.5 metres
wide, which would be recorded on the Definitive Statement.
3.2

Location B. Stable Gate, adjacent to Old Stable Block
Current Route of Public Footpath Wimpole No.5 (Plan B: E-F)

3.2.1 The current route starts at OSGR TL 33803 50948 (Point E) adjacent to the Old Stable
Block, and proceeds south westwards to OSGR TL 33782 50931 (Point F)
3.2.2 There is no recorded width in the May 2016 Definitive Statement. The 1951 statement
listed a width of 9 feet. The Footpath runs along a metalled tarmac roadway which is
4.8 metres wide.
3.2.3 The land over which the Footpath proceeds is a Registered Park and Garden.
3.2.4 The total length of affected path is approximately 27 metres.
3.2.5 The affected route does not egress onto any public highway at location B.
3.2.6 Location B. Stable Gate, adjacent to Old Stable Block
Proposed Route of Public Footpath Wimpole No.5 (Plan B: E-G-F)
3.2.7 The proposed route starts at OSGR TL 33803 50948 (Point E) and proceeds west-southwestwards on the north side of the existing roadway to OSGR TL 33794 50946 (Point
G). The route then curves in a southern direction to re-join the original route at OSGR
TL 33782 50931 (Point F). The total length of the proposed diversion is 29 metres.
3.2.8 At Point G, the Applicant proposes to construct and own two sets of gates, 3.5 metres
wide, spaced 4.5 metres apart in a corral arrangement. These gates are to compliment
the cattle grids in preventing livestock from leaving the pasture. It is not proposed that
these gates will be recorded a legal limitations within the Order and subsequently the
Definitive Statement. The Applicant will however be able to request a Barrier
Authorisation from the Rights of Way Officer.
3.2.9 The proposed diversion route will have a metalled tarmac surface and be 3.5 metres
wide, which would be recorded on the Definitive Statement.

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 61

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

4

Legal Framework

4.1

Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows that:
‘(1) Subject to section 259, a competent authority may by order authorise the
stopping up or diversion of any footpath, bridleway or restricted byway if they
are satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to enable development to be
carried out—
(a) in accordance with planning permission granted under Part III, or
(b) by a government department.
(2) An order under this section may, if the competent authority are satisfied
that it should do so, provide—
(a) for the creation of an alternative highway for use as a replacement
for the one authorised by the order to be stopped up or diverted,
or for the improvement of an existing highway for such use;
(b) for authorising or requiring works to be carried out in relation to
any footpath, for whose stopping up or diversion, creation or
improvement provision is made by the order;
(c) for the preservation of any rights of statutory undertakers in
respect of any apparatus of theirs which immediately before the
date of the order is under, in, on, over, along or across any such
footpath;
(d) for requiring any person named in the order to pay, or make
contributions in respect of, the cost of carrying out any such works.’

4.2

An Order shall come into effect once the new route has been certified by either the
order-making authority or the highway authority as being of a satisfactory standard
for public use. The County Council as highway authority will undertake the
certification.

4.3

The Equality Act 2010 consolidated previous disability legislation. There is currently
little formal guidance on how the Act interacts with existing rights of way legislation.
However, it is generally understood to require order-making authorities to take into
account the reasonable needs of disabled people (using the term in its broadest sense)
in considering changes to the rights of way network. The Act requires authorities to
be more proactive in recording their thought-processes in making their decisions.

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 62

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

4.4

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 states that the District Council as a relevant authority
has a duty to consider the impact of all its functions and decisions on crime and
disorder in its area with due regard to the need to all it can reasonably do to prevent
crime and disorder (including anti-social behaviour and other behaviour adversely
affecting the environment).

5

Cambridgeshire County Council Policy (including maintenance)

5.1

The County Council’s own Non-Motorised User (NMU) policy (approved by Highways
& Community Infrastructure Committee on 21st February 2017 and replacing the
previous Public Path Order Policy) requires that certain criteria are met if a public path
order is to be made.

5.2

The policy is applicable to any new or diverted NMU route which would become
maintainable at public expense. The relevant criteria is made up of a numerically
scored set of criteria which consider accessibility relating to the County Council’s duty
under the Equality Act 2010; the benefit to the Authority and communities from
resolving long term maintenance problems; the benefit to the Public Rights of Way
(PRoW) network; and the benefit to landowners from improved land management.

5.3

In this instance, the proposal is to divert a public right of way and the NMU acceptance
criteria have been met. The route is in the interests of the landowner and the
proposed alternative routes are substantially as convenient to the public as the
original.

5.4

Within the Cambridgeshire Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP), several
Statements of Action are listed which identify specific ways in which issues that the
Rights of Way network face can be addressed now and in the future. It is not
considered that this proposal is in conflict with the Statements of Action set out in the
Cambridgeshire ROWIP.

6 Consultations
6.1

Pre-application consultations have been carried out by the Applicant. No objections
were received during the pre-application consultation period.

6.1

The local Ramblers’ Association, the British Horse Society, South Cambridgeshire
District Council, Wimpole Parish Council, the prescribed user groups and the utility
companies were all consulted about the proposals by the County Council. The
following replies have been received (copies are attached as Appendix F):

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 63

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

6.2

The representative for the Ramblers’ Association, Cambridge Group did not object to
the proposal.

6.3

Cadent Gas, Vodaphone had no record of any apparatus in the area.

6.4

The Cyclists Touring Club representative initially objected on the grounds the route
was leaving the metalled road. Following discussions with the Applicant, who
confirmed that the diverted route would also have a metalled tarmacadam surface,
this objection was withdrawn. It should be noted that as a footpath there is no right
for cycling, though the landowner may permit such use.

6.5

No other responses were received.

7

Grounds for diversion: Town and County Planning Act and
Equality Act 2010

7.1

The re-routing of the public footpath from its existing route to the proposed new
route at the two locations is required to keep livestock from leaving the proposed
open pasture. The diversions of Public Footpath No. 5, Wimpole is therefore
considered necessary in order to implement a planning permission granted under
part III of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Section 1 (a) of Section 257 TCPA
90 is therefore satisfied.

7.2

The applicant has agreed to undertake the necessary works to implement the
proposed new route at their own expense. These works will be subject to
certification by the County Council as the Local Highway Authority.

7.3

The rights of statutory undertakers will not be affected. It is therefore considered
that Subsection 2 of Section 257 TCPA 90 is satisfied.

7.4

The proposal is not considered to be in conflict with the provisions of the Equality
Act 2010: the diversion will allow the footpath to bypass two cattle grids, which will
be constructed as part of the Planning Consent. The cattle grids are necessary to
prevent livestock straying from the open pasture.

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 64

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

8

Grounds for diversion: Cambridgeshire County Council criteria
as Highway Authority including Maintenance Liability

8.1

Pre-application consultations have been carried out by the applicant. No objections
were received during the consultation period. Additionally, no objections were
maintained during a four week period of consultation undertaken by the County
Council.

8.2

Given the approved planning layout on this site, the proposed diversion of the
footpath is considered the most suitable and appropriate alignment, meeting the
criteria set out in the NMU policy.

8.3

Consideration should be given to the Cambridgeshire Rights of Way Improvement Plan
(ROWIP). It supports the aims of the ROWIP under SOA6: Better Land Management,
by allowing the land to return to a heritage status, through restoring the parkland
through which the Footpath passes.

8.4

The proposed new route meets the Council’s NMU criteria: the diversion is in the
interests of the landowner. The proposed alternative route is substantially as
convenient to the public as the original, the 4 metres of additional length is minimal,
when considered against the total length of Wimpole Footpath 5. The width of 3.5
metres which is greater than the 2 metre requirement set out in the NMU adoption
criteria. The applicants have also agreed to undertake the necessary works required
to implement the proposed new route at their own expense.

8.5

The proposals have been assessed against the County Council’s NMU Adoption Policy.
The proposal scored 22 out of a possible 30 points, representing a score of 73%,
exceeding the pass mark of 70%. The NMU diversion assessment can be found at
Appendix G.

8.6

The proposal was presented to the County Council’s Assistant Director: Highways on
28th May 2020 to consider whether the proposed diversions would be acceptable to
the County Council, as Local Highway Authority. The Assistant Director confirmed the
County Council’s approval of this proposal in a memo dated 28th May 2020. The Memo
can be seen in Appendix H.

9

Conclusions

9.1

It is considered that the application to divert two parts of Public Footpath No. 5
Wimpole meets the requirements of s.257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 65

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

9.2

Cambridgeshire County Council has no objection as it does not consider the application
would have any detrimental impact on the connectivity of the surrounding highway
network, or place any additional burden on alternative routes which may cause concern
to the County Council, as Local Highways Authority.

10

Recommendation

10.1

That South Cambridgeshire District Council, as Order Making Authority gives their
approval that the proposed diversion of Public Footpath No. 5 Wimpole meets the
legislative tests set out in S257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

10.2

That this approval is reported to Cambridgeshire County Council, as agents for South
Cambridgeshire District Council and indicate that an order should be made.

APPENDICES
A
B1
B2
C
D
E
F
G
H

TCPA Diversion Order application form (Wimpole Hall)
Plan A - Proposed Diversion at East Gate
Plan B - Proposed diversion at Stable Gate
South Cambridgeshire Planning Permission (S/2214/17/FL)
Photographs of the area
Agreement of CCC processing South Cambs DC TCPA90 applications
Consultation Responses
NMU Adoption Matrix
CCC Assistant Director: Highways, Memo approving proposals

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

Page 66

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

To: Cambridgeshire County Council acting as agent for the Local Planning Authority

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
APPLICATION FOR AN ORDER TO PERMANENTLY DIVERT
A PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY
Name of applicant Alison Williamson on behalf of the National Trust Wimpole
Address c/o Nettledown, Church St., Meysey Hampton, GLOS GL7 5JX
Tel. (work) 01285 851850............ Tel. (home) N/A.......................
I hereby apply for the diversion of the footpath/bridleway* known as
Wimpole 264/5 under s.257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
undertake, if an order for the diversion of the path is made, to carry out such work on
the diverted route of the path as may be required to bring the path into a fit condition
for public use to the satisfaction of the County Council (the Highway Authority), prior
to the confirmation of the order.
(*Delete the term that does not apply.)

Signed

Date 14th November 2019

Consent of other landowner/s and other requirements
Written consent of any other landowner/s affected by your proposed diversion (for
both the existing line and proposed new line) must be obtained prior to submission.
A copy of the County Council’s requirements for making diversion orders can be
found at the end of this application form. The County Council will require all of these
to be met. Please note in particular:
The requirement for pre-application consultations: The applicant must consult with
the relevant Parish Council and local user groups, and must append copies of any
correspondence to this application

The path to be diverted
Parish Wimpole. No 264/5.
From Entrance to Property E of access gate on current footpath and East Back Drive.
OS grid ref. TL 34266 51089
To Entrance to Property W of access gate on current footpath and East Back Drive.
OS grid ref. TL 34247 51089 (diverted length 19m)
AND
From Footpath and access drive E of Stable Block OS grid ref. TL 33811 50953
To Footpath and access drive S of Stable Block OS grid ref. TL 33785 50936
(diverted length 26m)
General description of path Minor diversion of two short sections of footpath to
accommodate cattle grids related to landscape management and visitor experience
changes at NT Wimpole Hall in accordance with the planning permission granted.

Page 67

Updated 08/12/16

Landowner – please provide a map showing landownership/other interests
Name The National Trust (c/o Nigel Houghton, MCIOB, Building Surveyor (Projects),
Chartered Construction Manager).
Address National Trust East of England Regional Office, Westley Bottom, Bury St
Edmunds, Suffolk, IP33 3WD.
Lessee/tenant
Name N/A
Address N/A
Occupier
Name Landowner
Address (As above)
Reasons for the diversion
Local Planning Authority: South Cambridgeshire District Council
Planning application No: S/2214/17/FL
Date of Planning Permission: 22nd January 2018
Description of proposed development:
Change of use of agricultural land to car parking to enable the relocation of existing
parking on Phase 1 (700 spaces), and provision of new parking in Phase 2 (660
spaces), making good the land to parkland together with the erection of 2no.
buildings at the visitor entrance, provision of a connecting pathway between the new
car park and the Wimpole Hall, creation of a new vehicle access together with
associated landscaping and drainage works.
The proposed new route of the path
Please enclose a signed and dated plan, preferably at scale of not less than
1:2,500 and based on an Ordnance Survey map.
From Entrance to Property E of access gate on current footpath and main drive. OS
grid ref. TL 34266 51089
To Entrance to Property W of access gate on current footpath and main drive. OS
grid ref. TL 34247 51089 (diverted length 19m to south of drive gates)
AND
From Footpath and access drive E of Stable Block OS grid ref. TL 33811 50953
To Footpath and access drive S of Stable Block OS grid ref. TL 33785 50936
(diverted length 26m to north of existing road)
General description of new path Minor diversion of Footpath 264/5 at (current)
main entrance gate to access Wimpole Hall (Gate 11) and adjacent to the existing
Stable Block (Gate 7) along East Back Drive. The need for the diversions arises
because the current main access to Wimpole is to be replaced with a new access
from a new car park to the south-east. The existing access on East Back Drive is to
be retained as a service road, and incorporated into a new Multi-User Trail (MUT),
combined with the existing Public Footpath. As part of the overall plan of landscape
improvements to restore the parkland setting, the railings alongside East Back Drive
are to be removed, and as a consequence a cattle grid needs installing at the

Page 68

Updated 08/12/16

entrance to the Service Road/ MUT/ Footpath from Old Wimpole Road, as well as
near the Stable Block.
At Gate 11 adjacent to Old Wimpole Road, the footpath will be diverted immediately
south of the existing 4.8m wide vehicular driveway (which is to have a cattle grid and
electronic barrier installed) into a new corral arrangement, suitable for pedestrians of
all abilities, together with prams, push bikes, and horse and carts (note this is not a
bridleway, this is private horse and cart use by the NT). Gates will be iron and have a
black metal finish to match the existing gates and complement adjacent railings on
site. Latch & handles will be compatible with accessibility requirements to meet
BS8300. And will be self-close under their own weight rather than utilizing a sprung
hinge self-closer. The width of each new gate and the corral will be 3.5m, and the
two sets of gates will be 4.5m apart. The total length of the Footpath Diversion will be
19m.
At Gate No.7 adjacent to the Old Stable Block: the footpath will be diverted
immediately north of the existing access drive, the latter to be fitted with a new cattle
grid in a new N-S orientated fence line. The pedestrian access/ gate will be 3m wide
with other details as above. The total length of the Footpath Diversion will be 26m.
Landowner
Name The National Trust (c/o Nigel Houghton, MCIOB, Building Surveyor (Projects),
Chartered Construction Manager).
Address National Trust East of England Regional Office, Westley Bottom, Bury St
Edmunds, Suffolk, IP33 3WD.
Lessee/tenant
Name N/A
Address N/A
Occupier
Name Landowner
Address (As above)
Other Legal Interests
Please give details of any other person(s) having a legal interest in the land over
which the right of way is to be diverted, for example other landowners, mortgagees or
other persons having an easement over the land:
N/A
Has the written consent of all such persons been obtained?
Yes/no [Delete as applicable] N/A
The consents must accompany this application, together with a map showing all
ownership and legal interests.

Page 69

Updated 08/12/16

Pre-application consultations
Please append copies of all correspondence with user groups and the relevant
Parish/Town/City Councils. Have any objections been raised?
As discussed and agreed, consultation has commenced today with Dr R. and Mrs J
Moreton of the South Cambridgeshire Ramblers Group, as well as the two local
parish councils.
Works
Following receipt of this application, if not already undertaken, the County Council’s
rights of way officer will contact you to arrange to meet you to inspect the proposed
new route and to agree the works that will be needed to bring it into a fit condition for
use as a public path. These works will be confirmed in writing following the site
inspection. Please note that the Council will require a minimum width of 2m to be
provided for the new route of a public footpath, and a minimum of 4m for the new
route of a public bridleway. The new path will be signposted and/or waymarked to the
extent deemed necessary by the Council.
Coming into operation of an alternative route
Please note that the existing route of the path to be stopped up will not be
extinguished until an officer of the Rights of Way Team acting on behalf of the
Highway Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council) has certified that the new route
of the alternative path has been provided on the ground to a suitable standard for use
by the public. It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that works to provide the
new route of the path are completed.
Recovery of fees and costs
Under the ‘Local Authorities (Recovery of Costs for Public Path Orders) Regulations
1993 as amended by SI 1996 No 1978, the County Council may recover from the
applicant the reasonable administrative costs of processing applications for, and
making, public path orders. The County Council will invoice you for:
•

•
•

the administrative costs of processing your application up to the making of a
public path order, as set out in the Cambridgeshire Highway Records Guide which
contains
a
Schedule
of
Charges
that
are
available
at
www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/highwaysearches;
staff travelling expenses @ 45p per mile plus VAT;
the cost of inserting one Public Notice in a local newspaper at the time of the
making of the order, one Public Notice in a local newspaper at the time of the
confirmation of the order and one Public Notice in a local newspaper at the time of
the coming into operation of the order

The costs of taking an opposed order to a public inquiry will be met by the County
Council or District Council, but the County Council will expect the applicant to provide
their own legal representation at the inquiry. Please note that both Councils reserve
the right to decline to proceed to a public inquiry for an opposed order.
For further information see the County Council’s guidance:
 Guidance and Check List for Public Path Order Applicants
 Public Rights of Way – A guide for planners and developers available on our
website at
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/rightsofway

Page 70

Updated 08/12/16

Highways Service – Asset Information Definitive Map Team: Data Protection
Privacy Notice
We collect and use information about you - such as your name, address, email
address, telephone number, and payment details - so that we can provide you with
our services acting in our capacity as the Highway Authority and Commons
Registration Authority under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Highways Act
1980, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, Town & Country Planning Act 1990, Freedom
of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and the
Commons Act 2006.
Full details about how we use this data and the rights you have around this can be
found in our privacy notice at www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy. If you have any
queries, please contact the Data Protection Officer at
data.protection@cambridgeshire.gov.uk. The national regulator for Data Protection is
the Information Commissioner’s Office: https://ico.org.uk/
Statement
I hereby agree to put the new route(s) into a fit condition, as approved by the Council,
for use by the public within 28 days of a request by the Council to do so.
I hereby undertake to defray any compensation which becomes payable in
consequence of the coming into operation of the order, and to pay in full the County
Council’s administrative costs of making the order and the costs of the public notices.
I also undertake with Cambridgeshire County Council to meet in full the requirements
of any statutory undertaker in respect of any apparatus which may be over, in or
under the right of way in respect of which I am making this application. I understand
that the consent of the statutory undertakers (i.e. gas, water, electricity,
telecommunications, the Post Office and the Civil Aviation Authority) is required
before the order can be confirmed by the council and that their consent may be
conditional on my carrying out works to protect the statutory undertakers’ apparatus
and/or rerouting it. (The Council will consult with statutory undertakers on your
behalf.)
I have read and understand this application and make my application acknowledging
the conditions specified in it.

on behalf of the NT Wimpole.

Signed
Date 14th November 2019

Page 71

Updated 08/12/16

Public Path Diversion Orders – Cambridgeshire County Council requirements
for making an order
Diversions
• Pre-application consultations have been carried out with the prescribed bodies
• Where possible, a suitable alternative path is provided for every path that is to
be stopped up under s257 Town & Country Planning Act 1990
• The proposed new routes of paths are reasonably convenient to the public
when compared with the original routes
• The Parish Council does not object to the proposals
• No objections are received to the proposals during the statutory consultation
period prior to making an order. However, the County Council will review this
criterion in individual cases in light of objections and potential public benefit of
the proposal.
• The proposed new route is not less convenient for maintenance than the
original
• The maintenance burden on the County Council of the new route is no greater
than that of the original. If the maintenance burden is greater, the landowner
may be required to enter into a maintenance agreement with the County
Council as Highway Authority
• A minimum width of 2m is provided for the new route of a public footpath, and
a minimum of 4m for the new route of a public bridleway. In exceptional cases,
e.g. cross-field paths, it may, taking into account all the available facts, require
such a width as it considers reasonable and appropriate.
• That all works needed to bring the new route of the path into a suitable
condition for use by the public are carried out at the expense of the landowner
and to the Highway Authority’s specifications, unless otherwise agreed.

Pre-application consultations
Applicants are advised that prior to formally submitting their diversion or
extinguishment application to the Rights of Way & Access Team, they must complete
informal consultations with the prescribed bodies (list attached). This will identify at
an early stage whether the proposal is likely to be accepted by the public, and all
responses received should be attached to the application form.

Page 72

Updated 08/12/16

List of Statutory Consultees
NB Please select the relevant Ramblers Association Group for your area. Be aware
that it may be appropriate to consult more than one group if your location is near one
or more RA-represented areas.
The relevant Parish Council
Ramblers Association
2nd Floor
Camelford House
87-97 Albert Bank
LONDON SE1 7TW

Auto-Cycle-Union
Auto-Cycle-Union House
Wood Street
RUGBY CV21 2YX

Open Spaces Society – Cambridgeshire
Mrs Alysoun Hodges
88 West Fen Road
Ely
CB6 3AA
e-mail: paul@paulhodges.wanadoo.co.uk
Open Spaces Society
25A Bell Street
HENLEY-ON-THAMES
RG9 2BA

Byways and Bridleways Trust
57 Bowers Mill,
Branch Road,
Barkisland,
HALIFAX
HX4 0AD
e-mail: notices@bywayandbridleway.net
British Horse Society
Stoneleigh Deer Park
KENILWORTH
CV8 2XZ
Lynda Warth
British Horse Society Access and
Bridleways Officer for Cambs
53 Bar Lane
Stapleford
Cambridge CB22 5BJ
e-mail: lyndawarth@hotmail.co.uk

Mrs Alysoun Hodges
East Cambridgeshire Ramblers Group
88 West Fen Road, Ely
CB6 3AA
e-mail: paul@paulhodges.wanadoo.co.uk
NB Except for the parishes listed under
Newmarket Ramblers
Steve Rossin
Huntingdonshire Ramblers Association
6 De Beche Close
Papworth Everard
CAMBRIDGE CB23 3UP
Email: steve.hel@btinternet.com
Dr R & Mrs J Moreton
Joint Footpath Secretaries
South Cambridgeshire Ramblers
Association Group
23 Emery Street
CAMBRIDGE
CB1 2AX
Mr G Thomas
Fenland Ramblers Association
Coach House
6 Chapel Road
WISBECH
PE13 1RH
Paul Cutmore
Cambridge City Ramblers Group
12 Topcliffe Way
CAMBRIDGE
CB1 8SH
e-mail: ptcutmore@cix.co.uk
Phil Prigg
Newmarket Ramblers Group

1 Edgeborough Close
Kentford
NEWMARKET CB8 8QY
Newmarket RG covers the following
parishes in Cambs: Ashley, Brinkley,
Burrough Green, Cheveley, Chippenham,
Dullingham, Kennett, Kirtling, Snailwell,
Stetchworth, Westley Waterless and
Woodditton

Page 73

Updated 08/12/16

Page 74

Updated 08/12/16

Page 75

Page 76

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________
Oliver Caroe,
Caroe Architecture Ltd
Office 5, Unit 8
23-25 Gwydir Street
Cambridge
CB1 2LG

The Council hereby grants permission for Change of use of agricultural land to car parking to enable
the relocation of existing parking on Phase 1 (700 spaces), and provision of new parking in Phase 2
(660 spaces), making good the land to parkland together with the erection of 2no. buildings at the
visitor entrance, provision of a connecting pathway between the new car park and the Wimpole Hall,
creation of a new vehicle access together with associated landscaping and drainage works.

At:
For:

Tenanted Agricultural land within the Wi, Wimpole Estate, Wimpole Estate, Arrington,
Royston, Cambridgeshire, SG8 0BW
The Regional Director, The National Trust (East of England Regi

In accordance with your application dated 14 June 2017 and the plans, drawings and documents
which form part of the application, subject to conditions set out below.
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from the date
of this permission.
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for development in the area will
not be prejudiced by permissions for development, which have not been acted upon.)
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:
(EX)001.1rev0 Survey Site Plan sheet 1
(EX)001.2rev1 Survey Site Plan sheet 2
(EX)000.1.3rev0 Survey Site Plan sheet 3
(EX)004.2rev2 Overall Survey Site Plan Planning Boundary
(GA)0001.1.1rev2 Proposed Site Plan sheet 1
(GA)000.1.2rev1 Proposed Site Plan sheet 2- Revised Parking - Phase 1 and 2
(GA)000.1.3rev0 - Proposed Site Plan - Revised Parking - Phase 1 and 2 sheet 3
(GA)000.1.4 rev1 - Proposed Site Plan - Revised Parking - Phase 1 sheet 4
(GA)0003.1rev5 Proposed Site Plan Path Details and Potential Bat Roost Trees Sheet 1
(GA)211rev0 Proposed Welcome Ground Floor Plan
(GA)212rev0 Proposed Service Building Ground Floor Plan
(GA)221rev0 Proposed Block Plan Roof
(GA)222rev0 Proposed Block Plan Ground Conditions
(GA)400rev0 Proposed Elevations Visitor Welcome Building
(GA)401rev0 Proposed Elevations Service Building
(GA)402rev0 Proposed Elevations Visitor Welcome Building Bypass
(GA)403rev0 Proposed Elevations Visitor Welcome Building End and Colonnade
(GA)410rev0 Proposed Site Elevations Arrival and Departure
(GA)411rev0 Proposed Site Elevations Front and Back of Service Building

Page 77

Page 1 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________
CL-101 P9 Surface Water Drainage Strategy Plan
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under Section 73 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.)
3. Prior to the implementation of any external lighting, details of the type/model of the lights
identified in the approved drawings should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The lighting shall be installed in accordance with the agreed details and
retained as such thereafter.
(Reason -To minimise the effects of light pollution on the surrounding area and listed assets in
accordance with Policy CH/3 and CH/4 and to ensure there are no significant impacts on bat
populations in accordance with Policy NE/6 of the adopted Local Development Framework
2007.)
4. No demolition, site clearance or building operations shall commence until a tree protection plan
and strategy has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The
protection plan and strategy shall be undertaken in accordance with the BS 5837 standard.
Any protection measures shall be maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority
during the course of development.
(Reason - To protect trees which are to be retained in order to enhance the development,
biodiversity and the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policies DP/1 and NE/6 of
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)
5. Prior to the commencement of any development, a Badger survey shall be carried out within the
site by a licensed ecologist. A report of the findings including a suitable mitigation strategy if
required, should Badger be found, shall be submitted to the local planning authority and
approved in writing. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
(Reason - To enhance ecological interests in accordance with Policies DP/1,DP/3 and NE/6 of
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)
6. No development shall take place on a phase until, full details of both hard and soft landscape
works for that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The landscape scheme should be based on the indicative scheme as set out in plans
(GA)0001.1rev2, (GA)001.2rev1, (GA)000.1.3rev0 and (GA)000.1.4rev1. Soft landscape works
shall include planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations
associated with plant and grass establishment) schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes
and proposed numbers/densities and implementation programme.
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area and enhances
biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 and NE/6 of the adopted Local Development
Framework 2007.)
7. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
The works for each phase shall be carried out in accordance with a programme agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting, or
replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree
or plant of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same
place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area and enhances
biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2 and NE/6 of the adopted Local Development
Framework 2007.)
8. The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the detailed surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on the agreed Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) prepared by
Page 78
Page 2 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________
Rossi Long Consulting (ref: 161198) dated May 2017 and the updated surface water drainage
strategy plan (ref CL-101, P9) dated 13th October 2017. The surface water drainage scheme
shall be completed prior to the use of the parking area or the occupation of the building.
(Reasons - To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, and
improve habitat and amenity in accordance with policy NE/9 of the Local Development
Framework and to ensure the satisfactory maintenance of unadopted drainage systems in
accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 103 and 109 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.)
9. Details for the long term maintenance arrangements for the surface water drainage system
(including all SuDS features) to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to the first occupation of phase 1. The submitted details should identify runoff
sub-catchments, SuDS components, control structures, flow routes and outfalls. In addition, the
plan must clarify the access that is required to each surface water management component for
maintenance purposes. The maintenance plan shall be carried out in full thereafter.
(Reasons - To ensure the satisfactory maintenance of unadopted drainage systems in
accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 103 and 109 of the National Planning Policy
Framework)
10. Prior to the commencement of development of any phase, a written scheme of investigation
(WSI) for an Archaeological Programme of Works shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. For land that is included within the WSI, no
demolition/development shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed WSI. The
WSI which shall include:
• the statement of significance and research objectives;
• the programme and methodology of site investigation and recording
• the nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed works
• the programme for post-excavation assessment and subsequent analysis, reporting,
publication & dissemination, and deposition of the resulting
archive.
The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details.
(Reasons - To protect archaological sites in accordance with policy CH/2 of the Local
Development Framework and the National Planning Policy Framework.)
11. No development above ground level of the buildings on phase 1 shall take place until details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings hereby
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in accordance with
Policy DP/2 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)
12. During the period of demolition and construction, no power operated machinery shall be
operated on the site before 0800 hours and after 1800 hours on weekdays or before 0800 hours
and after 1300 hours on Saturdays, nor at any time on Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless
otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance with Policy
NE/15 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)
13. Prior to the commencement of development of the Phase 2 parking layout as identified on
drawing no. (GA)000.1.1rev2, (GA)000.1.4rev1, an updated Travel Plan for both staff and
visitors shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to
the use of Phase 2, the Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved

Page 79

Page 3 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________
details.
(Reason - To reduce car dependency and to promote alternative modes of travel in accordance
with Policy TR/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)
14. The existing parking areas as identified on drawing no.(EX)001.2rev1 as car parking, overspill
car parking (including associated hardstanding, fencing, signage and ticket machines) shall be
removed and land restored back to soft landscaping within 6 months of the first occupation of
the Phase 1. The restored land should remain as such thereafter.
(Reasons - To offset the impact to the Heritage Assets in accordance with paragraph 134 and
137 of the National Planning Policy Framework)
15. Prior to the commencement of phase 2 parking as detailed on (GA)000.1.1rev2 and
(GA)000.1.4rev1, details of the highway improvements to the junction of Old Wimpole Road with
A603 to increase capacity for vehicles exiting from Old Wimpole Road, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works should be agreed with the
Local Highway Authority and implemented prior to the commencement of Phase 2 of the
development.
(Reason - To ensure safe and efficient operation of the junction of Old Wimpole Road with A603
in accordance with policy DP/3 of the Local Development Framework)
16. Prior to the first occupation of phase 1 details of covered and secure cycle parking shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the agreed details prior to the first occupation of phase 1 and
thereafter maintained.
(Reasons – To ensure the provision of covered and secure cycle parking in accordance with
policy TR/2 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007)
17. Prior to the first occupation of each phase, an Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging Plan (which can be
integrated into the landscape scheme) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The plan should include the details of the number, location,
installation, and cabling infrastructure of the EV points. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the agreed details prior the first occupation of each phase and maintained as
such thereafter.
(Reasons – In the interest of reducing carbon emissions in accordance with policies NE/1, NE/2,
DP/1 and TR/1-4 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007)
18. No development shall take place, until a Construction Environmental Management Statement
(CEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
Statement shall provide for:
i) measures to control noise and vibration;
ii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
iii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from the construction
works;
iiii) construction and site workers parking
iv) material storage areas
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to throughout the construction period for the
development.
(Reasons – To protect residential amenity and limit the impact on the natureenvironment in
accordance with policies DP/1 and DP/2 of the Local Development Framework 2007).

Page 80

Page 4 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________

Informatives
1. A wheel washing facility might be required at the request of the Local Highways Authority if mud
and debris is spreading onto the adopted roads.

General
1.

Statement as to how the Local Planning Authority (LPA) has worked with the
applicant in a positive and proactive manner on seeking solutions
The LPA positively encourages pre-application discussions. Details of this advice service
can be found on the Planning pages of the Council’s website www.scambs.gov.uk. If a
proposed development requires revisions to make it acceptable the LPA will provide an
opinion as to how this might be achieved. The LPA will work with the applicant to advise on
what information is necessary for the submission of an application and what additional
information might help to minimise the need for planning conditions. When an application is
acceptable, but requires further details, conditions will be used to make a development
acceptable. Joint Listed Building and Planning decisions will be issued together. Where
applications are refused clear reasons for refusal will identify why a development is
unacceptable and will help the applicant to determine whether and how the proposal might
be revised to make it acceptable.
In relation to this application, it was considered and the process managed in accordance
with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

2.

Circular 04/2008 (Planning Related Fees) states that where an application is made under
Article 21 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995
[now superseded by Article 30 of the Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure)(England) Order 2010], a fee will be payable for any consent,
agreement or approval required by condition or limitation attached to the grant of planning
permission (or reserved matter consent).
The fee is £116 per request or £34 where the permission relates to an extension or alteration
to a dwellinghouse or other development in the curtilage of a dwellinghouse. The request
can be informal through the submission of a letter or plans, or formal through the completion
of an application form and the submission of plans. Any number of conditions may be
included on a single request. The form is available on the Council’s website
www.scambs.gov.uk (application forms - 1app forms-application for the approval of details pack 25.)

3.

It is important that all conditions, particularly pre-commencement conditions, are fully
complied with, and where appropriate, discharged prior to the implementation of the
development. Failure to discharge such conditions may invalidate the planning permission
granted. The development must be carried out fully in accordance with the requirements of
any details approved by condition.

Page 81

Page 5 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________
4.

All new buildings that are to be used by the public must, where reasonable and practicable,
be accessible to disabled persons and provide facilities for them. The applicant’s attention is
therefore drawn to the requirements of Section 76 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 and the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended) with respect to access for disabled
people.

5.

In order to obtain an official postal address, any new buildings should be formally registered
with South Cambridgeshire District Council. Unregistered addresses cannot be passed to
Royal Mail for allocation of postcodes. Applicants can find additional information, a scale of
charges and an application form at www.scambs.gov.uk/snn. Alternatively, applicants can
contact the Address Management Team: call 08450 450 500 or email
address.management@scambs.gov.uk. Please note new addresses cannot be assigned by
the Council until the footings of any new buildings are in place.

6.

The applicant's attention is drawn to the requirements of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996 if
works are proposed to a party wall.

7.

If you wish to amend the permitted scheme, and you consider the revisions raise no material
issues, you should make an application for a Non Material Amendment. If agreed, the
development can go ahead in accordance with this amendment although the revised details
will not replace the original plans and any conditions attached to the originally approved
development will still apply. If, however, you or the Council consider the revisions raise
material issues you may be able to make an application for a Minor Material Amendment. If
approved, this will result in a new planning permission and new conditions as necessary may
be applied. Details for both procedures are available on the Council’s website or on request.

8.

If this development involves any works of a building or engineering nature, please note that
before any such works are commenced it is the applicant's responsibility to ensure that, in
addition to planning permission, any necessary consent under the Building Regulations is
also obtained. Advice in respect of Buildings Regulations can be obtained from Building
Control Services at South Cambridgeshire District Council. Their contact details are: tel.
03450 450 500 or building.control@scambs.gov.uk or via the website www.scambs.gov.uk.

9.

A delegation report or committee report, setting out the basis of this decision, is available on
the Council’s website.

To help us enhance our service to you please click on the link and complete the customer service
questionnaire: www.surveymonkey.com/s/2S522FZ

Stephen Kelly
Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development for Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire
South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA

Page 82

Page 6 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________

THIS PERMISSION DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL UNDER BUILDING REGULATIONS
AND IS NOT A LISTED BUILDING CONSENT OR CONSERVATION AREA CONSENT. IT DOES
NOT CONVEY ANY APPROVAL OR CONSENT WHICH MAY BE REQUIRED UNDER ANY
ENACTMENT, BYE-LAW, ORDER OR REGULATION OTHER THAN SECTION 57 OF THE
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990.
SEE NOTES OVERLEAF

Page 83

Page 7 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________
NOTES
Appeals to the Secretary of State
If you are aggrieved by the decision of your Local Planning Authority to refuse permission for the
proposed development or to grant it subject to conditions, then you can appeal to the Secretary of State
for the Environment under Section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
If you want to appeal, then you must do so using a form which you can get from the Customer Support
Unit, Planning Inspectorate, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol BS1 6PN.
Alternatively, an online appeals service is available through the Appeals area of the Planning Portal - see
www.planningportal.gov.uk/pcs. The Planning Inspectorate will publish details of your appeal on the
internet. This may include a copy of the original planning application form and relevant supporting
documents supplied to the local authority, together with the completed appeal form and information you
submit to the Planning Inspectorate. Please ensure that you only provide information you are happy will
be made available to others in this way, including personal information belonging to you. If you supply
personal information belonging to a third party please ensure you have their permission to do so. More
detailed information about data protection and privacy matters is available on the Planning Portal.
Fully completed appeal forms must be received by the Planning Inspectorate within six months of the
date of this decision notice except where the property is subject to an enforcement notice, where an
appeal must be received within 28 days.
The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but he will not normally be
prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which excuse the delay in giving the
notice of appeal.
The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to him that the Local Planning Authority
could not have granted planning permission for the proposed development or could not have granted it
without the conditions it imposed, having regard to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of any
development order and to any directions given under a development order.
In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely because the Local Planning
Authority based its decision on a direction given by him.
Purchase Notices
If either the Local Planning Authority or the Secretary of State for the Environment refuses permission to
develop land or grants it subject to conditions, the owner may claim that he can neither put the land to a
reasonable beneficial use in its existing state nor render the land capable of a reasonably beneficial use
by the carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted.
In these circumstances, the owner may serve a purchase notice on the District Council in whose area the
land is situated. This notice will require the Council to purchase his interest in the land in accordance
with the provisions of Part VI of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 84

Page 8 of 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Form 4
Ref. S/2214/17/FL

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
PLANNING PERMISSION
SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
Decision Date: 22 January 2018
______________________________________________________________________________
IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING CONDITIONS
If you have been granted Planning Permission and/or Listed Building Consent you may wish to get
started immediately, however it is always important to carefully read the decision notice in full before any
work begins.
The majority of Planning Permissions and Listed Building Consents have conditions attached. Some
conditions request further information that requires approval by the Local Planning Authority before any
development takes place (‘pre-commencement’). All conditions are set out on the decision notice.
Under Section 7 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, it is a criminal
offence to carry out unauthorised works to a listed building. Under Section 9 of the Act, a person shall be
guilty of an offence should they fail to comply with any condition attached to the consent.
HOW DO I DISCHARGE THE CONDITIONS
Please note that the process takes up to eight weeks from the date the Local Planning Authority receives
a valid application. Therefore it important to plan ahead and allow plenty of time before work is due to
commence.
You need to fill in a form to submit your request to discharge conditions, and accompany the relevant
details/samples. You can download the necessary form by using the following link:
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/apply-planning-permission. This form can be emailed directly to
planning@scambs.gov.uk or submitted by post to South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business
Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 6EA
Alternatively you can submit an application to discharge the conditions through the Government’s
Planning Portal website: https://www.planningportal.co.uk/applications. Please note, The Planning Portal
refers to it as ‘Approval of details reserved by a condition’.
When the required information has been submitted you will receive a reference and an acknowledgement
letter. Once the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the requirement of the condition have been met
you will receive a formal notification that the conditions have been discharged.
FEES
£0 – for all Listed Building Consent ‘Discharge of Conditions’ applications;
£34 – for all householder ‘Discharge of Conditions’ applications;
£116 – for all other types ‘Discharge of Conditions’ applications.
Please contact your Case Officer with any queries.

Page 85

Page 9 of 9

Page 86

Page 87

Page 88

Page 89

Payne Roger
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

.box.PPRSTeam <PPRSTeam@cadentgas.com>
19 March 2020 15:42
Payne Roger
FW: Cadent and National Grid Plant Enquiry Response - Your Ref: P101 (JP) Our Ref:
EA_GE3A_3FWP_052950
NATIONAL_GRID_EA_GE3A_3FWP_052950_1_2256.pdf

**DO NOT REPLY TO THIS MAILBOX AS IT IS NOT MONITORED**
If you need to contact Plant Protection e‐mail plantprotection@cadentgas.com Call 0800 688
588

Did you know you can do your own search by logging on and registering at
www.beforeyoudig.cadentgas.com

From: Cadent EAGLES System <noreply.eagles@dnvgl.com>
Sent: 19 March 2020 10:48
To: .box.PPRSTeam <PPRSTeam@cadentgas.com>
Subject: Cadent and National Grid Plant Enquiry Response ‐ Your Ref: P101 (JP) Our Ref: EA_GE3A_3FWP_052950

Formal Enquiry - Your Ref: P101 (JP) Our Ref: EA_GE3A_3FWP_052950
Thank you for your enquiry which was received on 17/03/2020.
Please refer to the attached documentation for Cadent and National Grid's response.
Self-service for Plant Enquiries: www.beforeyoudig.cadentgas.com
If you need to contact the Plant Protection Team regarding your enquiry, please use the following
details:
Email:
Address:

plantprotection@cadentgas.com
Plant Protection
Cadent
Block 1; Floor 1;
Brick Kiln Street
Hinckley
LE10 0NA
Telephone: +44 (0)800 688 588

Page1 90

National Gas Emergency Number:
0800 111 999*
National Grid Electricity Emergency Number:
0800 40 40 90*
* Available 24 hours, 7 days/week. Calls may be recorded and monitored.
**************************************************************************************
This e-mail and any attachments thereto may contain confidential information and/or information protected by intellectual property rights for the
exclusive attention of the intended addressees named above. If you have received this transmission in error, please immediately notify the sender by
return e-mail and delete this message and its attachments. Unauthorized use, copying or further full or partial distribution of this e-mail or its contents
is prohibited.
**************************************************************************************

This e-mail, and any attachments are strictly confidential and intended for the addressee(s) only. The content may also
contain legal, professional or other privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender
immediately and then delete the e-mail and any attachments. You should not disclose, copy or take any action in reliance
on this transmission.
Please ensure you have adequate virus protection before you open or detach any documents from this transmission.
Cadent Gas Limited does not accept any liability for viruses. An e-mail reply to this address may be subject to monitoring
for operational reasons or lawful business practices.
Cadent Gas Limited is a limited liability company, registered in England and Wales (registered no. 10080864) with
its registered office at Ashbrook Court, Prologis Park, Central Boulevard, Coventry CV7 8PE.

Page
91
2

Payne Roger
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

20 March 2020 08:49
Payne Roger
NO OBJECTION: Application to divert Public Footpath Wimpole 5
TCPA90 Stat undertakers Wimpole FP5.pdf; 2020-02-19 Plan A.pdf; 2020-02-19 Plan
B.pdf

Dear Sirs,
New Roads and Street Works Act 1991

Stopping Up Order / Footpath Diversion / Extinguishment / Gating Order
No Objection
We refer to the below or attached order and confirm that we have no objections
Please email Stopping Ups to osm.enquiries@atkinsglobal.com
To enable us to process your application as quickly as possible, please ensure you include Grid References.
A copy of the Cable and Wireless process 4461 'Special Requirements relating to the external plant network of Cable and Wireless UK Services Ltd' is available on
request. The process provides guidance on working in the vicinity of Cable and Wireless's apparatus.

IMPORTANT - PLEASE READ = Your Next Step?:Where apparatus is affected and requires diversion, please send all the scheme related proposals that affects the Vodafone Network to
c3requests@vodafone.com with a request for a 'C3 Budget Estimate'. Please ensure you include a plan showing proposed works. (A
location plan is insufficient for Vodafone to provide a costing). These estimates will be provided by Vodafone directly, normally within 20
working days from receipt of your request. Please include proof of this C2 response when requesting a C3 (using the ‘forward’
option). Diversionary works may be necessary if the existing line of the highway/railway or its levels are altered.

Plant Enquiries Team
T: +44 (0)1454 662881
E: osm.enquiries@atkinsglobal.com
ATKINS working on behalf of Vodafone: Fixed
This response is made only in respect to electronic communications apparatus forming part of the Vodafone Limited electronic
communications network formerly being part of the electronic communications networks of Cable & Wireless UK (now re-named Vodafone
Enterprise UK), Energis Communications Limited, Thus Group Holdings Limited and Your Communications Limited.

PLEASE NOTE:
The information given is indicative only. No warranty is made as to its accuracy. This information must not be solely relied upon in the
event of excavation or other works carried out in the vicinity of Vodafone plant. No liability of any kind whatsoever is accepted by Vodafone,
its servants, or agents, for any error or omission in respect of information contained on this information. The actual position of underground
services must be verified and established on site before any mechanical plant is used. Authorities and contractors will be held liable for the
full cost of repairs to Vodafone's apparatus and all claims made against them by Third parties as a result of any interference or damage.

Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail
Page1 92

From: Payne Roger <Roger.Payne@cambridgeshire.gov.uk>
Sent: 16 March 2020 21:21
Subject: Application to divert Public Footpath Wimpole 5
Dear Sir or Madam,
Cambridgeshire County Council has received an application to divert two sections of Public Footpath Wimpole No. 5.
Please find attached a consultation letter and proposal plans.
Please let me know any comments by 15th April 2020. If this timescale causes you difficulty then please contact me.
Best regards,
Roger

Roger Payne
Asset Information Definitive Map Manager
Cambridgeshire County Council
Direct Dial: 01480 379421
Contact Centre 0345 045 5212
Highways Service, Box No. STA2101, Cambridgeshire County Council, Stanton Way Depot, Huntingdon, PE29 6PY
Highways Service – Asset Information: Data Protection Privacy Notice
We collect and use information about you ‐ such as your name, address, email address, telephone number, and
payment details ‐ so that we can provide you with our services acting in our capacity as the Highway Authority and
Commons Registration Authority under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Highways Act 1980, Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981, Town & Country Planning Act 1990, Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations
2004 and the Commons Act 2006.
Full details about how we use this data and the rights you have around this can be found in our privacy notice at
www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy. If you have any queries, please contact the Data Protection Officer at
data.protection@cambridgeshire.gov.uk. The national regulator for Data Protection is the Information Commissioner’s
Office: https://ico.org.uk/
The information in this email could be confidential and legally privileged. It is intended solely for the addressee and they
will decide who to share this email with (if appropriate). If you receive this email by mistake please notify the sender
and delete it immediately. Opinions expressed are those of the individual and do not necessarily represent the opinion
of Cambridgeshire County Council. All sent and received email from Cambridgeshire County Council is automatically
scanned for the presence of computer viruses and security issues. Any personal data will be processed in line with the
Data Protection legislation, further details at www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy Visit www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

This email and any attached files are confidential and copyright protected. If you are not the addressee, any dissemination of this communication is strictly
prohibited. Unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing, nothing stated in this communication shall be legally binding. The ultimate parent company of the Atkins
Group is SNC-Lavalin Group Inc. Registered in Québec, Canada No. 059041-0. Registered Office 455 boul. René-Lévesque Ouest, Montréal, Québec, Canada,
H2Z 1Z3. A list of Atkins Group companies registered in the United Kingdom and locations around the world can be found at http://www.atkinsglobal.com/siteservices/group-company-registration-details
Consider the environment. Please don't print this e-mail unless you really need to.

Page
93
2

Payne Roger
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Payne Roger
24 March 2020 09:52
'Roger Moreton'
RE: Application to divert Public Footpath Wimpole 5

Dear Mr & Mrs Moreton,
Thank you for your email. The proposals may well be identical to the ones you had agreed to, but I am required by the
statutory process to formally consult on the application that was submitted to Cambridgeshire County Council. I note
that there are no objections from the Cambridge RA, and thank you for taking the time to confirm this.
Yours sincerely,
Roger
Roger Payne
Asset Information Definitive Map Manager
Highways Service, Cambridgeshire County Council
Tel: 01480 379421
From: Roger Moreton
Sent: 23 March 2020 21:26
To: Payne Roger <Roger.Payne@cambridgeshire.gov.uk>
Subject: Re: Application to divert Public Footpath Wimpole 5

Dear Mr Payne,
Thank you for your consultation dated 16 March 2020, regarding the proposed minor diversions affecting
Wimpole Public Footpath 5. I note the enclosed plans and attachments.
Our Committee of The Ramblers' Association, Cambridge Group has been approached already on this matter,
on behalf of the landowner, The National Trust.
A consultation, dated 14 November 2019 from Alison Williamson, (rights of way consultancy service acting for
the NT) was considered by our committee at its meeting of 21 November 2019. The Committee considered
that the two minor diversions needed to install cattle grids, and amendments to fencing were not detrimental
to the use of Wimpole footpath 5. The decision was recorded in the Minutes of the meeting, and the National
Trust representative informed.
In present circumstances, a further committee meeting of RA Cambridge Group is unlikely in the near future,
and so we are moving matters forward via e‐mail. There have been no objections to my agreeing to the
proposed diversions on behalf of the Ramblers' Association Cambridge Group. Your proposals appear identical
to those discussed previously.
With thanks for your consultation,

Page1 94

Yours sincerely,
Janet Moreton
Roger and Janet Moreton
Footpath Secretaries for South Cambridgeshire
Ramblers' Association, Cambridge Group

From: Payne Roger <Roger.Payne@cambridgeshire.gov.uk>
Sent: 16 March 2020 15:46
Subject: Application to divert Public Footpath Wimpole 5
Dear Sir or Madam,
Cambridgeshire County Council has received an application to divert two sections of Public Footpath Wimpole No. 5.
Please find attached a consultation letter and proposal plans.
Please let me know any comments by 15th April 2020. If this timescale causes you difficulty then please contact me.
Best regards,
Roger

Roger Payne
Asset Information Definitive Map Manager
Cambridgeshire County Council
Direct Dial: 01480 379421
Contact Centre 0345 045 5212
Highways Service, Box No. STA2101, Cambridgeshire County Council, Stanton Way Depot, Huntingdon, PE29 6PY
Highways Service – Asset Information: Data Protection Privacy Notice
We collect and use information about you ‐ such as your name, address, email address, telephone number, and
payment details ‐ so that we can provide you with our services acting in our capacity as the Highway Authority and
Commons Registration Authority under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Highways Act 1980, Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981, Town & Country Planning Act 1990, Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations
2004 and the Commons Act 2006.
Full details about how we use this data and the rights you have around this can be found in our privacy notice at
www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy. If you have any queries, please contact the Data Protection Officer at
data.protection@cambridgeshire.gov.uk. The national regulator for Data Protection is the Information Commissioner’s
Office: https://ico.org.uk/

The information in this email could be confidential and legally privileged. It is intended solely for the addressee
and they will decide who to share this email with (if appropriate). If you receive this email by mistake please
notify the sender and delete it immediately. Opinions expressed are those of the individual and do not
necessarily represent the opinion of Cambridgeshire County Council. All sent and received email from
Cambridgeshire County Council is automatically scanned for the presence of computer viruses and security
issues. Any personal data will be processed in line with the Data Protection legislation, further details at
www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy Visit www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

Page
95
2

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Rupert Goodings (CTC)
Payne Roger
Re: Application to divert Public Footpath Wimpole 5
03 April 2020 09:17:47

Dear Mr Payne,
Ref: Application to divert Public Footpath 5 Wimpole (SG8 0BW – TL 34244 51090 &
TL 33803 50948)
I would like to register a formal objection to this proposed diversion of Public
Footpath No. 5.
The current route follows the line of the private road and as such has a good
tarmac surface. This route, while classified as a footpath, is commonly used by
cyclists and the landowner (National Trust) clearly accept this use.
Both of the proposed diversions would divert the route onto unsurfaced land and
would therefore render the route less usable by cyclists.
I can see no compensating benefit for both of the proposed diversions. I
therefore object to both of these proposed diversions.
I would appreciate confirmation of receipt of this email. Thankyou.
Rupert Goodings
Campaigning Officer; CTC Cambridge
On 16/03/2020 15:46, Payne Roger wrote:
>
> Dear Sir or Madam,
>
> Cambridgeshire County Council has received an application to divert two
> sections of Public Footpath Wimpole No. 5. Please find attached a consultation
> letter and proposal plans.
>
> Please let me know any comments by *15^th April 2020*. If this timescale
> causes you difficulty then please contact me.
>
> Best regards,
>
> Roger
>
> **
>
> **
>
> *Roger Payne*
>
> *Asset Information Definitive Map Manager*
>
> *Cambridgeshire County Council*
>
> *Direct Dial: 01480 379421*
>
> /Contact Centre 0345 045 5212/
>
> Highways Service, Box No. STA2101, Cambridgeshire County Council, Stanton Way

Page 96

> Depot, Huntingdon, PE29 6PY
>
> Highways Service – Asset Information: Data Protection Privacy Notice
> We collect and use information about you - such as your name, address, email
> address, telephone number, and payment details - so that we can provide you
> with our services acting in our capacity as the Highway Authority and Commons
> Registration Authority under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Highways Act
> 1980, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, Town & Country Planning Act 1990,
> Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2004
> and the Commons Act 2006.
> Full details about how we use this data and the rights you have around this
> can be found in our privacy notice at www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy
> <http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy>. If you have any queries, please
> contact the Data Protection Officer at data.protection@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
> <mailto:data.protection@cambridgeshire.gov.uk>. The national regulator for
> Data Protection is the Information Commissioner’s Office: https://ico.org.uk/
>
> The information in this email could be confidential and legally privileged. It
> is intended solely for the addressee and they will decide who to share this
> email with (if appropriate). If you receive this email by mistake please
> notify the sender and delete it immediately. Opinions expressed are those of
> the individual and do not necessarily represent the opinion of Cambridgeshire
> County Council. All sent and received email from Cambridgeshire County Council
> is automatically scanned for the presence of computer viruses and security
> issues. Any personal data will be processed in line with the Data Protection
> legislation, further details at www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy Visit
> www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk <http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk>

Page 97

Rupert Goodings
CTC Cambridge.
On 20/04/2020 15:26, Alison Williamson wrote:
>
> Dear Mr Goodings
>
> I am instructed on behalf of the National Trust (NT) to progress the
> S257 Town and County Planning Act minor footpath diversions at Wimpole
> Hall, required in order to enable the NT to implement their planning
> permission. I have been advised by Roger Payne at Cambridgeshire
> County Council (CCC) that the formal consultation period closed on
> 15^th April, and that your organisation is the only one which has
> lodged a formal objection to our application (as attached), with all
> the Parish Councils, the Ramblers and all other consultees content
> with the proposals. Mr Payne has therefore asked me to follow up this objection with you directly.
>
> I was slightly surprised to hear of your objection since this is a
> public footpath, and of course there is no right to cycle on a
> footpath ‐ although of course it is generally accepted that one can
> walk pushing a bicycle along a footpath, as well as cycle with the
> landowner's permission. Therefore, whilst as you note, the route is
> commonly used by cyclists and the landowner permits this use, there is no right to such use.
>
> Nonetheless, setting aside the actual rights related to this use, I
> note that in fact the reason for your objection relates to concern
> that ".../Both of the proposed diversions would divert the route onto
> unsurfaced land and would therefore render the route less usable by
> cyclists/." There is a misunderstanding in this regard, and I would
> like to reassure you that both the proposed footpath diversions will
> have a tarmacadam surface as on the existing route, not least as this
> is needed in order for the NT to operate their private horse and
> carriage operations around the Estate. The carriage driving use is on
> pre‐determined routes which includes the footpath in question. I
> realise of course that the information you were sent with CCC's
> consultation did not include the detailed planning drawings, although
> I can assure you that we are fully committed to a tarmac surface which will be delivered in line with the detailed
design specification provided to CCC.
>
> I trust that this information now supplied will enable CTC to withdraw
> its formal objection to this proposal (or to withdraw its objection
> conditional on the provision of a tarmac surface on the diversion
> routes), and I apologise for any lack of clarity which caused you to raise your concerns.
>
> Please do not hesitate to contact me on the landline number below if
> you have any outstanding questions, and I look forward to hearing from you.
>
> Yours sincerely
>
> Alison Williamson
>

Page3 98

> /For and on behalf of the National Trust/
>
> *Alison Williamson*/BSc., MSc., MCIEEM., MIPROW., CEnv./
>
> */EIA Project Management, Ecology, Recreation and Rights of Way
> Consultancy
> Services/*
>

>
> This message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity
> to whom it is addressed and contains information that may be
> privileged and/ or confidential. If you have received it in error, you
> should not disseminate, distribute or copy this communication. Please
> notify me immediately by return email and delete the original message and any attachments from your system(s).
>
> Every endeavour is made to ensure there is no virus infection with
> this email and any attachments. However, please virus scan this
> communication upon receipt, as the recipient remains responsible for
> the integrity of this email and any attachments.
>
The information in this email could be confidential and legally privileged. It is intended solely for the addressee and they
will decide who to share this email with (if appropriate). If you receive this email by mistake please notify the sender
and delete it immediately. Opinions expressed are those of the individual and do not necessarily represent the opinion
of Cambridgeshire County Council. All sent and received email from Cambridgeshire County Council is automatically
scanned for the presence of computer viruses and security issues. Any personal data will be processed in line with the
Data Protection legislation, further details at www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy Visit
www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk<http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk>

Page
99
4

Payne Roger
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:
Subject:

21 April 2020 09:37
Payne Roger; Rupert Goodings (CTC)
Houghton, Nigel
RE: Wimpole FP5 consultation

Dear Mr Goodings
Thank you for your prompt response below, as well as your confirmation that the CTC has now withdrawn its formal
objection to the proposed diversions on the basis that the minor diversion routes will be tarmac as on the existing.
With regards to the further points you raise, you are quite correct that the rationale relates to the need to prevent
public visitor access (in vehicles) from using this road in future.
Thank you again for your prompt reply.
With kind regards
Alison

Alison Williamson BSc., MSc., MCIEEM., MIPROW., CEnv.
EIA Project Management, Ecology, Recreation and Rights of Way Consultancy Services

This message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is addressed and contains information that may be privileged and/ or confidential. If you have received it in
error, you should not disseminate, distribute or copy this communication. Please notify me immediately by return email and delete the original message and any attachments from your
system(s).
Every endeavour is made to ensure there is no virus infection with this email and any attachments. However, please virus scan this communication upon receipt, as the recipient remains
responsible for the integrity of this email and any attachments.

‐‐‐‐‐Original Message‐‐‐‐‐
From: Payne Roger <Roger.Payne@cambridgeshire.gov.uk>
Sent: 21 April 2020 08:50
To: Rupert Goodings (CTC)
Alison Williamson
Cc: Houghton, Nigel
Subject: RE: Wimpole FP5 consultation
Dear Mr Goodings,
I have now noted that your objection is withdrawn.
Best regards,
Roger

Page 100
1

Roger Payne
Asset Information Definitive Map Manager Cambridgeshire County Council Direct Dial: 01480 379421 Contact Centre
0345 045 5212 Highways Service, Box No. STA2101, Cambridgeshire County Council, Stanton Way Depot, Huntingdon,
PE29 6PY
Highways Service ‐ Asset Information: Data Protection Privacy Notice We collect and use information about you ‐ such
as your name, address, email address, telephone number, and payment details ‐ so that we can provide you with our
services acting in our capacity as the Highway Authority and Commons Registration Authority under the Commons
Registration Act 1965, Highways Act 1980, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, Town & Country Planning Act 1990,
Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and the Commons Act 2006.
Full details about how we use this data and the rights you have around this can be found in our privacy notice at
www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/privacy. If you have any queries, please contact the Data Protection Officer at
data.protection@cambridgeshire.gov.uk. The national regulator for Data Protection is the Information Commissioner's
Office: https://ico.org.uk/

‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐
‐‐‐‐‐Original Message‐‐‐‐‐
From: Rupert Goodings (CTC)
Sent: 21 April 2020 08:18
To: Alison Williamson
Cc: Houghton, Nigel
Subject: Re: Wimpole FP5 consultation

Payne Roger <Roger.Payne@cambridgeshire.gov.uk>

Dear Ms Williamson,
Thanks for this detailed reply.
On the core issue: yes I am happy to withdraw my objection based on this new information. I have copied Mr Payne
into this reply.
On the details, I did look at the planning application documents and I was unable to find any details of these new paths.
And I was ‐ and still am ‐ puzzled by the design choices. I did not find any rationale for these changes. Let me explain.
I would argue there are many simple options for providing filtered permeability by modifying the existing gates . I
struggle to understand why you need to divert the existing right of way route given that the existing road is not being
removed. I am assuming here that the main issue is to block motor cars ‐ i.e.
to prevent visitors motor vehicles from using this route (hence the need for filtered permeability).
I also note that the second diversion diverts the route close to the stable block. This is already a congested area during
busy weekends, with visitors and carriages all sharing this limited space. It seems perverse to divert a public right of way
into this more congested area and it is hard to understand the logic in this design choice.
But if both of the diverted paths will have a good tarmac surface, I accept that the core reason for my objection is
resolved.
regards

Page
101
2

Non-Motorised User Routes Adoption Criteria Public Path Order Applications and Proactive Cases under the Highways Act 1980 (except s118A and 119A), the Town and County Planning Act 1990, and other Acts as appropriate

Subject area

Criteria

Maximum
available
score

Scheme

Pass or Fail

Pass

No.

Item
(SOA = Statement of Action in ROWIP)

1

Pre-application consultations have been carried
out with the prescribed bodies.

2

The existing route is available for use and any
‘temporary’ obstructions have been removed, in
order to allow a comparison to be made. Any
request for exemption will be decided by the
Director Highways & Access as to whether or not
that is appropriate.

Pass or Fail

Pass

Consultations

3

No objections are received to the proposals during
the statutory consultation period prior to making
an order. However, the County Council will review
this criterion in individual cases in light of
objections and potential public benefit of the
proposal. If the County Council consider the
objection to be irrelevant, this will class as a pass.

Pass or Fail

Pass

Width

4

A minimum width of 2m is provided for a diverted
footpath, and a minimum width of 4m for a
diverted bridleway. In exceptional cases, e.g.
cross-field paths, the County Council may, taking
into account all the available facts, require such a
width as it considers reasonable and appropriate.

Pass or Fail

Pass

Maintenance &
Financial

5

Pass or Fail

Pass

Equalities impact
- Gaps & Gates

6

Pass or Fail

Pass

Equalities impact

7

-2

0

Equalities impact

8

2

0

4

0

2

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

2

2

2

2

3

3

Consultations

Notes

Rambers' Association Cambridge Group raised no objections

Consultations

Maintenance &
Financial

9

Maintenance &
Financial

10

Use of Land

11

Connectivity

12

Connectivity

13

Connectivity

14

Connectivity &
Enjoyment

15

Consultation

16

Biodiversity Duty

17

Promoted route

18

Consolidation of
data

19

Determination of
widths

20

Limited time

21

Route at risk of
development on
urban fringe

22

If maintenance liability is significantly greater than
existing, the landowner has agreed to undertake
or fund future maintenance.
The proposed route would have no stiles or gates,
or allows for access for people with mobility
issues.
Significant negative impact on a class of user Equalities Act
Significant increase in accessibility - Equalities Act
Proposal would enable financial savings for
Authority, e.g. obviates need for new bridge,
resolves long-standing maintenance problems
The proposed alternative route or routes are not
less convenient for maintenance than the original
route(s).
The effect the order would have on the land
served by the existing path and the land across
which the alternative path would run, or on the
land across which the new path will run if a
creation package.
The proposed alternative route or routes are
substantially as convenient to the public as the
original.
User enjoyment
There are no other reasonable or viable
alternatives
A suitable alternative path is provided or is
available for every path that is to be diverted or
entirely stopped up, which maintains or improves
the usefulness of the Rights of Way network
Support from local communities
Significant negative impact on biodiversity
Route will be on a promoted way eg. National
Cycle Network, Ouse Valley Way
Proposal would enable consolidation of records to
provide accurate asset data and facilitate
enhanced service delivery e.g. connectivity with
other highways
Proposal will enable the definition and recording of
path widths, particularly where there is currently
no recorded width
Limited window of opportunity E.g. landowner
goodwill or S106 Agreement
Route is on fringe of a built-up area and therefore
at risk from development, e.g.being used as an
access way.
Total Score /30 (Pass mark 70% ie 21)

-2

0

1

0

1

0

3

2

3

3

3

0

30

22

Whilst gates are proposed, the county council is not inteninding to propose them as
part of the order and they may be introduced via other legislation.

Taking users off the road for two short sections, and vehicular traffic will be reduced
as part of the wider planned development

Scoring notes: A scheme must reach the threshold of 70% of maximum score in order to be adopted. However, schemes will still have to undergo their relevant legal process e.g. Public Path Orders
through the formal consultation process, and may later be abandoned in accordance with the Council's Public Path Order Policy.
There are six Pass/Fail criteria relating to County Council requirements that must be met in order for an application to be considered. If an application fails one of these criteria, it fails regardless of its
numerical score. Officers will then revert to the applicant to discuss their options.
For the numerically scored criteria, a 70% threshold must be met in order for an application to be taken forward. If an application passes the Pass/Fail criteria but fails the 70% numerical threshold, it will
not proceed and officers will revert to the applicant to discuss their options.
If the maintenance liability incurred would be significantly greater than the existing, an application may still pass if a solution is agreed, such as a commuted sum or an agreement for a third party to
maintain the route instead.

Page 102

HIGHWAYS
MEMORANDUM
To

:

From

:

Date
Reference
SUBJECT

:
:
:

Roger Payne
Asset Information Definitive Map Manager
Richard Lumley
Assistant Director, Highways
28th May 2020
P101
Report on the proposed diversion of Public Footpath Wimpole No. 5

With reference to your report of 7th May, I agree with your recommendation that the proposed
diversion of Public Footpath Wimpole No. 5 is acceptable to Cambridgeshire County Council as Local
Highway Authority. On completion of the works and certification of the confirmed order, become
highway maintainable at public expense.
It is acknowledged that if the Landowner decides under separate legislation to apply for gates on the
diversion route, then if approved, they would be constructed at the Landowners expense: they would
not be maintainable at public expense and will remain the responsibility of the Landowner.
This approval should be reported to South Cambridgeshire District Council as Local Planning Authority to
allow them to make a formal decision on whether or not to make a diversion order under Section 257 of
the Town and County Planning Act 1990.

Richard Lumley
Assistant Director, Highways

Page 103
Chief Executive Gillian Beasley

www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 9

REPORT TO:
LEAD OFFICER:

Planning Committee
Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development

8 July 2020

Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action
Purpose
1.

To inform Members about appeals against planning decisions and enforcement
action, and proposed hearing and inquiry dates, as of 18th June 2020 Summaries of
recent decisions of importance are also reported, for information.
Statistical data

2.

Attached to this report are the following Appendices:




Appendix 1 - Decisions Notified by the Secretary of State
Appendix 2 – Appeals received
Appendix 3 - Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled

Contact Officer:

Report Author:

Stephen Kelly

Joint Director for Planning and
Economic Development for
Cambridge and South
Cambridgeshire

Telephone Number:

01954 713350

Ian Papworth

Technical Support Officer
(Appeals)
01954 713406

Telephone Number:

Page 105

This page is left blank intentionally.

Appendix 1

Decisions Notified By The Secretary of State

Reference

Address

Details

Decision

Date

S/3750/18/FL

Land adj 39,
New Road,
Guilden Morden,
Royston,
Cambridgeshire,
SG8 0JN

Erection of
Barn Style
Gospel
Meeting Hall,
parking and
access.

Dismissed

02/06/2020

Planning
Decision
Refused

S/1458/19/FL

Spinney Hill
Farm, Newton
Road
Whittlesford

Change of use
from a
dwelling house
and former
agricultural
land to a
nature reserve
and burial
ground, the
demolition of
existing
buildings, the
erection of a
remembrance
Hall and
associated car
parking and
landscaping

Allowed

04/06/2020

Refused

S/1151/19/DC

45 Church
Street

Discharge of
Conditions 3
(Materials), 4
(Arboricultural
Method
Statement), 6
(Surface
Water
Drainage), 7
(Traffic
Management)
of Planning
Application
S.3622.16.FL Demolition of
existing
bungalow and
construction of
2no. two
storey
detached
houses

Allowed

10/06/2020

Conditions

Haslingfield

Page 107

This page is left blank intentionally.

Appendix 2
Appeals Received

Reference

Address

Details

Date Appeal
lodged

20/02052/HFUL

32 Ickleton Road

Extension of the
existing single storey
bungalow to form a
two-storey detached
dwellinghouse

09/06/2020

Proposed residential
development for 21
dwellings including
affordable houses
with associated
access landscaping
open space garages
and one selfbuild/custom build
plot

01/06/2020

Two storey side
extension with
garage to front.

17/06/2020

Duxford

S/4744/18/FL

Land to east of Cody
Road and north of
Bannold Road

Waterbeach

20/01497/HFUL

18 Woodcock Close

Impington

Page 109

This page is left blank intentionally.

Appendix 3
Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled


Local Inquiries

Reference

Name

Address

Planning
Date
decision or
confirmed/
Enforcement? proposed

S/0768/18/FL

Marchingdale
Developments
Limited

Western Side Of
Land Parcel
COM4 Neal Drive
Orchard Park

Planning
Decision

S/3983/18/FL

Marchingdale
Developments
Limited

Western Side Of
Land Parcel Com
4 Orchard Park
Neal Drive

Planning
Decision

Mr Barry Arliss

Riverview Farm
Overcote Road
Over Cambridge
Cambridgeshire
CB24 5NT

Enforcement

ENF/0587/17

Page 111

29th Sept,
30th Sept,
1st Oct and
2nd Oct
2020
29th Sept,
30th Sept,
1st Oct and
2nd Oct
2020
TBC

Appendix 3



Informal Hearings

Reference

Name

Address

Planning
Date
decision or
confirmed/
Enforcement? proposed

S/3873/17/OL

Mr A Ashley

S/1625/18/OL

Mr A Ashley

S/0913/19/VC

Mr J Hart

Land at Mill Lane,
Sawston
Land at Mill Lane,
Sawston
Apple Acre Park,
London Road,
Fowlmere

Planning
Decision
Planning
Decision
Non
determination

Page 112

TBC
TBC
TBC

